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Burgan Bank K.P.S.C.
(a public shareholding company incorporated in the State of Kuwait)

Kuwaiti Dinars 100 Million Senior Unsecured 
Fixed Rate Bonds at 4.125% Due 30 December 2021

This confidential private placement prospectus (this Prospectus) is being provided on a confidential basis to a limited number of Eligible Investors (as defined herein) and/or any such 
other persons which may be considered as such from time to time by the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority (the CMA), for the sole purpose of evaluating a potential subscription to the 
Bonds (as defined herein) to be issued by Burgan Bank K.P.S.C. (Burgan or the Bank or the Issuer) (the Bank and its subsidiaries are referred to as the “Group”). An Eligible Investor 
includes either a Sophisticated Investor (as defined herein) or a Qualified Investor (as defined herein). A Sophisticated Investor includes any one or more of the following: a) a state 
government, a governmental public authority, a central bank of a state government, or an international financial institution or organisation (e.g., the World Bank or the International 
Monetary Fund), or b) persons licenced by the CMA and other financial institutions that are subject to the supervision of a regulatory authority located in or outside of Kuwait, or c) a 
legal entity with a paid up capital of at least KD 1 million (or its equivalent thereto). A Qualified Investor includes any one or more of the following: i) an investor that has concluded 
securities transactions with an average value of no less than KD 250,000 (or its equivalent) in each quarter for the past two years, or ii) an investor which has an amount of no less 
than KD 100,000 (or its equivalent) in assets (including cash) currently being managed by any one or more persons who have been duly licensed by the CMA to render portfolio/
asset management services, or iii) an investor that works, or who has previously worked, in the financial services industry for at least one year in a professional position that requires  
knowledge in transactions and services of the nature which will be rendered to the subject investor by a third party. The contents of this Prospectus should not be construed as 
investment, legal or tax advice. This Prospectus has been provided on a confidential basis solely for the information of the person to whom it has been delivered on behalf of the Issuer 
and may not be reproduced or distributed, whether in whole or in part, nor its contents disclosed or used for any purpose without the prior written consent of the Issuer. Each Eligible 
Investor accepting this Prospectus hereby agrees to return it to the Joint Lead Managers promptly upon request. The delivery of this Prospectus does not imply that the information 
herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date set forth on the cover page.

This is a private placement issuance by the Issuer of senior unsecured fixed rate bonds in the principal amount of KD 100 Million due 30 December 2021 (the Bonds). The issue price 
of the Bonds is 100 per cent of their principal amount. All interest payment amounts attributable to the Bonds shall be payable subject to and in accordance with the terms and condi-
tions set out in the “Terms and Conditions of the Issue”. Interest on the Bonds will accrue as of the issue date of the Bonds and will be payable semi-annually in arrears commencing 
on 30 June and 30 December of each year, the first payment being made on 30 June 2019. Interest payments will be made without deduction or withholding for or on account of 
Kuwaiti taxes to the extent set out herein. The Bonds bear the fixed rate of interest at 4.125% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears after the date of the issuance of the Bonds.

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer was assigned a rating of A3, BBB+ and A+ by Moody’s Investor Service, Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC and Fitch Ratings Inc. 
respectively (the “Rating Agencies”). A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time 
by the Rating Agencies. The Rating Agencies issued their final approvals to incorporate the ratings in this Prospectus and photocopies of the same were submitted to the CMA taking 
into consideration that the Rating Agencies did not repeal these approvals prior to the submission of this Prospectus for approval with the CMA.

Unless previously redeemed or cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed (subject to certain conditions being satisfied) at their principal amount on 30 December 2021, while noting that 
the Bonds will not be amortized throughout the duration of their tenor In addition, the Bonds may be redeemed at their principal amount, at the Issuer’s sole discretion, in whole, but 
not in part, at any time in the event that it becomes compulsory to deduct any Kuwaiti taxes from payments in respect of the Bonds.

The Bonds will be represented by a permanent Global Bond in registered form (Global Bond), without interest coupons attached, in the principal amount of KD 100 Million. The 
Global Bond will be exchangeable for definitive Bonds in registered form in denominations of KD 50,000 in certain limited circumstances specified in the Global Bond and more fully 
described herein; see the attached “Summary of Provisions Relating to the Bonds While in Global Form”. The Global Bond will be deposited with and registered in the name of Kuwait 
Clearing Company K.S.C. (KCC) for the account of the subscribers with KCC. While the Bonds are evidenced by the Global Bond, the Bonds evidenced by such Global Bond may be 
transferred through KCC in accordance with the rules and procedures in effect at the KCC.

The issue of the Bonds has been authorized by a resolution of the General Assembly of the Issuer passed on 28 March 2018 and a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer 
passed on 11 June 2018. The approval of the CMA for the Issuer to issue the Bonds has been granted on 8 November 2018 and the approval of the CMA to market the Bonds has been 
granted on 26 November 2018. A provisional approval has been obtained from the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) on 2 September 2018. The final approval of the CBK was received on 
17 December 2018.

The subscription period for the Bonds shall commence from 19 December 2018 to 26 December 2018. If the Bonds are fully subscribed prior to the end of the subscription period, 
the Issuer may elect to close the subscription. The Joint Lead Managers and Placement Agents may, after the approval of the CMA, extend the subscription period for other period(s) 
provided that the total extension periods shall not exceed 60 days.

For the purposes of this Prospectus, the term “Business Day” means a day (other than a Friday or a Saturday) which is not a public holiday and on which banks are open for business 
in Kuwait.

NOTICE TO POTENTIAL INVESTORS
POTENTIAL INVESTORS ARE ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH AN APPROPRIATELY QUALIFIED LICENSED PERSON (AS DEFINED IN THE EXECUTIVE BYLAWS TO THE 

KUWAIT CAPITAL MARKETS LAW) REGARDING THE CONTENT OF THIS PROSPECTUS BEFORE DECIDING TO TAKE PART IN THE SUBSCRIPTION.

The Capital Markets Authority in Kuwait is the regulating authority in charge of issuing the required licenses and approvals for the issuance of bonds in Kuwait. This Prospectus has 
been approved by the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority. This Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with Law No. 7 of 2010 regarding the establishment of the Kuwait Capital 
Markets Authority and the regulation of securities activities and its executive regulations each as amended. The directors, whose name appear in the management section of this
Prospectus, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of all information contained in this Prospectus relating to the Issuer and the Bonds, and confirm 
having made all reasonable enquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein materially misleading.

The Issuer, Joint Lead Managers and Placement Agents accept full responsibility for any inaccuracy of all information and data contained in this Prospectus and confirm in accordance 
with the information provided during the course of the due diligence process, having made all reasonable enquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no other 
material facts and information omitted, and that this Prospectus has been drafted according to the information and data corresponding to reality.

The legal adviser to the Issuer confirms that they have reviewed the Prospectus and documents related thereto as provided to them by the Issuer, and that to the best of their
knowledge and after having made all reasonable enquiries, the prospectus complies with the relevant legal requirements and that the Issuer has obtained the required approvals 
necessary in order for its obligations to be valid and enforceable. 

The Kuwait Capital Markets Authority does not take any responsibility for the contents of this Prospectus, does not make any representation as to its accuracy or completeness, and 
expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part of this Prospectus.

This Prospectus is dated 30 December 2018.
English translation of the official Arabic language Prospectus.

Joint Lead Managers and Placement Agents

   Watani Investment Company K.S.C.C. (“NBK Capital”) and KAMCO Investment Company K.S.C. (Public) (“KAMCO”)
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IMPORTANT NOTICES

This Prospectus includes information with regard to Burgan Bank K.P.S.C. (Burgan or the Bank or the 
Issuer) and the Bonds. The Bank has not authorized the making or provision of any representation or 
information regarding the Bank or the Bonds other than as contained in this Prospectus or as approved for 
such purpose by the Bank. Any such representation or information should not be relied upon as having 
been authorized by the Bank or the Joint Lead Managers and Placement Agents on the cover hereof (the 
Managers). 

While the Bank has made all reasonable enquiries as to the accuracy of the information contained in 
this Prospectus as at the date hereof, certain portions of the market and industry information herein 
are derived from external sources, and while neither the Bank, the Managers nor any of their respective 
advisors have any reason to believe that any of the market and industry information is materially inaccurate, 
such information has not been independently verified and no representation is made with respect to the 
accuracy or completeness of any of this information. 

The information contained in this Prospectus as at the date hereof is subject to change. In particular, 
the actual financial state of the Bank and the value of the Bonds may be adversely affected by future 
developments in inflation, financing charges, taxation or other economic, political and other factors, over 
which the Bank has no control. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any oral, written or printed 
interaction in relation to the Bonds is intended to be, or should be construed as or relied upon in any way 
as, a promise or representation as to future earnings, results or events.

This Prospectus is not regarded as a recommendation on the part of the Bank, the Managers or any of 
their advisors or affiliates to participate in the offering of the Bonds. Information provided herein is of a 
general nature and has been prepared without taking into account any potential investor’s investment 
objectives, financial situation or particular investment needs. Prior to making an investment decision, 
each recipient of this Prospectus is responsible for obtaining his own independent professional advice 
in relation to the Bank or the offering of the Bonds and for making his own independent evaluation of 
the Bank, an investment in the Bonds and of the information and assumptions contained herein, using 
such advice, analysis and projections as he, she or it deems necessary in making any investment decision. 
Prospective investors are not to construe the contents of this document as constituting tax, investment 
or legal advice. Prior to purchasing any Bonds, a prospective investor should consult an advisor who has 
been duly licensed by the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority and with his, her or its own legal, business and 
tax advisors determine the appropriateness and consequences of an investment in the Bonds for such 
investor and arrive at an independent evaluation of such investment. The sole purpose of this document 
is to provide background information about the Bank to assist each recipient in making an independent 
evaluation of the offering and any investment in the Bonds.

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Bonds in certain jurisdictions is restricted 
by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus may come are required by the Managers and the 
Bank to inform themselves about and to observe such restrictions.

Under no circumstances shall the attached document constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an 
offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of the securities in the United States or any other jurisdiction in 
which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful. Any securities to be issued have not been and will 
not be registered under the securities act or with any securities’ regulatory authority of any state or other 
jurisdiction of the United States and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred within the 
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

The Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Bonds must 
determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential 
investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional 
advisers, whether it:
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(i) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Bonds, the merits 
and risks of investing in the Bonds, and the information contained in this Prospectus;

(ii) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular 
financial situation, an investment in the Bonds and the impact the Bonds will have on its overall 
investment portfolio;

(iii) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Bonds, 
including where the currency for principal and interest payments is different from the potential 
investor’s currency;

(iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Bonds and is familiar with the behaviour of any relevant 
financial markets; and

(v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its 
investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Nothing in this Prospectus or anything communicated to the holders of any Bonds (or interests therein) or 
potential holders of any Bonds (or interests therein) by or on behalf of the Bank is intended to constitute or 
should be construed as advice on the merits of the purchase of or subscription for any Bonds (or interests 
therein). If you are in any doubt about the contents of this Prospectus you should consult your broker, bank 
manager, legal advisor, accountant or other financial adviser. It should be remembered that the price of 
the Bonds can go down as well as up.

No person has been authorized to give any information or make any representation in connection with 
the offering of the Bonds other than those contained in this Prospectus and, if given or made, any such 
information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Managers or 
the Bank. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made hereunder shall, in any circumstances, 
create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Bank since the date hereof.

In connection with the offering of the Bonds, any of the market makers licensed by the CMA may (without 
involving the Bank in any liability) effect transactions which stabilize or maintain the market price of the 
Bonds at levels other than those which might otherwise prevail. Such transactions may be effected on the 
open market or otherwise and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time without notice.

Financial information contained herein for any period ending after 31 December 2017 has not been 
audited.

Reclassification of Financial Statements

In the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the unaudited 
interim condensed consolidated financial information as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 
2018, the Issuer made certain reclassifications to the comparative financial information as at and for the 
year ended 31 December 2016 and as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2017, respectively. 
The tables below show the nature and effect of these reclassifications:
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Consolidated 
statement of financial 
position:

As at 31 December 2016

Before Reclassification 
(KD 000’s)

Reclassification 
(KD 000’s)

After Reclassification 
(KD 000’s) Reason for reclassification

Due from banks 
and other financial 
institutions 

751,412 52,000 803,412
Reclassification of general 
precautionary provisions of 
KD 52 million from ‘due from 
banks and other financial 
institutions’ to ‘loans and 
advances to customers’, 
which were judgmentally 
previously allocated to 
‘due from banks and other 
financial institutions’.

Loans and advances to 
customers 4,276,086 (52,000) 4,224,086

Consolidated 
statement of financial 
position:

As at 30 September 2017

Before Reclassification 
(KD 000’s)

Reclassification 
(KD 000’s)

After Reclassification 
(KD 000’s) Reason for reclassification

Due from banks 
and other financial 
institutions 

476,834 52,000 528,834
Reclassification of general 
precautionary provisions of 
KD 52 million from ‘due from 
banks and other financial 
institutions’ to ‘loans and 
advances to customers’, 
which were judgmentally 
previously allocated to 
‘due from banks and other 
financial institutions’.

Loans and advances to 
customers 4,502,015 (52,000) 4,450,015

No equivalent changes were made in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 
31 December 2016 and the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information as at and for 
the nine months ended 30 September 2017, and investors should be aware that, to the extent identified 
above, the financial information contained in the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 is not comparable with that contained in the consolidated financial statements 
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the financial information contained in the unaudited 
interim condensed consolidated financial information as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 
2017 is not comparable with that contained in the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2018. All financial information as at and for 
the year ended 31 December 2016 relating to the Issuer has been extracted from the consolidated financial 
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 and all financial information as at and for the 
nine months ended 30 September 2017 relating to the Issuer has been extracted from the unaudited interim 
condensed consolidated financial information as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2018.

Rounding

Certain figures and percentages included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments. 
For the purposes of calculating certain figures and percentages, the underlying numbers used have been 
extracted from the relevant financial statements rather than the rounded numbers contained in this 
Prospectus. Accordingly figures shown in the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly 
and figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which 
precede them.
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In this Prospectus, all references to “KWD”, “KD”, “Kuwaiti Dinars” and “Dinars” are to Kuwaiti Dinars, 
the lawful currency of Kuwait.

Some statements in this Prospectus may be deemed to be forward looking statements. Forward looking 
statements include statements concerning the Issuer’s plans, objectives, goals, strategies, future operations 
and performance and the assumptions underlying these forward looking statements. When used in this 
document, the words “anticipates”, “estimates”, “expects”, “believes”, “intends”, “plans”, “aims”, “seeks”, “may”, 
“will”, “should” and any similar expressions generally identify forward looking statements. The Issuer has 
based these forward looking statements on the current view of the Issuer’s management with respect to 
future events and financial performance. Although the Issuer believes that the expectations, estimates 
and projections reflected in the Issuer’s forward looking statements are reasonable as of the date of this 
Prospectus, if one or more of the risks or uncertainties materialize, including those which the Issuer has 
identified in this Prospectus, or if any of the Issuer’s underlying assumptions prove to be incomplete or 
inaccurate, the Issuer’s actual results of operation may vary from those expected, estimated or predicted. 
These forward looking statements speak only as of the date of this Prospectus. Without prejudice to 
any requirements under applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer expressly disclaims any obligation 
or undertaking to disseminate after the date of this Prospectus any updates or revisions to any forward 
looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in expectations thereof or any change in events, 
conditions or circumstances on which any such forward looking statement is based.
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Abreviations

Bn Billion

Boursa Kuwait Boursa Kuwait – formerly known as Kuwait Stock Exchange 

CBK Central Bank of Kuwait

CMA Kuwait Capital Markets Authority 

Dinars, Kuwait Dinars, KWD and KD Kuwaiti Dinar

DIT Kuwait Department of Income Tax

GCC Gulf Cooperation Council

Group Burgan and its subsidiaries

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

KCC Kuwait Clearing Company, K.S.C.C.

MENA Middle East and North Africa

MENAT Middle East, North Africa and Turkey

Mn Million

MOCI Kuwait Ministry of Commerce and Industry

U.S. Dollar, USD and U.S.$ United States Dollars
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Summary of the Bonds

The following overview should be read as an introduction to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference 
to, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus. This overview does not contain 
all of the information that prospective investors should consider before deciding to invest in the Bonds 
and does not purport to be complete. Accordingly, any decision by a prospective investor to invest in the 
Bonds should be based on a consideration of this Prospectus as a whole. Certain capitalized terms shall 
bear the same meaning assigned to them under the “Terms and Conditions of the Issue”.

Issuer

Issuer’s Address

Bond Type

Principal Amount

Denomination

Number of Bonds

Tenor

Minimum Subscription Amount

Scheduled Redemption Date

Call Option

Conversion

Put Option

Issuer rating

Interest rate

Security

Use of Proceeds

Burgan Bank K.P.S.C.

Burgan Tower – Abdullah Al Ahmed Street, Al Sharq, P.O. Box 5389, Al Safat 12170, 
Kuwait

Kuwaiti Dinar denominated registered bonds

KWD 100 Million fixed rate bonds

KD 50,000 per Bond

Total offering of 2,000 bonds at KWD 50,000 per Bond

3 years. Any extension to the final r edemption d ate w ill only b e m ade with t he 
approval of the CMA, the CBK (as required) and the Bondholders Association, 
collectively

KWD 100,000

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be 
redeemed at their outstanding principal amount on the Interest Payment Date 
falling in 30 December 2021.

Any extension to the final redemption will only be made with the approval of the 
CMA, the CBK (as required) and the Bondholders Association, collectively
None

None

None

A3, BBB+ and A+ by Moody’s Investor Service, Standard & Poor’s Financial Services 
LLC and Fitch Ratings Inc. respectively as at the date of this Prospectus  

A fixed interest rate of 4.125% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears, with 
interest payments starting 6 months from the closing date of the subscription of the 
Bonds (the “Closing Date”) 

The obligations of the Issuer will be direct, unconditional and unsecured obligations 
and rank pari passu among themselves and with all other present and future 
unsecured obligations (other than those preferred by mandatory provisions of law)

The proceeds from the issue of the Bonds will be used by the Issuer for general 
corporate purposes
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Negative pledge If at any time the Issuer issues any other bonds or similar instruments for the 
purpose of raising financing which are, or intended to be, or are capable of, being 
quoted, listed, dealt in or traded on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or other 
established securities market, and such bonds or other similar instruments are 
secured by any mortgage, pledge, charge or other encumbrance on any property 
or assets of the Issuer, then the Issuer shall accord to the Bonds the same level of 
security equally and rateably on a pari passu basis as is granted to such other bonds 
or similar instruments

Redemption Prior to Maturity Pursuant to Condition 5 (Redemption and Purchase) of the Terms and Conditions of 
the Issue, the Issuer may redeem in whole, but not in part, the Bonds for tax reasons 
on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Bondholders (which 
notice shall be irrevocable) at their principal amount, together with interest accrued 
to the date fixed for redemption. In addition to the aforementioned, the Bonds shall 
not be amortized throughout the duration of their tenor

Timeframe for receiving allocation of 
Bonds after closing of subscription

Within 5 days after closing of subscriptions the Bonds will be allocated to subscribers

Listing and Trading of Bonds The Issuer may either immediately upon issuance of the Bonds or at some time in 
the future list the Bonds on Boursa Kuwait or a foreign securities exchange

In Kind Contributions None

Issuer’s share capital KWD 250,000,000 comprising of 2,500,000,000 shares, each for the amount of 
100 Fils as of 10 October 2018

Summary of consolidated financial 
results – 31 December 2017 

Total Assets: KWD 7,415.2Mn
Share Capital: KWD 215.2Mn
Total Liabilities: KWD 6,547.6Mn
Total Equity: KWD 867.7Mn
Total Equity Attributable to the Equity Holders of the Bank: KWD 672.4Mn

Summary of unaudited consolidated 
financial results – 30 September 2018

Total Assets: KWD 6,836.9Mn
Share Capital: KWD 225.9Mn
Total Liabilities: KWD 5,941.7Mn
Total Equity: KWD 895.2Mn
Total Equity Attributable to the Equity Holders of the Bank: KWD 700.3Mn

Joint Lead Managers and Arrangers Watani Investment Company K.S.C.C. (NBK Capital)
KAMCO Investment Company K.S.C. (Public) (“KAMCO”)

Placement Agents Watani Investment Company K.S.C.C. (NBK Capital)
KAMCO Investment Company K.S.C. (Public) (“KAMCO”)

Fiscal and Paying Agent National Bank of Kuwait S.A.K.P.

Registrar, Clearing Agent and 
Depository

Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C.

Law Kuwaiti Law

Directors of Issuer Mr. Majed E. Al Ajeel – Chairman
Mr. Mohammed A. Al Bisher – Vice-Chairman
H.E. Mr. Abdel Kareem A. Al Kabariti – Board Member
Mr. Faisal M. Al Radwan – Board Member
Mr. Masaud M. J. Hayat – Board Member
Mr. Samer Khanachet – Board Member
Mr. Sadoun Abdulla Ali – Board Member
Mr. Pinak Pani Maitra – Board Member 
Mr. AbdulSalam M. Al Bahar – Board Member
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Subscription and Sale

Subscription Agreement

The Managers have, pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated 30 December 2018, agreed with the 
Issuer, subject to the satisfaction of certain relevant conditions, to subscribe, or procure subscribers, on 
a best efforts basis, for the Bonds at the issue price (being 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds). 
The Managers are entitled to treat their obligations under the Subscription Agreement as being released 
and discharged in certain circumstances at any time prior to payment to the Issuer of the proceeds of the 
Bonds. The Managers are not obliged to subscribe to any of the Bonds that have not been subscribed for 
by potential subscribers.

Sale

The Managers have agreed that they will observe all applicable laws and regulations of the State of Kuwait 
where they may offer or sell the Bonds or distribute this Prospectus.

The Issuer and the Managers will comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in force in any 
foreign jurisdiction in which they may wish to market, offer, or sell the Bonds or distribute this Prospectus 
and will obtain any and all applicable consents, approvals or permissions required by them in order to 
engage in any of the aforementioned activity pursuant to the laws and regulations in force in any foreign 
jurisdiction to which they will be subject. Neither the Issuer nor the Managers represent that the Bonds 
may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in 
any foreign jurisdiction or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder or assumes any responsibility 
for facilitating such sale.

Subscription Process

Applications for subscription for the Bonds will be made through the Managers. The minimum subscription 
amount for the Bonds is KWD100,000. The subscription period for the Bonds shall commence from 19 
December 2018 to 26 December 2018 (the “Subscription Period”), unless otherwise extended by the 
Issuer. The Issuer may, in its absolute discretion, close the subscription prior to the expiry of the Subscription 
Period if all, and not only some, of the Bonds have been subscribed to, or keep the Subscription Period 
open until expiry of the same.

In this section, “Business Day” means, a day (other than a Friday or a Saturday) which is not a public 
holiday and on which banks are open for general business in Kuwait.

Subscribers

All individuals and entities including companies, institutions, banks and funds, unless they are prohibited 
from owning bonds, accept the terms of subscription as well as this Prospectus. 
 
Subscription Application Forms

Subscription applications should be submitted as per the designated application forms provided by 
the Managers, which are to be completed in full, written legibly, and duly signed by the applicant and 
accompanied with all required documentation. The Managers shall remit to the subscriber a receipt in 
respect of the subscription application and subscription amount. The subscription shall be considered 
as completed upon actual deposit of the subscription amount in the account dedicated to receiving the 
subscription amounts under the issuance.
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Applications by individual investors must be filed during the Subscription Period and should be 
accompanied with a valid original civil ID and copies of the same. Subscription forms of corporate investors 
or entities must be filed during the Subscription Period and must be duly signed by authorized personnel 
and stamped.  Corporate investors and/or entities must also submit a copy of the document authorizing 
the representative to sign the application form, as well as a copy of the valid commercial registration and 
a copy of the investor’s valid business license. 

Subscription Payment

Subscription payments are to be made in full by bank transfer as indicated in the subscription form. Cash 
will not be accepted.  Subscription amounts must be received in full in the Issuer’s bank account (opened 
by the Managers for the purposes of receiving subscription payments) detailed in the notice of allocation 
no later than twelve o’clock noon on the day that is determined by the Managers after the close of the 
Subscription Period and the indication to the subscribers of the allotted number of Bonds and their 
nominal value assigned to them. The total amount of subscription payments received in the bank account 
shall, net of any commission amounts, costs and expenses, be transferred to the Issuer upon the date of 
the issuance of the Bonds.

Allocation of Bonds

Bonds are allocated to subscribers within a maximum period of 5 Business Days after the closing of the 
Subscription Period. The Managers reserve the right to refuse any subscription request or any part thereof 
or cancel a subscription in whole or in part, as they deem appropriate, and are not constrained by any 
systematic requirement in the allocation of Bonds. Subscribers will be notified with regards to their allotted 
number of Bonds and the nominal value assigned to them.

Refund to Subscribers

There will be no over-allocation of the Bonds to subscribers. 

In the event that the issuance of the Bonds is cancelled or does not complete for any reason, a suitable 
communication shall be sent to the subscribers within 7 Business Days from the date of the decision not 
to issue the Bonds. Upon receiving the subscribers’ preference such as bank account details and mode of 
payment, any funds to be refunded will be transferred either through bank cheques or through electronic 
transfer.  Such refunds shall be made within 5 Business Days from the date of receiving the subscribers’ 
instructions to do so. In the event of delays in transferring the relevant funds to the subscribers for more 
than 5 Business Days from the date of receipt of the subscribers’ instructions in this respect, the amounts 
to be refunded to subscribers will bear interest that will be calculated on the basis of the Discount Rate of 
the CBK at such date, plus 0.25%. Such interest shall be computed starting from the expiry date of the 5 
Business Days period mentioned above until the payment date. 

Applicable Sanctions in the Event of Non-Payment of the Full Value of the Subscribed Bonds

The Bonds which are not fully paid will be registered in the name of the Placement Agents. The subscription 
amount in respect of such Bonds will be transferred to the account dedicated for the issuance subscription 
amounts. In the event the Issuer or the Placement Agents challenging the payment of the relevant 
subscription amount, the certificate issued by the account bank where the subscription account is opened, 
will be deemed as evidence of payment.

In the event the subscriber fails to pay the unpaid portion of the subscription amount on the due date, 
the Issuer may request the Placement Agents to sell the Bonds on behalf of the relevant subscriber and 
deposit the sale proceeds in the account referred to in the preceding paragraph, and transfer such unpaid 
portion to Issuer’s account, and to remit to the subscriber any exceeding balance if available. 
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Other Terms of Subscription

All subscriptions are final and may not be cancelled for any reason, even before the close of the Subscription 
Period, nor may a subscriber add any conditions or restrictions to the subscription application. The 
subscription must be serious, prohibiting subscription using fictitious names or by other fictitious 
means.  Subscriptions must be submitted in accordance with the Prospectus and subscription application 
form prior to the end of the Subscription Period. Duplicate applications, incomplete applications and 
applications in violation of the law will be excluded, unless they are corrected during the Subscription 
Period.  In the case of a subscription request through a representative of an eligible individual or entity, 
in accordance with applicable laws and relevant regulations, the Bonds will be assigned to the subscriber 
whose name appears on the subscription form. The Managers have the right, without the need to inform 
the subscriber, to refuse any subscription request if it is in violation of the terms and conditions of the 
Prospectus or subscription form, incomplete, or if not accompanied by the documents specified in the 
Prospectus, subscription form or other documents required by the Managers. The Managers will issue a 
notice to all subscribers informing them of the number of Bonds allocated to them and the nominal value 
payable on the expected issue date of the Bonds.  Receipt of a notice of allocation does not mean the 
relevant subscriber owns the Bonds allocated to them before the full payment of the nominal value on 
the issue date and should not be considered proof of ownership of the Bonds. Notices of allocation are 
not subject to sale, assignment, trading, exchange or disposal of any form. The Kuwait Clearing Company 
K.S.C. will deliver to the subscribers that have paid the full face value of Bonds subscribed for within the 
Subscription Period, a receipt proving ownership in the number of Bonds allocated to them and represented 
by a specified number of Bonds represented by a Global Bond Certificate which is deposited with and 
registered in the name of the Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C. on the issue date which represents the total 
number of individual Bonds with denominations of KWD 50,000 each. (For more details, please review the 
Summary of Provisions Relating to the Bonds While in Global Form).
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Terms and Conditions of the Issue

The following, subject to completion and amendment, is the text of the terms and conditions of the Bonds, 
which will appear on the reverse of each Bond.
 
The issue of the Bonds was authorized by resolutions of the General Assembly of Burgan Bank K.P.S.C. (the 
“Issuer”) passed on 28 March 2018 and resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 11 June 
2018. Permission has also been granted by the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority on  8 November 2018 for 
the Issuer to issue the Bonds. The Bonds are entitled to the benefit of a fiscal and paying agency agreement 
dated 30 December 2018 (the “Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement”) between the Issuer and National 
Bank of Kuwait S.A.K.P. as fiscal and principal paying agent (the “Fiscal Agent” which expression shall 
include its successors under the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement) and any other party appointed as 
paying agent as provided for therein (collectively referred to herein as the “Paying Agent(s)”) for payments 
of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds. Copies of the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement are 
available for inspection at the specified offices of the Fiscal Agent and the Paying Agents listed below. The 
registered holders of the Bonds (the “Bondholders”) are bound by and are deemed to have notice of 
all the provisions of the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement. Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C. has been 
appointed as registrar (the “Registrar”) and clearing agent (the “Clearing Agent”) which appointments 
may be changed from time to time by the Issuer.

1. Form, Denomination and Title

(a) The Bonds are issued in registered form without coupons in specified denominations of KWD 
50,000; and

(b) Title to a Bond shall pass by registration in the register of Bondholders held with the Registrar. 
The Issuer will cause to keep a register at the specified office of the Registrar. No Bondholder may 
require the transfer of a Bond to be registered during the period of 15 days ending on the due 
date for any payment of principal or interest on that Bond. All transfers of Bonds and entries on the 
register of Bondholders will be made subject to the relevant regulations concerning the transfer of 
Bonds applicable in accordance with the laws of Kuwait and at the Registrar and Clearing Agent. 
The regulations may be changed by the Registrar and Clearing Agent without prior notice. The 
record of the Registrar shall serve as evidence of absolute title to the Bonds. In these Conditions, 
“Bondholder” and (in relation to a Bond) “holder” means the person in whose name a Bond is 
registered in the register of Bondholders held with the Registrar. The registered holder of any Bond 
will (except as otherwise required by law or these Conditions) be treated as its absolute owner for 
all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any 
interest or any writing on, or the theft or loss of, the certificate issued in respect of it) and no person 
will be liable for so treating the registered holder as such.

2. Status

The Bonds are direct, unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu 
among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured obligations other than those 
obligations which are preferred by mandatory provisions of law. 

3. Negative Pledge

If at any time the Issuer issues any other bonds or similar instruments for the purpose of raising 
financing which are, or intended to be, or are capable of, being quoted, listed, dealt in or traded 
on any stock exchange, over-the-counter or other established securities market, and such bonds 
or other similar instruments are secured by any mortgage, pledge, charge or other encumbrance 
on any property or assets of the Issuer, then the Issuer shall accord to the Bonds the same level 
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of security equally and rateably on a pari passu basis as is granted to such other bonds or similar 
instruments. 

4. Interest

(a) Interest accrues on the Bonds (on their outstanding principal amount) at the interest rate (as 
determined below) (the “Interest Rate”) per annum from and including 30 December 2018 (the 
“Issue Date”) and will be paid semi-annually in arrears on 30 June and 30 December of each year 
(each of these dates an “Interest Payment Date”) the first payment being made on 30 June 2019. 

The period from and including the Issue Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date, and 
each successive period from and including an Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date, is herein called an “Interest Period”. 

Interest will cease to accrue on the Bonds on the due date for redemption thereof unless, upon 
due presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, 
interest will continue to accrue (as well after as before any judgment) up to but excluding the date 
on which, upon further presentation thereof, payment in full of the principal thereof and premium 
(if any) is made or (if earlier) the seventh day after notice is duly given to the holder thereof (either 
in accordance with Condition  13 or individually) that upon further presentation thereof being duly 
made such payment will be made, provided that upon further presentation thereof being duly 
made such payment is in fact made. 

(b) In these Conditions “Business Day” means a day (other than a Friday or a Saturday) which is not a 
public holiday and on which banks are open for general business in Kuwait. 

(c) Interest payable semi-annually on each Bond will be calculated by multiplying the principal amount 
of such Bond by the Interest Rate and dividing the product by two. 

(d) Except as noted in Condition  4 (c), whenever it is necessary to compute an amount of interest in 
respect of any Bond for a period of less than a full interest period such interest shall be calculated 
on the basis of a 365 day year.

(e) The Interest Rate applicable to the relevant Interest Period shall be 4.125% per annum.

(f ) Interest on each Bond shall be payable to the relevant registered Bondholder subject to and in 
accordance with Condition  6 and Condition  9 provided that if (otherwise than by reason of the 
application of (d) of Condition  6) the due date for redemption of any Bond is not 30 December 
2021 or if payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused on or in respect of any Bond, 
interest accrued in respect of such Bond from (and including) the preceding 30 December (or 30 
June as the case may be) will be paid against presentation and encashment or (as the case may be) 
surrender of such Bond.

5. Redemption and Purchase

(a) Final redemption

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at their 
outstanding principal amount on 30 December 2021. Any extension to the final redemption date will 
only be made with the approval of the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority, the Central Bank of Kuwait 
(if required), and the Bondholders Association (as defined in Condition  12 below), collectively.
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(b) Redemption for taxation reasons

If the Issuer would on the occasion of the next payment due in respect of the Bonds be required 
for reasons outside of its control to pay any additional amounts pursuant to Condition  7, then the 
Issuer may, at its option, having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to Bondholders 
in accordance with Condition  13 (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed 
for redemption), redeem all (but not some only) of the Bonds at their outstanding principal amount 
together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption.

(c) Purchase

The Issuer may at any time purchase Bonds at any price in the open market or otherwise.

(d) Cancellation

All Bonds redeemed by the Issuer pursuant to (a) or (b) above, will be cancelled forthwith and may 
not be resold or reissued.

6. Payments

(a) Payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds will be made to the relevant registered 
Bondholder at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent, or at the option of the Bondholder at the 
specified office of any of the Paying Agents. Such payments will be made by transfer to a bank 
account maintained by the payee with, or by a check drawn on a licensed bank in Kuwait City 
subject in all cases to any fiscal or other local laws or regulations applicable thereto but without 
prejudice to the provisions of Condition  7. 

(b) The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent or 
any Paying Agent and/or to appoint additional or other Paying Agents. Notice of any change in the 
Fiscal Agent or any change in or addition to the Paying Agents or of any change in their specified 
offices will be published in accordance with Condition  13.  

(c) Bonds should be presented for redemption. 

(d) If the due date for payment of any amount of principal or interest in respect of any Bond is not 
at any place of payment a business day, then the holder thereof will not be entitled to payment 
at the relevant place of payment of the amount due until the next following business day and 
will not be entitled to any further interest or other payment in respect of any such delay. In this 
paragraph, “business day” means any day on which banks are open for business in the relevant 
place of payment and, in the case of payment by transfer to a bank account as referred to in (a) 
above, a day on which dealings in foreign currencies are carried on in both Kuwait City and such 
place of payment.

7. Taxation

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Bonds by or on behalf of the Issuer will be 
made without withholding, retention or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, 
duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature (“Taxes”) imposed, levied, collected, 
withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the State of Kuwait, political subdivision or any authority therein 
or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding, retention or deduction is required by law.  In 
such event, the Issuer will pay such additional amounts as shall be necessary in order that the net 
amounts received by the Bondholders after such withholding, retention or deduction shall equal the 
respective amounts of principal and interest which would have been receivable in respect of the Bonds 
in the absence of such withholding, retention or deduction; except that no such additional amounts 
shall be payable with respect to any Bonds:
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(a) by or on behalf of a Bondholder who is liable for such Taxes in respect of such Bond by reason of 
his having some connection with the State of Kuwait other than the mere holding of such Bond; or

(b) more than thirty days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the Bondholder would have 
been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting the same for payment within such period 
of 30 days.

As used herein the “Relevant Date” means whichever is the later of (a) the date on which such payment 
first becomes due and (b) if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been received by the Fiscal 
Agent on or prior to such due date, the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so 
received and notice to that effect shall have been duly published in accordance with Condition  13. Any 
reference in these Conditions to principal and/or interest in respect of the Bonds shall be deemed to 
refer also to any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition.

8. Events of Default

If one or more of the following events (each, an “Event of Default”) shall have occurred and be continuing, 
that is to say: 

(a) The Issuer shall fail to pay the principal of any of the Bonds (whether at maturity, upon redemption 
or otherwise) for a period of five (5) business days after the date when due; or

(b) The Issuer shall fail to pay any interest on any of the Bonds for a period of ten (10) days after the 
date when due; or

(c) The Issuer shall fail duly to perform or observe any other term, covenant or agreement contained 
in the Bonds for a period of thirty (30) days after the date on which written notice of such failure, 
requiring the Issuer to remedy the same, shall first have been given to the Fiscal Agent by the 
Representative of Bondholders (as defined in Condition  12); or 

(d) An order shall be made or an effective resolution passed for the winding up or the dissolution of 
the Issuer; or

(e) The Issuer shall stop or threaten to stop payment of its debts generally or cease to carry on business 
or substantially the whole of its business or threaten to do so; or

(f) The Issuer shall sell, transfer, or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, all or substantially all of 
its undertaking or assets except a disposal at market value or in the ordinary course of business or 
a disposal of the terms of which have been previously approved by a resolution of the Bondholders 
Association referred to in Condition  12.  For these purposes a certificate of the auditors for the time 
being of the Issuer that in their opinion the undertaking or assets (or the relevant part) disposed 
of is or is not substantial shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding on the 
Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the Bondholders; or

(g) An encumbrancer or mortgagee shall take possession of, or a receiver or judicial officer shall be 
appointed over, the whole or any material part of the assets or undertaking of the Issuer or an 
attachment, execution or other process shall be levied or enforced upon or against the whole or 
any material part of the chattels or property of the Issuer following upon a decree or judgement 
of a court of competent jurisdiction and shall not be removed, discharged or paid out within sixty 
(60) days; or

(h) The Issuer becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts generally as they mature or applies for or 
consents to or suffers the appointment of a liquidator or takes any proceeding under any law for a 
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readjustment or deferment of its obligations or any part thereof or makes or enters into a general 
assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the benefit of its creditors; or

(i) Any indebtedness for borrowed moneys contracted by the Issuer in the sum of at least KD 100 
million shall become due prior to its stated maturity by reason of default in respect of the terms 
thereof and demand shall be made for the repayment thereof or any such indebtedness shall not 
be paid at its stated maturity or within any applicable grace period therefore as originally provided 
or there shall be default by the Issuer when called upon to do so in making any payment due under 
any guarantee and/or indemnity given in respect of any indebtedness for borrowed moneys, or any 
mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other encumbrance, present or future, and created or assumed 
by the Issuer becomes enforceable and the holder thereof takes any steps to enforce the same, 
however in all events only to the extent that such default is continuing or not waived,

then in each and every case the principal amount of each Bond (together with accrued interest) 
shall, at the option of, and upon written notice to the Fiscal Agent by the Bondholders Association 
(as defined in Condition  12) become immediately due and payable, without the necessity of any 
judicial proceedings upon the date that such written notice is received by the Fiscal Agent unless 
prior to such date all Events of Default in respect of all the Bonds shall have been cured. For the 
purposes of Condition  8 herein, “business day” shall mean a day that banks are open for business 
in Kuwait and at the place of business of any paying agents.

9. Prescription

Each Bond will become void unless presented for payment within a period of ten years from the 
Relevant Date (as referred to in Condition  7) in respect thereof. 

10. Fiscal Agent and Paying Agents

In acting under the Fiscal Agent and Paying Agency Agreement, the Fiscal and the Paying Agent(s) 
are acting solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation towards or relationship of 
agency or trust for or with the Bondholders.

The Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement may be amended by the parties thereto, without the consent 
of the Bondholders, for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, defective provision or manifest error or in 
any manner which the parties thereto may deem necessary or desirable which will not be inconsistent 
with the Bonds and will not, in the opinion of such parties, be materially prejudicial to the interests of 
the Bondholders, the Fiscal Agent or the Paying Agent(s).

11. Replacement of Bonds 

Should any of the Bonds be mutilated, defaced, destroyed, stolen or lost, it may be replaced at the 
office of the Fiscal Agent in Kuwait (or such other place(s) as the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer may from 
time to time decide and notify in accordance with Condition  13) upon payment by the claimant of 
the expenses incurred in connection with the replacement and on such terms as to evidence and 
indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require.  Mutilated or defaced Bonds must be surrendered 
before replacements will be issued.

12. Association of Bondholders

Articles 12-41 to 12-52 of Chapter 12 of Module 11 of Decision No. (72) of 2015 relating to the issuance 
of the amended Executive Bylaws of Law No. 7 of 2010 regarding the Establishment of the Capital 
Markets Authority and Regulating Securities Activities, as amended, provides for the formation of an 
association of which all bond holders of a single issue are, by operation of law, members. Such an 
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association (the “Bondholders Association”) will be created to defend the rights of Bondholders. The 
rights and obligations of the Bondholders Association will be specified in its articles, the full text of 
which may in due course be examined at the office of the Fiscal Agent and of each of the Paying Agents.

The purpose of the Bondholders Association will be to bring together and hold in common, in the 
interests of the Bondholders, the exercise of their rights, claims and security (present and future) relating 
to the Bonds. The Bondholders Association alone will have the right to act in the defence of the interests 
of all of the Bondholders as a collective, the latter not being permitted under any circumstances to 
act individually in exercise or realization of such rights, claims and security this notwithstanding the 
occurrence, or continuation, of an Event of Default, in which event, and for the avoidance of doubt, 
the rights and obligations and the existence of the Bondholders Association shall continue to remain 
intact, and all decisions (whether past or future) passed at a duly convened, constituted and conducted 
meeting of the Bondholders shall be binding on all Bondholders.

The Bondholders Association will be managed by a representative (the “Representative of 
Bondholders”) pursuant to the above referenced articles. The Representative of Bondholders will be 
elected at the meeting of the Bondholders Association called by the Issuer for that purpose and to 
approve the articles of the Bondholders Association. 

Any Bonds (including any voting rights attached thereto) which are owned directly or indirectly by the 
Issuer shall not be taken into account for the purposes of, 1) determining any quorum thresholds at any 
meeting of Bondholders (including any subsequent and/or postponed meeting(s) of Bondholders), or 
2) any voting rights at any meeting of Bondholders attaching to the Bonds which are owned directly 
or indirectly by the Issuer.

13. Notices

(a) Notices to Bondholders shall be deemed to have been duly given if published in a leading 
newspaper of general circulation in Kuwait. If the notice is for the purposes of a Bondholders 
Association meeting, such notice may also be published in two daily local newspapers in Kuwait 
and in Boursa Kuwait at least five days prior to the meeting in accordance with Chapter 12 of Module 
11 (the “Notice Provisions”) of Decision No. (72) of 2015 relating to the issuance of the amended 
Executive Bylaws of Law No. 7 of 2010 regarding the Establishment of the Capital Markets Authority 
and Regulating Securities Activities. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the 
date of publication in such newspapers and in Boursa Kuwait.  Notices to Bondholders may also be 
given in any other manner as allowed by the Notice Provisions.

(b) As long as the Bonds are held in a clearing system with the Clearing Agent, notices will also be 
given through the clearing system by the Clearing Agent in accordance with its standard rules and 
procedures applicable.

14. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

The Bonds and all other documents pertaining thereto are governed by and shall be construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Kuwait and any dispute arising out of or in connection with 
the Bonds shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Kuwait.

There will appear on the foot of the Conditions endorsed on each Bond in definitive form the names and 
specified offices of the Fiscal and Paying Agents as set out on the back of this Prospectus.
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Summary of Provisions relating to the Bonds while in Global Form

The Fixed Rate Global Bond (“Global Bond”), contains provisions which apply to the Bonds represented by such 
Global Bond, some of which modify the effect of the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds set out in this document. 
The effects of such provisions contained in the Global Bond are set out below.

The Bonds will be evidenced by a Global Bond without coupons in registered form in the amount of KWD 
100 Million. The Global Bond will be deposited with and registered in the name with Kuwait Clearing 
Company K.S.C. (“KCC”) for credit to the accounts of the subscribers with KCC on or about 30 December 
2018. While the Bonds are evidenced by a Global Bond, the Bonds evidenced by such Global Bond may be 
transferred through KCC in accordance with the rules and procedures in effect for KCC.

The Global Bond will be exchangeable in whole but not in part for individual definitive Bond Certificates 
if (a) any Bond becomes due and payable in accordance with Condition 9, (b) KCC is closed for business 
for a continuous period of 14 Business Days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or 
announces an intention permanently to cease business or, in fact, does so, or (c) the Bank would suffer 
any disadvantage as a result of a change in any laws or regulations (or in the interpretation thereof by the 
relevant authorities) or as a result of a change in the practice of KCC which would not be suffered if the 
Bonds were to be in definitive form.  For the purposes of this provision “Business Day” means a day that 
banks are open for general business in the location of the place of business of KCC.

So long as the Global Bond is held by the KCC, notices required to be given to Bondholders may be given 
by such notices being delivered to KCC, so long as notices are also published in Kuwait in accordance with 
the Terms and Conditions of the Bonds.

The registered holder of the Global Bond shall be the only person entitled to receive payment of principal 
and interest in respect of the Bonds represented by the Global Bond and each person entitled to a Bond 
represented by the Global Bond must look solely to KCC for his share of each payment made by the Bank 
to the registered holder of the Global Bond.

Payments of principal and/or interest in respect of Bonds represented by the Global Bond will be made 
against presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Bonds, 
surrender of the Global Bond to the Fiscal Agent.  A record of each payment made will be endorsed on the 
schedule to the Global Bond by or on behalf of the Fiscal Agent.
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Use of Proceeds

The proceeds from the issue of the Bonds will amount to KD 100 Million, and will be used by the Issuer for 
general corporate purposes. The Managers’ commissions and certain expenses incurred in connection with 
the issue of the Bonds will be met from the gross proceeds of the Bonds. The Issuer shall be responsible for 
all costs relating to the issuance of the Bonds.

The table below shows the uses of proceeds:

Use of proceeds Amount (KD)

General corporate purposes 99,600,000

Issuance related costs (estimates) 400,000

Total 100,000,000
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Business Description of the Issuer

The Issuer was incorporated as a Kuwaiti Shareholding Company on 27 December 1975 by an Amiri 
Decree, and is registered with the Ministry of Commerce and Industry under the Commercial Registration 
Number 24067. The Issuer is also registered in the register of banks maintained by the CBK and is listed on 
Boursa Kuwait. 

History 

Since incorporation, the Bank has grown to become the third largest bank in Kuwait in terms of asset size, 
and as at the date of this Prospectus, has four subsidiaries that are located across the MENAT region. 

Kuwait Projects Company (Holding) K.S.C.P. (“KIPCO”) is a holding company that is headquartered in the 
State of Kuwait, with activities in various sectors across the GCC and the wider MENAT region. In 1997, 
KIPCO acquired a majority stake in Burgan during its privatization by the Government of Kuwait. As at the 
date of this Prospectus, KIPCO is the single largest shareholder of the Bank. Following the change in its 
ownership structure, the Bank aligned its strategy with that of KIPCO’s, transforming from a government 
owned entity to a profit-oriented one.
    
The Issuer has continuously improved its performance over the years by expanding its revenue 
structure, diversifying its sources of funding, and maintaining a strong capital base. By adopting 
state-of-the-art services and technology, the Issuer positioned itself as a trendsetter domestically, and within 
the MENAT region. Prudent lending coupled with shrewd operating strategies have enabled the Bank to grow 
revenues in various geographic locations, and increase value to all its stakeholders, including: 
shareholders, customers, communities and employees.  As at the date of this Prospectus, the Group is a regional 
powerhouse, offering financial services across six countries and through four subsidiaries with a body 
of professional strategists and executioners. The Group adopts innovative business strategies and has 
prudent risk architecture. The Issuer’s brand has been created on the foundations of trust, commitment, 
excellence and progression. The Bank’s products and services are built on the foundation of “people come 
first”. Earlier this year, ‘Brand Finance’ – the international brand valuation company rated the Issuer’s brand 
as AA, with a positive outlook. This rating places the Issuer’s brand as 2nd amongst the most valuable 
banking brands in Kuwait. The Issuer continuously strives to maintain the highest standards in the industry.   

Registered Office

The Issuer’s registered office is Burgan Tower, Abdullah Al-Ahmad Street, Al Sharq, Kuwait, Tel: +965 2298 
8000.

Objectives as per Articles

The Issuer’s objectives are to transact all commercial banking services and operations, for the account of 
the Company or for the account of third parties, including:

(i) accept cash deposits, pay against commercial papers and orders drawn on the Issuer by depositor, 
with the amounts deposited to their account, (ii) obtain funds by issuing lending bonds, (iii) buy and 
sell gold bullions, foreign currencies, grant advances thereon, and buy and sell their assignments, (iv) 
discounting draft orders, promissory notes, loan bonds, coupons and all commercial and industrial bonds, 
buy and re-discontinue thereof and invest capitals, (v) lend, borrow, give credits and all bank facilities, (vi) 
borrow on bills of lading, transport notes, and fund collecting orders in the State of Kuwait and abroad, (vii) 
issue secured or unsecured guarantees, (viii) collect allowances of transfers, bills of exchange, commercial 
papers, bills of lading and other instruments, (ix) purchase and sell shares and bonds for the account of 
the Issuer and account of a third party, (x) act as savings and family fund bank, (xi) take custody of all types 
of currencies, precious metals, and other properties, bonds, parcels, bundles, and leasing private metal 
safe deposit boxes, (xii) operating as trustee or agent and to accept agencies and to appoint agents for or 
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without commission, (xiii) accepting subscriptions towards the establishment of shareholding companies, 
(xiv) establishment and management of collective investment schemes (collective investment scheme 
manager), (xv) custody of assets constituting collective investment schemes (custodian), and (xvi) 
investment controller.

Listing and Privatisation 

On 29 September 1984, the Issuer was listed on Boursa Kuwait. At the close of trading on 30 September 
2018, the Issuer’s share price was KD 0.250, giving it a market capitalization of KD 563.3 million.

The Issuer was privatized in 1997 as a result of Kuwait’s privatization initiative across the banking industry 
– the Government reduced its ownership in the Issuer from 61.0 per cent to less than 10.0 per cent. As of 
the date of this Prospectus, the Government continued to own (directly or indirectly) an equity stake of 
less than 10.0 per cent in the Issuer. 

Authorised and paid-up capital

As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer had an authorised share capital of 2,500,000,000 shares of 100 fils 
each, comprising 2,259,418,470 issued and fully paid up shares of 100 fils each.

On 10 October 2018, the Bank raised KD 62,551,197.8 by issuing 240,581,530 ordinary shares (the “Rights 
Issue”), which was approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank, and the relevant regulatory bodies. 
Shareholders were offered 240,581,530 shares at an offer price of KD 0.260 per share, comprising a nominal 
value of KD 0.100 per share and a premium of KD 0.160 per share. The Rights Issue was fully subscribed, 
resulting in a KD 24,058,153 increase in share capital, and a share premium of KD 38,493,044.8.

Ownership 

As at 30 September 2018, the following shareholders had holdings in excess of 5.0 per cent of the Issuer’s 
issued ordinary share capital:

Shareholders Percentage of shares* Number of ordinary shares

(%) (In millions)

Kuwait Projects Company (Holding) K.S.C.P.................................. 41.2 930.3

United Gulf Holding Company B.S.C................................................ 15.0 339.0

Public Institution for Social Security................................................ 8.1 182.2

* Calculated as number of shares held divided by the paid-up share capital.
Note: See “Parent Company” section below for details about KIPCO.

As at 30 September 2018, KIPCO had a consolidated (direct and indirect) shareholding of 63.8 per cent in 
the Issuer.

Subsidiaries as at 30 September 2018

As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer had a controlling interest in each of the banks listed below and such 
banks have all been consolidated into the accounts of the Issuer:

Name Country of Incorporation Date of Initial Purchase Effective Holding

(%)

Burgan Bank A.Ş. Turkey Turkey December 2012 99.41

Gulf Bank Algeria S.A. Algeria April 2009 86.01

Bank of Baghdad P.J.S.C. Iraq April 2009 51.83

Tunis International Bank S.A. Tunisia June 2010 86.70

For further details, see the “Key Subsidiaries” section below.

FS - 1616



Group Status

As of 30 September 2018, the Issuer is not part of a group of companies. However, there are three 
shareholders of the Issuer with shareholdings in excess of 5.0 per cent of the Issuer’s issued ordinary share 
capital. These shareholders include: KIPCO, United Gulf Holding Company B.S.C. (formerly United Gulf Bank 
B.S.C.) (“UGHC”) and the Public Institution for Social Security (“PIFSS”).  Only KIPCO is represented on the 
Issuer’s Board of Directors. KIPCO, UGHC and PIFSS also own other companies that are not related to the 
Issuer.

Credit Rating

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer had the following credit ratings:

• Standard & Poor’s: BBB+ for long-term issuer credit and A-2 for short-term counterparty credit, with a 
stable outlook;

• Moody’s: A3 for long-term bank deposits and P-2 for short-term deposits, with a stable outlook; and

• Fitch: A+ for long-term issuer default with a stable outlook, and F1 for short-term issuer default.
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Strategy

Strategy

The Issuer adopts a multi-dimensional strategy which aims to strengthen its position in existing 
markets through organic growth, and achieve greater geographic diversification through inorganic growth. 
Diversification is aimed to enable the Issuer to capitalize on growth in various markets and to broaden the 
allocation of risk.

As part of its organic growth strategy, the Issuer identified the following key elements for its strategic plan:

(a) Gain in market share: The Issuer is focused on enhancing its competitive position in the corporate, 
private and retail banking sectors in Kuwait, through the expansion of its customer base, 
introduction of new products and services within pre-defined risk parameters that meet the needs and 
expectations of its customers, servicing customers through a focused sales force, and developing 
strong technology platforms for the distribution of its services.

In order to achieve these strategic objectives, the Issuer is focusing on:

• establishing credit relationships with large multinationals undertaking large-scale projects in 
Kuwait;

• focusing on international clients through club or syndication facilities on a selective basis;

• developing a sales force focused on identifying customer needs and providing tailor-made 
solutions;

• expanding private banking operations into a full-fledged private bank; and

• growing retail banking through a focused approach on building its technology platforms, 
increasing its customer accounts and deposits, as well as focusing on product development.

(b) Focus on banking fundamentals: The Issuer’s management continues to focus on core banking 
fundamentals (including prudent risk management across the Group, growth of non-interest income 
lines, and building synergies across the Group) and has embarked on initiatives to implement the same 
strategy across various businesses and support functions across the Group. By focusing on banking 
fundamentals, the Issuer and its subsidiaries have exhibited strong financial performance, even in the 
more recent challenging global economic environment.

(c) Consolidation of existing subsidiaries: The Issuer is focused on achieving synergies through integration 
and the realignment of its subsidiaries. The following are key initiatives of the Issuer across the 
jurisdictions in which it operates:

• building synergies by cross-selling products and services;

• expanding its branch reach, ATM network, e-banking and mobile banking platforms;

• rationalising its cost structure and establishing a mechanism for intra-group funding;

• implementing a common core banking platform across the majority of subsidiaries;

• aligning Group risk management policies and procedures; and

• establishing a solid regional brand that is based on a clear and simple brand architecture.
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As a part of its inorganic growth strategy, the Issuer will continue to focus on achieving the following 
strategic objectives:

(a) Expanding its local and regional footprint and building scale: The Issuer aspires to achieve the 
returns, scale and consistency of top-tier banks in the MENAT region. While the Issuer believes 
its organic growth strategy will help maintain profitability, to achieve its growth targets, the Issuer 
believes it would need to increase the scale of its activities, primarily by expanding its international 
operations. The Issuer will continue to look for opportunities outside of Kuwait, in countries with high 
population growth, improving GDP trends, and low barriers to entry relative to mature markets in the 
region. The inorganic approach to expansion has historically been preferred by the Issuer due to 
difficulties in establishing green-field operations as a result of licensing issues, longer gestation periods and 
learning curves for new set-ups. However, the inorganic approach to regional expansion is challenging 
due to a limited number of potential targets, lack of information and transparency, perceived need for 
professional resources, and possible domestic political resistance in selected markets that the Issuer 
may identify from time to time.

(b) Adding supplementary capabilities to drive growth: The Issuer continues to seek supplementary 
capabilities such as private banking and wealth management through inorganic growth. The Issuer 
also intends to develop its asset management capabilities in order to drive future growth, see “Key 
Subsidiaries - Burgan Bank A.Ş. – Turkey” below for further details.

In addition, the Issuer continuously strives to maintain a strong capital base to achieve its growth 
strategies. Management of the Issuer’s capital base is critical to the growth of the Group, organically 
and through strategic investments. As part of this strategy, the Issuer completed the sale of JKB in 
December 2015. The sale increased the Issuer’s Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1”) Ratio to 11.7 per cent, and the 
Issuer’s Capital Adequacy Ratio (“CAR”) to 15.6 per cent (as at 31 December 2015). The purpose of the JKB 
sale was to reduce the Issuer’s risk weighted assets and increase its capital base in order to: (i) support the 
continued diversification of the Issuer’s strategy in markets with higher growth potential; (ii) grow the 
Issuer’s loan portfolio by channelling surplus capital into its credit or investment portfolios, and 
consequently enhance the Issuer’s earnings and shareholder returns in the short- to medium-term; (iii) 
strengthen its capital adequacy ratios as required by Basel III Regulation; (iv) and, a reduction of more than 
KD 500 million in risk weighted assets. The Issuer has also sought to limit the impact of the decline in the 
Group’s net income from the JKB deconsolidation by redirecting the additional capital from sale proceeds 
into income-generating assets in markets with higher growth potential.

Competitive Strengths

The Issuer believes that its business is characterised by the competitive strengths discussed below, and 
that these competitive strengths position the Issuer to successfully implement its strategy and continue 
its growth plans.

(a) Leading regional presence and growing international network: Through a combination of its own 
branches, representative offices, subsidiaries and associates, the Issuer is present in eight countries 
across the MENAT region. The Group has grown considerably from 2014 to 2017 and has one of the 
largest regional branch networks, with 167 branches across Kuwait, Turkey, Algeria, Iraq, Tunisia and 
Lebanon as at 30 September 2018. In 2015, the Issuer continued the expansion of its international 
offices. The international offices are hubs specifically created to help improve work streaming and efficiencies 
between the subsidiaries within the Group, and thus increase coordination and business 
generation. Two such offices were initiated in 2014, one in Turkey, supporting the Private Banking 
Division, and the other in Malta, supporting trade finance operations within the Group, as well as the 
Issuer’s factoring and forfeiting business. In addition, the Issuer opened a representative office in the Dubai 
International Financial Centre in 2015. Given the success of the Issuer’s international expansion, which was 
undertaken through a combination of organic and inorganic growth initiatives, the Issuer believes that it 
is well positioned to further enhance its international presence. The Issuer also believes that its continued 
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international growth and expansion will diversify the Issuer’s business activities and geographical 
coverage and, in turn, reduce its reliance on the Kuwaiti market.

(b) Strong operating performance, financial position and risk management: The Issuer has historically 
maintained stable growth in Kuwait and more recently the MENAT region. For the nine months ended 
30 September 2018, nine months ended 30 September 2017 and nine months ended 30 September 
2016, the Issuer recorded a profit for the period of KD 71.7 million, KD 57.3 million and KD 48.1 million, 
respectively, and total assets of KD 6,836.9 million, KD 7,066.1 million and KD 7,099.6 million, as at 30 
September 2018, 30 September 2017 and 30 September 2016, respectively. The Issuer’s prudent credit 
policy and effective utilisation of risk management tools has enabled it to maintain a high-quality loan 
portfolio. The Issuer believes that it has well-defined, conservative lending policies and procedures. 
The Issuer has thus been able to build its reserves (general provision and specific provision), which as at 
30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017 stood at KD 239.3 million and KD 246.3 million, respectively. 
The Issuer’s coverage ratio (net of collaterals)1 increased to 594.8 per cent as at 30 September 2018, 
compared to 416.8 per cent as at 30 September 2017. In addition, the Issuer’s non-performing assets 
(net of collaterals) declined to 0.7 per cent of total exposure as at 30 September 2018, compared to 1.0 
per cent as at 30 September 2017. The Issuer’s capital adequacy ratio under Basel III as at 30 September 
2018 was 16.5 per cent The Issuer believes that its strong operating performance, financial condition, 
and prudent risk management will enable it to take advantage of new opportunities in the MENAT 
region, and continue its international growth and expansion strategy.

(c) Stable funding base: The Issuer’s funding includes institutional, government and quasi-government 
deposits in Kuwait, which are contracted on a commercial basis, and are regarded by the Issuer as 
relatively stable and a low-cost source of funding. As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer’s total funding 
from deposits by government and quasi-governmental entities accounted for 9.0 per cent of its total 
deposits from customers in Kuwait (or 6.4 per cent of total deposits from customers). 69.2 per cent of 
the Issuer’s assets as at 30 September 2018 were funded by deposits from customers and due to other 
financial institutions, 8.6 per cent by due to banks, 5.2 per cent by other borrowed funds, 3.9 per cent 
by other liabilities and the balance by its capital and reserves.

(d) Culture of excellence and commitment to training and development of personnel: The Issuer has created a 
customer-focused culture that aims at achieving strong operational performance. This culture is a key 
component of the recruitment, selection, learning and development processes, and the performance 
evaluation of employees and counterparties. The Issuer has created and implemented a number of 
training and development programmes for both domestic and international staff. The Issuer has built 
a competitive advantage by investing in the development of its employees and that of their teams 
and by encouraging and cultivating the growth of potential leaders. Every employee has personal 
performance objectives that are aligned with the Issuer’s strategic direction, and reflect the culture of 
respect and care for customers, as well as support for the communities in which the Issuer operates.

(e) Experienced management team and commitment to corporate governance: All members of the Issuer’s 
Board and Executive Management Teams have extensive knowledge of the banking sector in Kuwait and 
the MENA region, and bring with them a wealth of experience in leading financial institutions with an 
international presence. See “Management” below. Further, management believes that corporate 
governance is a matter of vital importance, and thus it comprises a fundamental part of the business 
practices of the Group. The   combination of an existing team of highly experienced professionals, 
coupled with best practice corporate governance standards, positions the Group well for future 
growth. The Issuer is strongly committed to maintaining a strong corporate governance practice and 
framework. The governance practiced by the Issuer has been designed to ensure that the Issuer is 
effectively managed and that financial industry standards and Boursa Kuwait and the CBK requirements 
are fully met. The governance framework, which is underpinned by the Corporate Governance Manual 
and related policies, clearly delineates the separate roles of the Board and the Issuer’s management. 
The Audit Committee monitors developments in the governance and updates governance practices to 
ensure that the Issuer continues to maintain the most appropriate standards of governance. 

1  Calculated as risk provisions divided by non-performing assets (net of collaterals).

1  Calculated as risk provisions divided by non-performing assets (net of collaterals).FS - 2020



Core Areas

The Issuer is engaged in the provision of conventional banking and investment services to individuals 
and corporates. The Issuer has a significant presence in the corporate and financial institutions sectors in 
Kuwait, and the wider MENAT region. It is also focused on growing its retail and private banking customer 
base.

The following provides an overview of the business lines of the Issuer’s core operating areas:

• Corporate Banking Group (“CBG”) provides comprehensive products and services to corporate and 
financial institutions, including lending, deposits, trade services, foreign exchange services, and 
advisory services; 

• The Private and Retail Banking Group (“PRBG”) includes the Private Banking and the Retail 
Banking Divisions. It provides a wide range of products and services to retail and private bank customers, 
including but not limited to, customer loans, deposit accounts, credit and debit cards, as well as foreign 
exchange services; and 

• Treasury and Investment Banking Group (“TIBG”) is responsible for treasury; asset liability 
management; as   liquidity management; investment services; fund management; and any residual 
transfer pricing. The TIBG also provides products and services to banks including, lending, deposits, 
money market and foreign exchange transactions. 

The following provides an overview of the Issuer’s international operations:

• Burgan Bank A.Ş – Turkey (“BBT”) was originally founded in 1989, and is a mid-sized bank (in terms 
of assets). It focuses on the corporate banking sector and is expanding its presence in selective retail 
businesses. See “Key Subsidiaries – Burgan Bank A.Ş. – Turkey” below;

• Gulf Bank Algeria S.A. (“GBA”) was established on 15 December 2003 as a commercial bank in 
Algeria.   Since its establishment, GBA has aimed to contribute to the economic and financial 
development of Algeria, and to provide professional services and high-quality products. 
See “Key Subsidiaries - Gulf Bank Algeria S.A.” below;

• Bank of Baghdad P.J.S.C. (“BoB”) was established in 1992. Its customer base comprises small and 
medium-sized enterprises, large corporate, as well as individual customers. BoB was the first licensed 
private bank to commence banking operations in Iraq, after the change in the banking regulations by 
the Central Bank of Iraq. See “Key Subsidiaries - Bank of Baghdad P.J.S.C.” below; and

• Tunis International Bank S.A. (“TIB”) was established in June 1982 as the first fully licensed offshore 
banking corporation in Tunisia See “Key Subsidiaries - Tunis International Bank S.A.” below.

Insurance

The Issuer maintains fire and perils property insurance for its premises, including head office and 
the branches, building and contents; and fire and perils property insurance for goods at customs 
warehouse.  Its electronic equipment has been insured with computer all risk insurance while mobile ATMs are 
covered with plant and machinery insurance. The Issuer also provides staff with medical insurance. The 
Issuer also maintains third party liability insurance, bankers’ blanket insurance, directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance, and sabotage and terrorism insurance.

The insurance coverage of the Issuer is reviewed on an on-going basis and is updated accordingly. 
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Property

The Issuer owns its Burgan Tower and one of the Bank’s branches. The rest of the Issuer’s properties are 
typically leased for three to five years, with an option to renew these leases. Certain properties have been 
leased from the Ministry of Finance, the Public Authority for Industry, and Cooperatives.
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Risk Management

The Issuer has an independent Risk Management Group, and a multi-faceted risk management approach, 
which combines a formal risk and disclosure policy, a strict lending limit criteria and a focus on staff 
training and development, resulting in a strong risk management culture. The Issuer’s Risk Management 
Group is headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer who reports directly to the Board Risk Committee. To 
ensure objectivity in risk analysis, the Risk Management Group does not have any business, income or 
profit targets. The mission of the Risk Management Group is to identify, measure and control various risks, 
and to report the effects of such risks and corresponding mitigants (where possible) to the Issuer’s top 
management. The Issuer has a well-documented Risk and Disclosure Policy that is prepared internally 
and approved by the Board of Directors. The Risk and Disclosure Policy classifies the risks faced by the 
Issuer as a result of day-to-day activities, according to certain categories. The Risk Management Group has 
made various officers responsible for the identification, measurement and control of risks within the risk 
categories. The risk categories include:

Credit Risk: the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause 
the other party to incur a financial loss;

Market Risk: the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates, foreign exchange rates and market prices for equities and commodities; and

Operational Risk: the risk that financial loss may occur due to operational failures.

The Risk Management Group manages risk at a Group level to ensure that the Issuer’s Risk and Disclosure 
Policy is consistently implemented. The Risk Management Group comprises three departments, each 
of which is responsible for one of the aforementioned types of risk. The Risk Management Group also 
has a Shared Services Unit, which provides shared services to other risk functions. Most of the Issuer’s 
subsidiaries has an independent risk management function that reports to its respective Board Risk 
Committee, which has a separate reporting line to their Chief Executive Officer and Group Chief Risk Officer. 
The implementation of the Issuer’s risk policies across its subsidiaries is at various stages of completion.

For BBT, the Board Credit and Recovery Committee undertakes the assessment of credit proposals and 
revisions to such proposals, within the framework granted by the Board.

GBA’s Board of Directors approved the organisational structure of GBA through which it officially implements 
a risk management structure. The risk function is managed by a Head of Division, and is organised into four 
departments responsible for the three categories of risk: credit risk, market risk, and operational risk. The 
Compliance Unit is in charge of reporting anti-money laundering issues.

At BoB, the Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach, and for approving the 
risk principles and strategies. Currently, the implementation of risk-related procedures is the responsibility 
of the relevant departments, under the direct supervision and responsibility of BoB’s Managing Director. 
Risk management processes throughout BoB are audited regularly by the internal audit function that 
examines both the adequacy of the procedures and BoB’s compliance with the procedures. The Internal 
Audit Department of BoB discusses the results of all assessments with the management, and reports its 
findings and recommendations to the audit committee.

As for TIB, the Board Credit Committee and Recovery is responsible for managing credit risk and all other 
aspects of risk. 
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Compliance Risk, Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Financing of Terrorism

Compliance risk relates to risks affiliated with reputation, earnings or capital, which arise from violation 
or non-conformity with laws, regulations, policies, practices and ethical standards, including money 
laundering – a process by which criminals attempt to hide and disguise the true origin and proceeds of 
their criminal activities; the process can also relate to the financing of terrorist activities.  

The Issuer ensure the implementation of local, regulatory and statutory requirements. It has also instituted 
customer due diligence policies and procedures that are in line with the “know your customer” (“KYC”) 
principles set out below. The Issuer’s KYC procedures form a fundamental part of its internal anti-money 
laundering control regime. The procedures are intended to reduce the risk of accounts being used for 
money laundering or terrorist financing purposes, and to help identify suspicious transactions.

The Issuer has an Anti-Money Laundering Policy (“AML Policy”) in place, pursuant to the CBK’s instructions 
relating to Anti-Money Laundering and the Combating of Terrorism Financing.

The AML Policy is defined by a set of key principles:

(a) Engagement: The AML Policy applies to all areas of the Issuer’s business groups, operational functions, 
as well as each of its branches and subsidiaries, to ensure proper implementation;

(b) KYC: The Issuer has adopted KYC procedures, which are designed to determine and document the 
true identity of customers, obtain basic background information about customers, and provide for 
periodic updates on the identity of customers. The Issuer’s AML Policy covers the saving and retrieval 
of documents, and examines the identity of the transferor and transferee for outward and inward 
transfers;

(c) Training: The Issuer has regular training courses for its staff to ensure it understands its responsibilities 
under the AML Policy, implements it in its day-to-day work activities, and has a clear understanding 
about how to detect, monitor and report suspicious activities and transactions; and

(d) Effectiveness: The Issuer also has a system that provides details of potential, suspicious transactions on 
a daily basis. These transactions are further examined, and explanations are obtained when necessary. 
Strongly suspicious transactions are reported to the relevant legal authorities.

Legal Division

The Group Chief Legal Counsel is responsible for overseeing the Legal Division, which comprises five units: 
documentation, execution, credit recovery, corporate governance and disclosure, as well as translation. 
He is also responsible for overseeing Kuwaiti qualified lawyers, internationally and locally focused legal 
counsellors, as well as support services staff. The Legal Division is responsible for coordinating lawsuits 
where the Issuer is a party to the action, providing legal advice and opinions, reviewing the impact of 
legislative amendments on the Bank, and drafting contracts and internal company documents. The Legal 
Division reports directly to the CEO and, amongst other things, provides the CEO and the Risk Management 
Group with details of any legal matters that may have particular impact on the Issuer. The Legal Division 
also prepares quarterly reports for the Issuer’s Financial Accounting and Control Group. 

Risk Committee

The Board Risk Committee defines the risk policies of the Issuer, and oversees risk assessments, 
see “Corporate Governance – Board Committees – Board Risk Committee” below.
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Corporate Governance

The implementation of corporate governance practices is an integral part of Burgan’s business 
operations. The Bank continuously endeavours to adopt practices followed by the banking sector, and meet 
regulatory requirements.

Board Committees 

The following summarizes the objectives and duties of the principal Board committees. In some cases, 
the detailed implementation of a committee function is delegated to a subcommittee on an ad hoc or 
ongoing basis. 

Board Executive Committee (“BEXCO”)

This committee is principally concerned with supervising:

• strategy and planning;

• risk management;

• the Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”);

• approval of ALCO and treasury limits;

• investment; and

• operations policy and incident reporting.

The committee comprises four members and a Chairman, who is the Chairman of the Issuer.

Board Credit Committee (“BCC”)

The Board Credit Committee is principally concerned with approving facilities in excess of the limits 
delegated to management; in addition, it is concerned with:

• considering the Issuer’s provisioning policy and the need for large individual provisions; and

• approving credit procedures and related issues.

The committee comprises four members and a Chairman, who is the Chairman of the Issuer.

Board Corporate Governance Committee (“BCGC”)

This committee is principally concerned with assisting the Board in setting the Issuer’s corporate 
governance policies and following up on its execution and periodic review to ensure its effectiveness. 
The committee comprises three members and a Chairman, who is the Chairman of the Issuer.

Board Audit Committee (“BAC”)

This committee is principally concerned with:

• reviewing the integrity of periodic and other key financial statements, as well as regulatory 
reports prior to their submission to the Board. The Board is responsible for confirming the accuracy of 
regulatory reports, in light of the Issuer’s records, and ensuring that the regulatory reports are CBK 
and IAS/IFRS compliant;
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• supervising and reviewing the work of the external auditor(s);

• supervising and reviewing the work of the internal audit function;

• ensuring that the internal audit function operates according to the appropriate professional 
standards, and that its staff is equipped to operate according to a satisfactory methodology; 

• following up on transaction or procedural exceptions, or risk observations made during internal or 
external audit communications, and advising the Board regarding remedial actions required and/
or already taken;

• reviewing and following up any actions or disclosures required to ensure compliance with CBK and 
other regulatory obligations; and

• reviewing internal control systems and authorisations, and reporting any significant deficiencies 
and proposed remedies to the Board.

 
The committee comprises two members, a technical adviser and a Chairman.

Board Risk Committee (“BRC”)

This committee is principally concerned with reviewing the current and future risk strategies, and 
reporting about them to the Board. The committee also supervises the implementation of such strategies 
by BEXCO. BRC is responsible for ensuring the existence of an effective and independent risk management 
system. The committee comprises two members and a Chairman. 

Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“BNRC”)

The key duties of this committee are:

• to recommend to the Board (during the AGM) candidates to fill any vacancies on the Board;

• to recommend to the Board the appointment or dismissal of the CEO and the settlement of related 
financial commitments;

• to appoint or dismiss (after considering the advice of the CEO) any executive manager in the 
governance structure, who reports directly to the CEO (including dotted line reporting), Board 
Committee, the Board or the Chairman of the Board;

• to approve salary/allowance scales and related grading systems;

• to approve any discretionary bonus or similar payments that are proposed by the CEO, and which 
are to be made in addition to the approved scales. Approval is sought for:

• amounts payable to staff generally in excess of the budget;

• specific amounts payable to staff that are subject to HR actions that require BNRC approval; and

• to review and approve remuneration disclosures in the Issuer’s annual report. 

The committee comprises two members and a Chairman.
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Board and Management Investment Committee (“BMIC”)

The BMIC is a sub-committee of BEXCO. It oversees the Issuer’s investment activities and makes decisions 
that are in line with its delegated authorities. The committee comprises two members of the Board, four 
members of management and a Chairman, who is the Chairman of the Issuer.

Key Management Committees

The following summarizes the objectives and duties of the principal management committees.

Management Executive Committee (“MEXCO”)

This committee reviews recommendations put forth by senior management, and considers other policies 
and operational issues that are not addressed in other management/Board committees, and in light of the 
Issuer’s corporate governance procedures. The committee comprises nine members and a Chairman, who 
is the CEO of the Issuer. 

Management Operational Risk & Internal Control Committee (“MORICC”)

The key duties of this committee are:

• Ensuring the effective implementation of the Bank’s policies and procedures to maintaining 
a robust internal control environment;

• Reviewing reports relating to the Bank’s internal control environment, and recommending 
mitigation plans or corrective actions:

˗	 Key risk or control issues identified as part of self-assessments or by internal and external 
assurance providers;

˗	 Breaches of key risk indicators (“KRI”);

˗	 Operational losses and key incidents; 

˗	 Implementation status of action plans or projects aimed at mitigating key risks, control issues 
or observations made by internal and external assurance providers; and 

˗	 Any other operational risks or internal control issues not covered by KRI reporting

• Issuing instructions and recommendations on controls based on changing market environment, 
regulations, new developments, etc. and ensuring that recommended actions are implemented 
effectively;

• Disseminating important information to a wider audience about “key lessons learned” and generic 
issues encountered so as to help prevent losses from occurring again in other areas;

• Discussing any risks in meeting legal or regulatory requirements and deadlines;

• Reviewing and authorizing requests to formally reschedule the closure of any open observations;

• Recommending the allocation of penalties to business groups, if any;
• Reviewing and approving residual risk acceptance proposals from concerned areas as applicable; 

and
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• Providing clearance to policies, frameworks or documents related to operational risk and internal 
control.

The committee comprises six members and a Chairman, who is the Group Chief Strategic Financial 
Planning & SBD Officer of the Issuer.

Management Product and Pricing Committee (“MPPC”)

The purpose of the MPPC is to review and approve new product and service proposals, changes to 
existing products and services, as well as changes to the pricing of existing products and services (i.e. fees, 
commissions, charges and interest rates). In addition, MPPC assesses and manages the performance 
of products and services throughout their lifecycles, and monitors and addresses any risks inherent in 
products or services that may impact customer experience. 

The key duties of this committee are:

• Reviewing all proposals, and making recommendations to MEXCO regarding:  new products 
(including co-branded products), services and segments; material modifications to existing 
products (including co-branded products), services and segments, pricing changes (e.g. interest 
rates), and customer eligibility criteria;

• Reviewing decisions to discontinue any existing products being offered by the Bank;

• Maintaining an inventory of all new products and services awaiting approval/implementation, 
tracking their status and raising any key issues for resolution; and

• Ensuring that recommendations to MEXCO are fully aligned with Board-approved policies, 
particularly those concerning credit limits and lending criteria.

The committee comprises six members and the Chairman, who is the Chief Executive Officer – Kuwait 
of the Issuer.

Provision Assessment Committee (“PAC”)

The purpose PAC is to monitor the credit provisioning process, and ensure that the Bank has a satisfactory 
provisioning system in place.

The key duties of this committee are:

• Ensuring the lending portfolio’s provisioning requirement is appropriately monitored according to 
the related regulations issued by the CBK and other applicable regulatory bodies;

• Ensuring that provisions are made for both, cash and non-cash credit portfolios, in line with CBK 
instructions, and in consideration of the following factors:

˗	 Deterioration of the client’s financial position;

˗	 The client’s account becoming dormant;

˗	 The client is placed under liquidation;

˗	 The client being declared bankrupt;

˗	 The client’s debt being rescheduled;
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˗	 Processing legal measures and actions against the client by any other creditor concerned with 
such instructions, claiming repayment of debts; and / or

˗	 Availability of clear evidence that the client is incapable of repaying his / her debts on maturity 
date.

• Discussing concerns regarding the credit standing of clients with all business units, and identifying 
a list of clients that may default, triggering a provisioning need; 

• Discussing updates regarding: client loan restructurings, credit collections, legal actions, and note 
corresponding action plans;

• Reviewing the performance of business areas, forecast potential provisions for the quarter, and 
identify clients that may become tagged as “clean”, “on watch list”, “loan rescheduling” and / or “shift 
to legal”; and

• Reviewing amounts to be written off with justifications, prior to presenting recommendations to 
the Board or a Board authorized sub-committee for final approval. 

The committee comprises eleven members (including one by invitation) and a Chairman, who is the CEO 
of the Issuer.

Procurement Committee (“PC”)

The key duties of this committee are:

• Approving vendor proposals (above KD 20,000 up to KD 500,000, total cumulative cost) as per the 
Bank’s defined authority limits;

˗	 Proposals above KD 500,000 will be reviewed and submitted to GCEO for approval; and

˗	 Expenses above KD 1 million will be reviewed by GCEO and submitted to BEXCO for approval.

• Defining and reviewing the Bank’s Group-wide purchasing strategy;

• Reviewing, as and when necessary, procurement strategies and policies;

• Developing vendor selection and evaluation procedures;

• Reviewing and approving the Bank’s list of accepted / preferred vendors;

• Reviewing and approving pre-qualification criteria for vendors;

• Clarifying issues with pricing and technical packages of tenders;

• Managing contractual related completions, disputes, bonds and payments;

• Reviewing requests for time extensions by vendors; approve / decline as applicable; and

• Approving waivers to standard terms of contract for PC-awarded contracts.

The committee comprises five members (including three by invitation) and a Chairman, who is the Group 
Chief Operations & Technology Officer of the Issuer.
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Management Audit Committee (MAC)

The key duties of this committee are:

• Coordinating and facilitating communication between the Internal Audit Department (“IA”) and 
other departments of the Bank;

• Reviewing external and internal auditors’ management letters, reports and recommendations, and 
the responses thereto of Executive Management, before submitting the same to the BAC;

˗	 Where relevant, and in cases where it is not feasible to convene a MAC meeting, the MAC 
Chairman may designate any MAC Member to review auditors’ reports and recommendations 
and assess Executive Management’s responses on behalf of MAC. 

• Seeking and discussing any differing views on the accuracy of, and risk ratings assigned to, audit 
observations, and ensuring the resolution of the same;

• Agreeing with Executive Management and the audited departments on the action plans for
implementing the agreed corrective actions;

• Assigning management responsibility and timeframes for implementing the agreed corrective
actions and overseeing their implementation; and

• Calling special MAC meetings to discuss issues and recommendations that may emerge out of
special enquiries undertaken by internal audit based on the advice of the BAC.

The MAC Secretary must submit to MAC, at least two days prior to each MAC meeting, a list of all previously 
identified observations and corrective actions whose implementation is outstanding. This list is reviewed 
at the subsequent MAC meeting in order to expedite appropriate actions, and arrive at a list of identified, 
resolved or unaddressed observations to be shared with BAC on a quarterly basis. 

The committee comprises six members and a Chairman, who is the Group Chief Strategic Financial
Planning & SBD Officer of the Issuer. 

Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”)

This committee looks into all aspects of the Issuer’s asset and liability management. This includes the
pricing of customer assets and liabilities, gaps and mismatches in interest rates and maturities, liquidity 
positions, market movements and forecasts of interest and exchange rate durations of assets and
liabilities. The committee meets monthly and meeting minutes are reported to the BEXCO.

The committee comprises nine members (including one permanent guest) and a Chairman, who is the 
CEO of the Issuer.
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Management

The Board of Directors of the Issuer

The Board of Directors comprises nine directors. The Issuer’s Articles of Association stipulate that each 
director shall be elected for a term of three years at an ordinary general assembly meeting of the 
shareholders, and that each director is eligible for re-election for another term or terms, upon the expiration 
of such term. The Board has the power to elect the Chairman and the Vice Chairman, and to appoint or 
remove the Group Chief Executive Officer (“GCEO”) at any time, provided that the required quorum is met. 

The Board convenes at least six times a year in accordance with regulatory requirements.

In April 2016, the Board was elected by the Issuer’s shareholders for a term of three years. Currently, the 
following individuals comprise the Issuer’s Board of Directors:

Mr. Majed E. Al Ajeel (Chairman)

Mr. Al Ajeel has held the position of the Chairman of the Board since 2010. He is also the Chairman of the 
Kuwait Banking Association, and a Board Member at the Institute of Banking Studies, Burgan Bank Turkey 
and FIM Bank. He was also a Board Member of the Bank from 1998 to 2004. He served as the Chairman 
and CEO of United Projects Company from October 2004 to mid-April 2010, and as the Vice-Chairman 
and CEO from mid-April 2010 to July 2012. He was a Board Member at Kuwait & Middle East Financial 
Investment Company between 1984 and 1986, Kuwait Real Estate Investment Consortium between 1985 
and 1992, and International Leasing & Investment Company between 1999 and 2003. He also served as a 
Managing Director of Kuwait Finance and Investment Company between 2002 and 2004. He graduated 
with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Architecture in 1977 and a Master’s Degree in Planning in 1978 from 
the Catholic University of America.

Mr. Mohammed A. Al Bisher (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Al Bisher is the Vice-Chairman of the Bank and has been a Board Member since 2010. He is also 
the Director and Partner of Abdulrahman Al-Bisher and Zaid Al-Kazemi Group (Kuwait), Director of 
Al-Bisher Son’s Group for General Trading and Contracting, Chairman of Leo Witter GmbH (jewellery and 
precious mineral, Kuwait), Director of Etemadco Exchange Company, Director and Partner of International 
Optics (Kuwait), Partner at a group of Saudi Arabian Companies, and serves as a representative for ATA 
Investment Company (Turkey). Previously, he has held the positions of Board Member of Jordan Kuwait Bank 
between 1981 and 1989, Kuwait International Investment Company between 1983 and 2000, and Kuwait 
Clearing Company between 1986 and 1992. He graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics and Political 
Science from Kuwait University in 1971.

H.E. Mr. Abdel Kareem A. Al Kabariti (Board Member)

H.E. Mr. Al Kabariti has been a Board Member of the Bank since 2004. He also holds the positions of 
Chairman of Jordan Kuwait Bank and Gulf Bank Algeria, and Board of Trustees of Al-Ahliyya Amman 
University. He is also a Board Member of Jordan Dairy Company. Previously, he has held several high 
ranking political and legislative positions in Jordan from 1989 to 2007, including Prime Minister of 
Jordan, Minister of Foreign Affairs, Labour, Defence and Tourism, Chief of the Royal Court, Member of 
Parliament and Head of the Economics and Finance Committee. In addition, he has also been a Member of the 
Jordanian Senate, where held the positions of  Head of the Economics and Finance Committee and First 
Deputy to the Speaker, and the Chairman of United Financial Investments Company, until September 
2017. He graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Business and Finance from St. Edwards University in 1973.
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Mr. Faisal M. Al Radwan (Board Member)

Mr. Al Radwan has been a Board Member of the Bank since 2010. He also holds the position of Vice
Chairman of Burgan Bank Turkey, and Board Member of Gulf Bank Algeria. Previously, he has held key 
positions at the National Bank of Kuwait, including Deputy General Manager between 1978 and 1980, 
General Manager between 1980 and 1983, and Deputy CEO between 1983 and 1993. Further, he has also 
held key positions like Vice-Chairman of the Bank of Bahrain and Kuwait between 1991 and 1994, and
Vice-Chairman and Managing Director of the Bank between 2003 and 2004. He also served as a Board 
Member of the Bank of Bahrain and Kuwait between 1986 and 1994, Bank of Oman Bahrain and Kuwait
between 1990 and 1994, and the Bank between 2001 and 2003.  Mr. Al Radwan graduated with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce and Business Administration from Cairo University in 1970.

Mr. Masaud M. J. Hayat (Board Member)

Mr. Hayat joined the Board of the Bank in 2013. He also holds the position of CEO - Banking Sector - of 
KIPCO, and the positions of Chairman of United Gulf Bank, United Gulf Holding Co. and Tunis International 
Bank. He is also Deputy Chairman of Gulf Bank Algeria, Bank of Baghdad and FIM Bank, as well as a Board 
Member of North Africa Holding Co., KAMCO, Masharea AlKhair Charity Foundation and Jordan Kuwait 
Bank. Between 1974 and 1996, he has held various positions at Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait, such as Deputy Chief 
General Manager, and Advisor to the Board of Directors. He has also served as a Board Member in multiple 
organizations, which include BIAT Tunis between 1989 and 1995, Bank of Bahrain and Kuwait between 
1986 and 1988 and again between 1991 and 1995, Industrial Investment Co. between 1993 and 2001, Gulf 
Insurance Company between 1997 and 2001, United Fisheries Company between 1997 and 2001, Wataniya 
Communication Company, Algeria and Union of Investment Companies between 1997 and 2009, and The 
International Investor between 2005 and 2009. He was the Chairman of KAMCO between 1998 and 2010, 
United Gulf Financial Services Co. between 1997 and 2009, and Syria Gulf Bank and Vice Chairman of The 
Royal Capital Group, Abu Dhabi. Additionally, he was the Managing Director of United Gulf Bank between 
1997 and 2009, and with the Bank between 2009 and 2010. He graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in 
Economics from Kuwait University in 1973, and earned a Diploma in Banking Sciences from the Institute 
of Banking Studies in 1975.

Mr. Samer Khanachet (Board Member)

Mr. Khanachet has been a Board Member of the Bank since 2011. He also holds the positions of Group 
Chief Operating Officer of KIPCO, Chairman of TAKAUD Savings and Pension, Chairman of United Gulf
Management Inc., Board Member of United Gulf Bank, Board Member of United Real Estate Company,
Director of United Gulf Management Limited, Trustee of American University of Kuwait, and Member of 
the Corporation Development Committee for Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). Previously, 
he has held various positions like Financial Analyst, Senior Financial Analyst & Assistant Manager at The
Industrial Bank of Kuwait between 1975 and 1980. He has also held various senior positions like Executive Vice
President & General Manager of Sharjah Group between 1980 and 1990, General Manager of KIPCO
between 1990 and 1995, President of United Gulf Management Inc. between 1991 and 2007 and
President of Arab Bankers Association of North America between 2003 and 2005. He graduated with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science - Chemical Engineering, and a Bachelor’s degree in Science – Management, from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) in 1973, as well as a Master’s Degree in Business Administration 
from Harvard University in 1975.

Mr. Sadoun Abdulla Ali (Board Member)

Mr. Ali has been a Board Member of the Bank since 2004. He also holds the positions of Vice Chairman 
and CEO of Qurain Petrochemical Company, Executive Director of United Gulf Holding Company B.S.C.,
Chairman of United Oil Project Company, Board Member of Bank of Baghdad, United Industries Company 
and Advanced Technology Company. Previously, Mr. Ali has held the positions of Board Member of Bank 
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of Kuwait and Middle East between 2003 and 2004, Head of Accounting and Financial Group of KIPCO 
between 1997 and 2006, General Manager of KAMCO between 2006 and 2008, CEO of KAMCO between 
2008 and 2010, and Managing Director and CEO of KAMCO between 2010 and 2012. He graduated with a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Management of Financial and Accounting Services from Ashland University in 1988.

Mr. Pinak Pani Maitra (Board Member)

Mr. Maitra has been a Board Member of the Bank since 2010. He also holds the positions of Group Chief
Financial Officer of KIPCO, and Board Member of OSN (Panther Media Group Limited) and Pulsar
Knowledge Centre. Previously, he has held positions of Vice President – Financial Control and Planning
- at United Gulf Bank in 1988, Assistant Vice President of Planning and Financial Control of KIPCO between 
1988 and 1990, and Vice President -  Financial Controller -  at United Gulf Management Inc. between 1991 
and 1996. He graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Osmania University in 1979.

Mr. Abdul Salam M. Al Bahar (Board Member)

Mr. Al Bahar has been a Board Member of the Bank since 2004. He also holds the positions of Board Member 
of United Industries Company and United Networks Co., and Financial Advisor of Overland Real Estate 
Company. Previously, he has held the positions of Board Member of Tunis International Bank between 
1997 and 1999, Bahrain Middle East Bank between 1998 and 1999, Wataniya Telecom between 1998 and 
2007, Kuwait Catering Company between 1997 and 2003, Tamdeen Group between 2003 and 2006, and 
Wataniya Airways between 2006 and 2007. He was the Chairman of Kuwait Catering Company between 
1999 and 2001, Chairman and Managing Director of Wataniya Airways between 2007 and 2011, part of the 
Executive Management (Companies Financing) of KIPCO between 1995 and 2007, and General Manager of 
Overland Real Estate Company between 2012 and 2014. He graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in
Science - Electrical Engineering, from Fairleigh Dickinson University in 1988.There are no potential
conflicts of interest between the Board Members’ duties to the Issuer and their private interests or other 
duties.

The business address of each Member of the Board is: P.O. Box 5389, Safat 12170, Kuwait City, State of
Kuwait.

The table below sets out the number and proportion of the shares of the Issuer’s capital owned by each 
member of the Board as at 30 September 2018, as follows:

Direct Indirect through portfolio 
managers

Outstanding 
stock options

Shares Per cent Shares Per cent Shares

Directors

Mr. Majed E. Al Ajeel............................................ 186,781 0.008% - - -

Mr. Mohammed A. Al Bisher............................. 154,363 0.007% - - -

H.E. Mr. Abdel Kareem A. Al Kabariti............. 196,120 0.009% - - -

Mr. Faisal M. Al Radwan...................................... 154,363 0.007% - - -

Mr. Masaud M. J. Hayat....................................... - - 1,000,000 0.044% -

Mr. Samer Khanachet.......................................... 154,363 0.007% - - -

Mr. Sadoun Abdulla Ali...................................... 196,120 0.009% - - -

Mr. Pinak Pani Maitra.......................................... 118,391 0.005% - - -

Mr. Abdul Salam M. Al Bahar............................ - - 220,574 0.010% -
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Board Confirmation of Financials

The interim condensed consolidated financial information of the bank and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
the Issuer) for the period ended 30 September 2018 were authorized for issue in accordance with the 
resolution of the Board of Directors on 28 October 2018. The financial results for the years ended 
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 have been audited and approved by Burgan’s General Assembly 
Meeting of Shareholders. Burgan’s Board of Directors have been obligated to present the financial results 
of the Bank in accordance with the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its subsequent amendments, and the 
Board of Directors accepts such responsibility.

Key Management Compensation

The table below sets out the remuneration paid or accrued in relation to “key management” (deemed for 
this purpose to comprise the Issuer’s Directors in relation to their committee service, the CEO and other 
members of the Issuer’s Executive Management for the year ended 31 December 2017:

31 December

2017

(KD 000’s)

Short-term employee benefits – including salary and bonus............................................................................ 5,070

Accrual for end of service indemnity........................................................................................................................... 568

Accrual for cost of long-term incentive rights.......................................................................................................... 766

Accrual for committee services..................................................................................................................................... 300

6,704

The Issuer’s Directors do not receive any emoluments in the form of fees, salaries or bonuses for their services rendered to the Bank as 
Directors, other than in relation to their committee service.

In 2017, the Issuer paid a KD 0.4 million remuneration to the Board of Directors for committee services provided by its members. 
The Board of Directors’ remuneration for 2018 is expected to be in line with 2017.

Description of related party transactions

The Issuer enters into transactions with certain related parties (KIPCO, directors and key management 
personnel of the Issuer and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties) 
who were customers of the Issuer. The terms of these transactions are approved by the BCC or a delegated 
authority below, depending on the nature of the transaction. As at 30 September 2018, aggregate loan 
exposures to related parties represented 20.1 per cent of the total loan portfolio (excluding banks and OFIs 
within the KIPCO group).

None of the Issuer’s directors or officers, or the direct or indirect shareholders of the Issuer holding more 
than 5.0 per cent of issued share capital, has or had any interest in any transactions with the Issuer or its 
affiliates that are or were unusual in their nature or conditions or significant to the Issuer’s business or its 
affiliates taken as a whole that were effected during the current or immediately preceding three financial 
years.

The following table sets out the balances as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 and 30 
September 2017 and as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017:
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As at / for the nine 
months ended 30 

September

As at / for the year 
ended 31 December

As at / for the nine 
months ended 30 

September 

2018
(Unaudited) 2017 2017  

(Unaudited)

(KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s)

Assets and Liabilities

Due from banks and OFIs................................................... 243,760 310,051 310,392

Loans and advances to customers.................................. 874,405 960,658 981,429

Investment securities........................................................... 133,671 162,330 171,308

Investment securities managed by a related party.. 61,199 52,455 52,176

Other asset............................................................................... 2,703 - -

Due to banks........................................................................... 7,018 22,229 7,365

Due to other financial institutions.................................. 55,325 70,378 26,678

Deposits from customers.................................................... 70,782 173,667 48,299

Commitments, contingent liabilities and 
derivatives

Letters of credit....................................................................... 12,908 5,841 5,989

Letters of guarantee............................................................. 63,021 60,514 62,885

Derivative financial instruments...................................... 75,825 42,450 42,108

Transactions

Interest income....................................................................... 30,636 49,243 36,547

Interest expense..................................................................... (2,142) (1,356) (1,011)

Fee and commission income............................................. 1,789 1,845 1,353

Dividend income.................................................................... 10,933 1,985 1,985

Other expense........................................................................ (2,092) (2,409) (1,780)

Other income ........................................................................ 24 - -

Other transactions during the period

Sale of investment security................................................ 9,000 - -

Loss on sale of investment security................................ (180) - -

Board members

Loans and advances.............................................................. 3,313 3,604 3,133

Deposits from customers.................................................... 569 590 820

Group executive staff

Loans and advances.............................................................. 223 267 217

Deposits from customers.................................................... 1,914 2,626 2,826

Letters of guarantee............................................................. 1 1 1

Further information about the Group’s material related party transactions, including any material contracts 
between any of the Issuer’s directors or their immediate family and the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries are 
set out in Note 11 within the Group’s unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information 
as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 and note 19 within the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements as at and for the years ended 31 December 2017.
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The Executive Management of the Bank

The table below sets forth certain information with respect to the Executive Management of the Issuer.

Name Age Position Years with 
the Bank

Mr. Eduardo Eguren Linsen 63 Group Chief Executive Officer 8

Mr. Raed Abdullah Al Haqhaq 47 Chief Executive Officer – Kuwait 18

Mr. Robert James Frost 53 Group Chief Investment Banking and Treasury Officer 4

Mr. Adrian Alejandro Gostuski 63
Group Chief Financial Planning and Strategic Business
Development Officer

7

Mr. Andrew Christopher Singh 52 Group Chief Risk Officer 3

Mr. Khalid Fahad Al Zouman 53 Group Chief Financial Officer 18

Mr. Venkatakrishnan Menon 54 Group Chief Operation and Technology Officer 13

Mr. Amr Mohamed Samy El Kasaby 51 Group Chief Internal Auditor 11

Mrs. Hanan Mohamed Hassan Metwalli 68 Group Head of Compliance 30

Ms. Halah Mohammad El Sherbini 44 Group Chief Human Resources & Development Officer 7

Mr. Mahmoud Mohamed Ezzat Moursi 51 Group Chief Legal Counsel 15

Mr. Hameed Abul 50 Deputy Group Chief Private Banking Officer 5

Mr. Ghassan Bani Al Marjeh 58 Chief Operations Officer 4

Mrs. Huda Fahed Al Shemmari 48 Head of International Operations – General Manager 15

The business address of each member of the Executive Management is: P.O. Box 5389, Safat 12170, State 
of Kuwait.

Mr. Eduardo Eguren Linsen – Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Eguren was appointed as the Group Chief Executive Officer of the Bank in September 2010. He has over 
33 years of experience in global corporate, retail and commercial banking sectors, across five continents. 
Before joining the Bank, Mr. Eguren was the Chief Executive Officer of Global Commercial Banking for 
Barclays Bank in the United Kingdom. From 1984 to 2007, he held several senior management positions 
including Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer at Citigroup, Citibank and Citi, covering 
corporate and retail banking, asset management, insurance and pension funds in Latin America, Europe, 
Asia, North America and Africa. He has extensive experience in developing and implementing strategies 
for a number of global banks, and initiating inorganic growth opportunities in emerging markets. He is 
a Chartered Accountant, and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Administration from Montevideo University, 
Uruguay.

Mr. Raed Abdullah Al Haqhaq – Chief Executive Officer - Kuwait

Mr. Al Haqhaq joined the Bank in 2000 as Unit Head in Corporate Banking and has held senior roles in 
Corporate Banking prior to his appointment as Chief Banking Officer in 2008. Currently, he is the Chief 
Executive Officer – Kuwait, and is responsible for the strategic direction, leadership, revenue growth and 
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profitability of Corporate Banking, Retail Banking and Financial Institutions, as well as the development of 
new business and the expansion of existing business relationships. He is also responsible for managing 
the Bank’s relationship with financial institutions across numerous geographical regions. He has over 22 
years of local and international experience in corporate and investment banking. Mr. Al Haqhaq began 
his career at the Kuwait Investment Authority and then joined the International Investment Group, where 
his last role was Assistant Vice President. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Strategic Management 
from California State University, Sacramento, USA.

Robert James Frost – Group Chief Investment Banking and Treasury Officer

Mr. Frost joined the Bank as Group Chief Investment Banking and Treasury Officer in 2014. He is 
primarily responsible for developing the Group’s Investment Banking and Treasury function. He has over 22 
years of experience in global financial markets. Before joining the Bank, Mr. Frost held the position of Executive 
Director and Global Head of Capital Management at Macquarie Bank Ltd., Australia. He managed the treasury 
requirements of Macquarie Securities Group for more than 20 financial markets across globe and was 
responsible for building its Capital Management Division. Mr. Frost holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Economics 
and a Bachelor’s Degree in Science (Mathematics) from The University of Queensland, Australia.

Mr. Adrian Alejandro Gostuski – Group Chief Financial Planning and Strategic Business 
Development Officer

Mr. Gostuski joined the Bank in 2011. As the Group Chief Financial Planning and Strategic Business 
Development Officer, he has been responsible for leading the following operational areas: legal, 
banking operations, internal control and technology. Prior to joining the Bank, he worked with Barclays 
Bank in London. Between 2003 to 2008, he held the role of Chief Financial Officer of Latin America and 
Banamex for Citigroup – Corporate, where he worked for over 23 years in various capacities. During the 
last seven years with Citigroup, he served as the Chief Financial Officer in Mexico and in Singapore. He 
has over 39 years of experience in both developed and emerging markets. His expertise spans finance, 
investment management, mergers and acquisitions, operations, technology, treasury and equity funds. 
He is a Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) from Buenos Aires University, Argentina and holds a Master’s 
degree in Business Administration in Strategic Planning from ESEADE, Buenos Aires, Argentina.

Mr. Andrew Christopher Singh – Group Chief Risk Officer

Mr. Singh joined the Bank as Group Chief Risk Officer in 2015 and has over 30 years of experience in the 
financial services industry, with 16 years of experience in risk management. Previously, he has held the 
positions of Regional Head of Enterprise Risk for Europe at Credit Suisse, Regional Head of Risk Americas at 
Depfa Bank Plc, and Group Chief Risk Officer at EFG Hermes Holding for the Middle East and North Africa. 
He has also held various risk and control-related roles at JPMorgan Asia Pacific and UK. He has a solid track 
record in managing enterprise-wide risk in developing and emerging markets. Mr. Singh is responsible 
for establishing and enhancing the Group’s risk strategy and framework, and implementing risk policies 
throughout the Group. Mr. Singh holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Chemistry from Imperial College, 
London, and is an Associate of the Royal College of Science (A.R.C.S.) in Management Science.

Mr. Khalid Fahad Al Zouman – Group Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Al Zouman joined the Bank in 2000 as the Head of Risk Management. He was appointed as the Group 
Chief Financial Officer in 2003. He is mainly responsible for the strategic planning of the Group’s finance 
activities, and for the development and implementation of financial guidelines, controls and reporting 
procedures. He has over 29 years of experience in financial management, accounting and auditing, in 
Kuwait and internationally. Prior to joining the Bank, Mr. Al Zouman held senior financial management roles 
with Ernst & Young in Kuwait and in the United States. He is a Certified Public Accountant (“CPA”) from the State 
of New Hampshire, USA, and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer Science from Kuwait University.
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Mr. Venkatakrishnan Menon – Group Chief Operations and Technology Officer

Mr. Menon joined the Bank in 2005. He is currently the Group Chief Operations and Technology 
Officer. Prior to this, he was the Chief Retail Banking Officer, and was responsible for the Retail Banking 
function at the Bank. He has over 32 years of experience in the banking industry. Before joining Burgan, 
Mr. Menon held senior management roles at Qatar National Bank, BNP Paribas, Standard Chartered Bank and 
HDFC Bank. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business Management, and a Bachelor of Science Degree from 
University of Mumbai, India.

Mr. Amr Mohamed Samy El Kasaby – Group Chief Internal Auditor

Mr. El Kasaby joined the Bank in 2007. As the Group Chief Internal Auditor, he is responsible for 
leading the Group’s audit function. Mr. El Kasaby has 26 years of experience in auditing and accounting. 
He has led the audit function in various industries such as banking, trading, investment management, 
manufacturing, automotive, and oil and gas. Prior to joining the Bank, he was the Deputy Manager and Acting 
Chief Internal Auditor of the Internal Audit Department at Kuwait Finance House. He is a Certified Public 
Accountant (“CPA”) from the State of Oregon, USA, a Certified Fraud Examiner (“CFE”), and a Certified 
Internal Control Auditor (“CICA”). He also holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Commerce in Accounting and 
Auditing from Kuwait University.

Mrs. Hanan Mohamed Hassan Metwalli – Group Chief Compliance Officer

Mrs. Metwalli has worked at the Bank for more than 29 years. She spent 16 years working within the 
corporate and risk management functions. In 2006, she was appointed as the Head of Compliance. She is 
responsible for developing, monitoring, and implementing plans and policies in accordance with the rules 
and regulations issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“BCBS”), the CBK, Boursa Kuwait, 
the Ministry of Communications, and other relevant agencies. Prior to joining the Bank, Ms. Metwalli spent 
11 years with Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait, Commercial Bank of Kuwait and Gulf Bank. She holds a Bachelor’s 
Degree of Commerce (Accounting) from the University of Alexandria, Egypt, and is a Certified Compliance 
Officer (“CCO”) from the American Academy of Financial Management (“AAFM”).

Ms. Halah Mohammad El Sherbini – Group Chief Human Resources and Development Officer

Ms. El Sherbini joined the Bank in 2011 as the Chief Human Resources and Development Officer. She is 
responsible for developing and expanding the staff’s skills in a manner that allows the Bank to achieve its 
objectives. She has 22 years of experience in the banking industry; prior to joining Burgan, she was the 
Head of Human Resources at Al Ahli United Bank of Kuwait and Citibank Kuwait. Ms. El Sherbini has held 
various roles at the Human Resources Departments at the National Bank of Kuwait and Gulf Bank. She 
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in English Literature from Alexandria University, Egypt and a Professional in 
Human Resources Certificate (“PHR”) from the Society for Human Resource Management (“SHRM”). She is 
a Certified Professional Trainer from the Arab Bankers Association and a Certified Assessor from Saville and 
Holdsworth Ltd.

Mr. Mahmoud Mohamed Ezzat Moursi – Group Chief Legal Counsel

Mr. Moursi was appointed as the Group Chief Legal Counsel on 1 October 2018, and reports to the Group 
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Moursi is responsible for efficiently and effectively managing the Issuer’s Legal 
Department, as well as directing the Group’s legal activities to ensure that its legal rights and interests are 
well protected. Prior to joining the Bank. Mr. Moursi served as the Executive Director of Legal and Market 
Supervision at Boursa Kuwait, and later as the Head of the CMA Commissioners’ Counsel – a Senior Counsel 
in the counsel’s bureau, related to the Board of Commissioners. Before this, Mr. Moursi worked with Burgan 
for 15 years. He has more than 23 years of experience within the legal field, and has contributed to the 
creation of new laws within the State of Kuwait. Mr. Moursi holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Law from Cairo 
University, School of Law.

FS - 3838



Mr. Hameed Abul – Deputy Group Chief Private Banking Officer

Mr. Hameed Abul joined Burgan in 2013. He is currently responsible for formulating, implementing, 
directing, and overseeing the overall strategy of the Group’s Private Banking function. His aim is to drive growth 
and maximize revenue in a low risk and cost effective manner. Mr. Abul has over 24 years of experience; he 
has worked at the State Audit Bureau, the Commercial Bank of Kuwait, Qatar National Bank and Kuwait & 
Gulf Link Holding. Mr. Abul holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting and Auditing from Kuwait University, 
as well as a post graduate diploma in International Banking from City University, London. 

Mr. Ghassan Bani Al Marjeh – Chief Operations Officer

Mr. Al Marjeh joined the Bank in 2014. In his capacity as the Chief Operations Officer, he is responsible for 
the planning, implementation and administration of the Bank’s operational and support functions, which 
include: Operations Strategic Development, General Services, and Centralised Banking Operations. Mr. Al 
Marjeh has over 35 years of experience in the banking sector. He has held various positions within the 
operations department at the National Bank of Kuwait, Gulf Bank, the Commercial Bank of Qatar, as well as 
Burgan. Prior to re-joining the Bank, Mr. Al Marjeh acted as the Deputy Chief Operations Officer at Warba 
Bank. Mr. Al Marjeh holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree from the University of Damascus, Syria and a Master’s 
Degree in Business Administration - Aviation Management, from Coventry University, UK. He also holds a 
Diploma in Banking Operations & Information Technology from Vanderbilt University, USA.

Mrs. Huda Fahed Al Shemmari – Head of International Operations Office – General Manager

Mrs. Al Shemmari has been a member of the Bank since August 2003. She has over 25 years of combined 
experience and more than 19 years of experience in the banking sector. She is experienced in the fields 
of retail banking, corporate banking, international and correspondent banking, treasury and investments, 
strategic operations, quality assurance, corporate governance and project management. She’s worked 
closely with sovereign, quasi-sovereign, banking and non-banking financial institutions. When she joined 
the Bank, she was appointed as the Assistant General Manager and Head of Financial Institutions. In 2011, 
she was appointed as the Chief of Staff as well as the General Manager of Head of Strategic Business 
Development. Later, she held the post of General Manager and Head of International Operations (“IOO”) 
Group. The IOO Group oversees and monitors the Bank’s subsidiaries and affiliates, and reports directly to 
the Group CEO and Board of Directors. Mrs. Al Shemmari holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in General 
Studies from Southeastern University (London campus), as well as an MBA in Financial Management. She 
is certified from both local and international institutes including: The Institute of Banking Studies - CCM, 
ACI - Dealing Certificate, and Business Continuity Institute - MBCI.

There are no potential conflicts between the duties of the Executive Managers of the Issuer and their 
private interests or other duties.

LITIGATION STATEMENT ABOUT DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Within the period of five years preceding the date of this Prospectus, none of the Directors or members of 
Executive Management:

• have any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences;

• have been a director or senior manager of any company at the time of any bankruptcy, receivership or 
liquidation of such company; or

• have received any official public incrimination and/or sanction by any statutory or regulatory 
authorities (including designated professional bodies) or have been disqualified by a court from acting 
as a director of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of a company. 
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Organizational Structure

The diagram below illustrates the Issuer’s current organizational structure:

Burgan Bank
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Key Subsidiaries

The Issuer has four banking subsidiaries in Turkey, Algeria, Iraq and Tunisia. 

The diagram below shows the Group’s ownership interests in its subsidiaries as at 30 September 2018:

^Effective Stake

Burgan Bank A.Ş. – Turkey

Overview

BBT was originally founded in 1989 as Tekfen Yatırım Finansman Bankası AŞ (Tekfen Investment Finance 
Bank Inc). In 2006, the Tekfen Group entered into a strategic partnership agreement with Eurobank EFG, as 
a result the Issuer’s name was changed to Eurobank Tekfen. On 21 December 2012, the Group acquired a 
99.3 per cent stake in Eurobank Tekfen, and subsequently rebranded it as Burgan Bank A.Ş. -Turkey.

Eurobank Tekfen’s subsidiaries (EFG Istanbul Equities and EFG Leasing) have also been re-branded as 
Burgan Securities Inc. and Burgan Leasing, respectively. Burgan Securities Inc. is one of Turkey’s 
leading institutions and is active in the fields of brokerage, corporate finance and asset management in the 
Turkish capital markets. Burgan Securities Inc. is a financial intermediary that serves retail and institutional 
investors operating in the domestic and/or international markets. Burgan Leasing was established in March 
1994 for the purpose of conducting leasing operations under Turkey’s Leasing Law No. 3226.

BBT’s operations continue to be integrated into the larger Group. BBT is adopting the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures to ensure consistency among the Group.

With respect to its investment in BBT, the Issuer has protected its capital from the effect of Turkish Lira volatility. 
Due to BBT’s prudent and selective approach in approving credit to its clients, BBT’s Non Performing Loans 
(“NPLs”) ratio has remained low (3.5 per cent as per CBK regulations, as of 30 September 2018) relative to 
the industry standard. 

BBT is a mid-sized bank (in terms of asset size), with a focus on the corporate banking sector, but is 
expanding its presence selectively into the retail business. BBT operates under the supervision of the 
Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey.

Mr. A. Murat Dinç, CEO of BBT has over 21 years of experience in the banking industry, and assumed his 
current role in the beginning of 2014.

Products and Services

BBT provides services as a solutions partner to its customers through a network of 41 branches, spread 
across the leading industrial and trading zones in Turkey. It caters to the demands and expectations of 
customers with a diverse portfolio of corporate, commercial, small business, retail and private banking 

Organizational Structure

The diagram below illustrates the Issuer’s current organizational structure:

Burgan Bank
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products and services. BBT’s subsidiaries, Burgan Leasing, Burgan Securities Inc. and Burgan Portfolio 
Management, complement BBT’s product range and allow it to take advantage of cross-selling opportunities.
 
Burgan Asset Management Inc. is a 100 per cent affiliate of Burgan Securities Inc., and offers a wide range 
of investment products, including equities, bonds/bills, corporate bonds, as well as money market and 
gold funds. Burgan Asset Management Inc., also offers the Burgan 1 Flexible Fund.

Gulf Bank Algeria S.A.

Overview

GBA was established on 15 December 2003 as a commercial bank in Algeria. Since its establishment, 
GBA has aimed to contribute to the economic and financial development of Algeria, and to provide 
professional services as well as high-quality products.

As at 30 September 2018, GBA had a network of 60 branches, 104 ATMs, and 972 employees.

Mr. Mohamed Louhab, GBA’s General Manager, has 43 years of experience in the banking industry in 
Algeria, and has held his current role since 2005.

Products and Services

GBA provides retail and corporate banking products and services, which include: car loans, mortgages, 
consumer loans and Islamic financing. GBA invests in technology, and provides real-time services such as 
SWIFT, SMS banking and internet banking.

Bank of Baghdad P.J.S.C. 

Overview

BoB was established in 1992. Its customer base comprises SMEs, large corporate and individual 
customers. It was the first licensed private bank to commence banking operations in Iraq after the change in the 
banking regulations by the Central Bank of Iraq (CBI).

BoB is the only private bank in Iraq that holds both principal licences for issuing Visa and MasterCard debit 
and credit cards. As at 30 September 2018, BoB had 34 branches, 46 ATMs, and 761 employees. BoB is 
present in all 18 provinces of Iraq, and has a branch in Beirut, Lebanon.

BoB’s shares were listed on the Iraq Stock Exchange on 15 June 2004. At the close of trading on 
30 September 2018, BoB’s share price was IQD 0.41, giving it a market capitalization of IQD 102.5 billion.

Mr. Usam Ismaeel Shareef, BoB’s Chairman, and has been in his current position since 2010.

Products and Services

BoB provides retail and corporate banking products and services, which include the following:

• Deposit Products: current accounts, term deposit accounts, savings accounts and gold accounts (which 
provide a suite of services to certain elite customers) and static accounts (a form of term deposit);

• Loans: industrial loans, trade loans, land loans (offered for financing construction, renovation or 
restoration of commercial properties), agriculture loans and housing loans (extended to Iraqi nationals 
for financing the acquisition or renovation of residential properties);
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• Trade Finance Services: letters of credit and letters of guarantee; and

• Other Banking Services: credit and debit cards (Visa and MasterCard), internet banking, mobile phone 
banking, foreign exchange, international transfers and payroll services.

Tunis International Bank S.A. 

Overview

Foreign investment in Tunisia is regulated by the Investment Code (Law 1993-120) (Tunisian Investment 
Code), which was last amended in January 2009. The current Tunisian Investment Code divides potential 
investments into two categories. First, offshore investments in which foreign equity should comprise 66 
per cent of their total equity. At least 70 per cent of the production of offshore investments is destined for 
export markets (with some exceptions for the agriculture sector). Second, onshore investments in which 
foreign equity is limited to 49 per cent of total equity for non-residential projects; on-shore industrial 
investments can have up to 100 per cent foreign equity.

TIB was established in June 1982 as the first fully licensed offshore banking corporation in Tunisia. TIB 
operates under the supervision of the Central Bank of Tunisia (“CBT”). It is also a member of Tunisia’s 
Clearing House Association.

TIB operates through three branches in Tunisia, and a representative office in Libya. TIB employed 107 
individuals as at 30 September 2018.

Mr. Mohamed Fekih, the Managing Director of TIB has over 38 years of experience in the banking industry, 
and has held his current position since 2006.

Products and Services

TIB provides a comprehensive range of products and services in Tunisia and overseas, which include: 
foreign exchange and money market services in all convertible currencies (including Tunisian dinars), 
international trade financing, forfaiting, private banking facilities, commercial banking services, loan 
syndications, investment services and Visa and American Express cards. 

PARENT COMPANY

Kuwait Projects Company (Holding) K.S.C.P.

KIPCO was incorporated as a closed shareholding company on 2 August 1975. It was registered under 
commercial registration number 23118 on 15 November 1979. On 29 September 1999, it changed its 
structure to that of a holding company, and amended its name to Kuwait Projects Company (Holding) 
K.S.C.P. from Kuwait Investment Projects Company K.S.C.P.

As at 30 September 2018, the following shareholders held more than 5.0 per cent of KIPCO’s issued 
ordinary share capital: (i) Al Futtooh Holding Company (44.7 per cent); (ii) investment companies and other 
institutions (43.5 per cent).

As at 30 September 2018, KIPCO had a direct shareholding interest of 41.2 per cent in the Issuer, and 
a consolidated effective interest (including shares held through other KIPCO group companies) of 63.8 per cent.

KIPCO’s shares are listed on Boursa Kuwait. At the close of trading on 30 September 2018, KIPCO’s share 
price was KD 0.212 per share, giving it a market capitalization of KD 321.0 million.
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Capitalization and Borrowings

The following table sets forth the Bank’s capitalization as at 30 September 2018, as well as the pro-forma 
figures post the Bond issuance:

Amounts in KD thousands 30 September 2018
(Unaudited)

Post Bond issuance
30 September 2018

(Pro-forma)

Equity

Share capital 225,942 225,942

Share premium 210,559 210,559

Treasury shares (2,518) (2,518)

Statutory reserve 81,815 81,815

Voluntary reserve 82,193 82,193

Treasury shares reserve 43,215 43,215

Fair value reserve (18,320) (18,320)

Share based compensation reserve 564 564

Foreign currency translation reserve (150,652) (150,652)

Other reserves 52,285 52,285

Retained earnings 175,182 175,182

Total equity attributable to the equity 
holders of the Bank 700,265 700,265

Perpetual Tier 1 Capital Securities 144,025 144,025

Non-controlling interests 50,878 50,878

Total equity 895,168 895,168

Liabilities

Due to banks 586,198 586,198

Due to other financial institutions 890,930 890,930

Deposits from customers 3,840,908 3,840,908

Other borrowed funds 356,542 456,542

Other liabilities 267,126 267,126

Total liabilities 5,941,704 6,041,704

Total capitalization2 6,836,872 6,936,872

Affirmation of Paid-up Capital

The Bank affirms that as of 10 October 2018 its share capital is fully paid up in the amount of KD 250,000,000 
comprising of 2,500,000,000 shares of KD 0.100 each.

2 Total capitalization computed as summation of total equity and total liabilities.
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Profit Distribution by the Bank

Dividend 
distribution

For the year 
ended 31 

December 2013

For the year 
ended 31 

December 2014

For the year 
ended 31 

December 2015

For the year 
ended 31 

December 2016

For the year 
ended 31 

December 2017

Date of approval 31-Mar-2014 22-Mar-2015 20-Apr-2016 29-Mar-2017 28-Mar-2018

Cash dividend (Fils) 7 15 18 5 7

Stock dividend (per 
cent) 7 5 - 5 5
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Selected Financial Information

The selected financial information below has been extracted from, and should be read in conjunction with, 
and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the Group’s unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial 
information and the notes thereto as at and for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 and the 
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017, which 
have each been incorporated by reference in this Prospectus.

Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Data / Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position Data

The following table shows the Group’s Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of financial position as at 30 
September 2018 and Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

As at 30 
September
(Unaudited)

As at 31 December

          2018 2017 2016
ASSETS (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s)
Cash and cash equivalents........................................................................ 872,091 937,174 896,005
Treasury bills and bonds with CBK and others.................................. 382,567 489,809 479,996
Due from banks and other financial institutions.............................. 486,289 632,010 803,412
Loans and advances to customers......................................................... 4,155,239 4,407,568 4,224,086
Investment securities................................................................................... 554,250 622,765 554,335
Other assets.................................................................................................... 250,655 187,535 180,411
Property and equipment........................................................................... 102,621 101,756 89,497
Intangible  assets........................................................................................... 33,160 36,595 41,134

Total Assets............................................................................... 6,836,872 7,415,212 7,268,876

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Due to banks................................................................................................... 586,198 883,724 824,676
Due to other financial institutions.......................................................... 890,930 975,164 1,208,419
Deposits from customers........................................................................... 3,840,908 4,154,408 3,737,259
Other borrowed funds................................................................................ 356,542 322,494 437,994
Other liabilities............................................................................................... 267,126 211,762 214,972

Total  Liabilities......................................................................... 5,941,704 6,547,552 6,423,320

EQUITY
Share capital.................................................................................................... 225,942 215,183 204,936
Share premium.............................................................................................. 210,559 210,559 210,559
Treasury shares.............................................................................................. (2,518) (2,817) (12,582)
Statutory reserve........................................................................................... 81,815 81,815 74,997
Voluntary reserve.......................................................................................... 82,193 82,193 75,375
Treasury shares reserve.............................................................................. 43,215 43,309 45,082
Fair value reserve3........................................................................................ (18,320) (12,446) 2,732
Share based compensation reserve....................................................... 564 564 564
Foreign currency translation reserve.................................................... (150,652) (97,203) (83,782)
Other reserves............................................................................................... 52,285 1,503 2,670
Retained earnings......................................................................................... 175,182 149,752 129,556
Total equity attributable to the equity holders of the
Bank.......................................................................................... 700,265 672,412 650,107
Perpetual Tier 1 capital securities........................................................... 144,025 144,025 144,025
Non-controlling interests........................................................................... 50,878 51,223 51,424

Total Equity................................................................................ 895,168 867,660 845,556

Total Liabilities and Equity...................................................... 6,836,872 7,415,212 7,268,876
3 ‘Fair value reserve’ was disclosed as ‘Investment revaluation reserve’ in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2017 and 31 
December 2016.
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Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income Data / Consolidated Statement of Income 
Data

The following table shows the Group’s Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the nine 
months ended 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017, and Consolidated Statement of Income for 
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016. 

Nine months ended 30 
September (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December

2018 2017 2017 2016

(KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s)

Interest income.................................................................................. 276,200 249,464 337,037 312,215

Interest expense............................................................................... (137,538) (123,431) (166,117) (156,474)

Net interest income....................................................... 138,662 126,033 170,920 155,741

Fee and commission income....................................................... 29,556 32,769 43,753 41,363

Fee and commission expense..................................................... (5,012) (4,454) (7,131) (6,189)

Net fee and commission income.................................... 24,544 28,315 36,622 35,174

Net gain from foreign currencies................................................ 14,891 6,498 9,655 15,552

Net investment income.................................................................. 1,752 7,674 10,019 12,632

Dividend income.............................................................................. 11,336 2,424 3,042 2,843

Other income..................................................................................... 15,426 8,393 9,168 12,732

Operating income........................................................... 206,611 179,337 239,426 234,674

Staff expenses.................................................................................... (38,383) (37,223) (50,825) (52,674)

Other expenses................................................................................. (42,552) (40,363) (58,366) (61,084)

Operating profit before credit loss expense and 
provisions4...................................................................... 125,676 101,751 130,235 120,916

Provision for credit losses5............................................................ (45,192) (27,330) (41,538) (41,509)

Provision reversal (charge) for other financial assets6........ 932 (8,616) (8,770) (3,205)

Profit before taxation and board of directors’ 
remuneration................................................................. 81,416 65,805 79,927 76,202

Taxation............................................................................................... (9,717) (8,474) (10,767) (9,367)

Board of directors’ remuneration............................................... - - (90) (90)

Profit for the period/year............................................... 71,699 57,331 69,070 66,745

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank.......................................................... 70,960 53,905 65,223 68,178

Non-controlling interests............................................................. 739 3,426 3,847 (1,433)

71,699 57,331 69,070 66,745

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to
the equity holders of the Bank (Fils)............................ 26.6 19.2 25.4 27.0

4 ‘Operating profit before credit loss expense and provisions’ was disclosed as ‘Operating profit before provision’ in the Consolidated Statement of Income for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.
5 ‘Provision for credit losses’ was disclosed as ‘Provision for loans and advances’ in the Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended 31 December 2017 
and 31 December 2016.
6 ‘Provision reversal (charge) for other financial assets’ was disclosed as ‘Provision reversal (charge) for investment securities ‘ in the Consolidated Statement of 
Income for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.
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Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Data / Consolidated State-
ment of Comprehensive Income Data

The following table shows the Group’s Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017, and Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

Nine months ended 30 
September (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December

2018 2017 2017 2016

(KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s)

Profit for the period / year............................................. 71,699 57,331 69,070 66,745

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Items that will not be reclassified to
Interim condensed / consolidated statement of income in 
subsequent periods:

Change in fair value of equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income.................................... (12,815) - - -

Items that are or may be reclassified to interim condensed 
/ consolidated statement of income in subsequent periods:

Debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income:

Net change in fair value................................................................. (4,306) - - -

Changes in allowance for expected credit losses (75) - - -

Net transfer to interim condensed / consolidated 
statement of income....................................................................... 1,254 - - -

Financial assets available for sale (IAS 39):

Net change in fair value7.............................................................. - 2,477 (11,429) 2,717

Net transfer to interim condensed / consolidated 
statement of income...................................................................... - (1,466) (3,626) 2,688

Foreign currency translation adjustment............................... (53,708) (5,247) (15,166) (25,145)

Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges............................. 9,109 (258) 1,592 1,303

Net gain (loss) on hedge of a net investment....................... 41,670 (6,006) (2,747) 8,472

Other comprehensive loss for the period / year.......... (18,871) (10,500) (31,376) (9,965)

Total comprehensive income for the period / year...... 52,828 46,831 37,694 56,780

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank........................................................... 52,358 43,733 35,457 60,759

Non-controlling interests............................................................... 470 3,098 2,237 (3,979)

7 ‘Net change in fair value’ was disclosed as ‘Change in fair value, net of provisions’ in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
31 December 2017 and 31 December 
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Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Data / Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows Data

The following table shows the Group’s Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the 
nine months ended 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017, and Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

Nine months ended 30 
September (Unaudited)

Year ended 31 
December

2018 2017 2017 2016

(KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s)

Operating activities

Profit for the period / year before taxation......................................................... 81,416 65,805 79,927 76,202

Adjustments:
Net investment income ............................................................................................ (1,752) (7,674) (10,019) (12,632)
Provision for impairment of loans and advances  .......................................... 45,192 27,330 41,538 41,509
Provision (reversal) charge for investment securities .................................... (932) 8,616 8,770 3,205
Dividend income ........................................................................................................ (11,336) (2,424) (3,042) (2,843)

Depreciation and amortisation  ............................................................................ 9,008 9,218 12,160 12,410
Other income  .............................................................................................................. - (6,260) (6,260) -
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities............................................................................................... 121,596 94,611 123,074 117,851

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Treasury bills and bonds with CBK and others  ............................................... 107,112 19,333 (9,813) (8,196)
Due from banks and other financial institutions  ........................................... 145,289 274,827 171,695 (174,625)
Loans and advances to customers  ...................................................................... 207,257 (253,508) (225,313) (307,867)
Other assets  ................................................................................................................. (57,028) (15,892) (7,124) (14,878)
Due to banks  ............................................................................................................... (297,526) (183,350) 59,048 (61,426)
Due to other financial institutions........................................................................ (84,234) (254,931) (233,255) 391,578
Deposits from customers  ....................................................................................... (313,500) 236,922 417,149 (137,085)
Other liabilities............................................................................................................ 52,249 2,396 (4,274) 21,091
Taxation paid ............................................................................................................... (6,602) (6,785) (9,793) (8,668)
Net cash (used in) from operating activities...................................... (125,387) (86,377) 281,394 (182,225)
Investing activities
Purchase of investment securities  ....................................................................... (228,221) (895,827) (1,019,340) (418,548)
Proceeds from sale of investment securities.................................................... 329,197 883,825 942,209 458,945
Purchase of property and equipment, net of disposals ............................... (6,916) (17,350) (20,474) (16,799)
Net movement in non-controlling interest....................................................... 448 - - -
Dividends received.................................................................................................... 11,336 2,424 3,042 2,843
Net cash from (used in) investing activities  ..................................... 105,844 (26,928) (94,563) 26,441

Financing activities
Other borrowed funds  ............................................................................................. 34,048 (38,757) (115,500) 219,991
Sale of treasury shares  ............................................................................................. 205 7,992 7,992 -
Cash dividend paid to equity holders of the Bank  ........................................ (15,021) (10,141) (10,141) (36,375)
Cash dividend paid to non-controlling interests  ........................................... (612) (430) (2,438) (220)
Interest Payment on Tier 1 capital securities  ................................................... (10,930) (11,003) (11,003) (10,952)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities...................................... 7,690 (52,339) (131,090) 172,444
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents...................... (11,853) (165,644) 55,741 16,660
Effect of foreign currency translation  ................................................................ (53,230) (5,091) (14,572) (24,064)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  ........................................................... 937,174 896,005 896,005 903,409
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September/ 31 December............ 872,091 725,270 937,174 896,005
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Nine months ended 30 
September (Unaudited)

Year ended 31 
December

2018 2017 2017 2016

(KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s) (KD 000’s)

Additional cash flow information:

Interest received  ........................................................................................................ 217,058 235,009 318,527 292,989

Interest paid  ................................................................................................................ 134,223 127,343 165,710 130,355

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s total assets stood at KD 7,415.2 million compared to KD 7,268.9 
million as at 31 December 2016, representing an increase of 2.0 per cent. The increase in total assets was 
primarily a result of an increase in loans and advances to customers and investment securities. As at 31 
December 2017, loans and advances to customers (net of provisions), which accounted for 59.4 per cent of 
the Group’s total assets, increased by 4.3 per cent, from KD 4,224.1 million as at 31 December 2016 to KD 
4,407.6 million as at 31 December 2017. 

Cash and cash equivalents, which represented 12.6 per cent of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 
2017, increased by 4.6 per cent from KD 896.0 million as at 31 December 2016 to KD 937.2 million as at 31 
December 2017. This increase was primarily due to a 9.5 per cent increase in amounts due from banks and 
other financial institutions maturing within thirty days, from KD 216.9 million as at 31 December 2016 to 
KD 237.6 million as at 31 December 2017.

Investment securities increased from KD 554.3 million as at 31 December 2016 to KD 622.8 million as at 31 
December 2017, representing an increase of 12.3 per cent and reflecting an increase in the Group’s financial 
assets available for sale, which increased from KD 367.4 million as at 31 December 2016 to KD 440.2 million 
as at 31 December 2017. However, amounts due from banks and other financial institutions decreased by 
21.3 per cent from KD 803.4 million as at 31 December 2016 to KD 632.0 million as at 31 December 2017.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s largest asset exposure after Kuwait was Turkey, followed by Algeria, 
Iraq and Tunisia, representing 19.8 per cent, 9.2 per cent, 3.7 per cent and 2.4 per cent of the Group’s to-
tal assets, respectively (calculated on a consolidated basis including consolidation adjustments). As at 31 
December 2016, the Group’s largest asset exposure after Kuwait was Turkey, followed by Algeria, Iraq and 
Tunisia, representing 17.8 per cent, 7.3 per cent, 5.1 per cent and 2.3 per cent of the Group’s total assets, 
respectively (calculated on a consolidated basis including consolidation adjustments). 

The following table sets out the Bank’s consolidated assets by country as at 30 September 2018, 
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.
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Assets - Geographical segmentation

As at 30 
September

(Unaudited)
As at 31 December

2018 2017 2016

(KD million) (KD million) (KD million)

Kuwait.................................................................................................. 5,094.3 5,453.0 5,430.2

Turkey.................................................................................................. 1,332.3 1,467.5 1,294.1

Algeria................................................................................................. 623.4 680.2 528.5

Iraq ....................................................................................................... 274.9 271.0 372.1

Tunisia.................................................................................................. 163.2 175.7 170.6

Consolidation Adjustments.......................................................... (651.2) (632.2) (526.7)

Total................................................................................ 6,836.9 7,415.2 7,268.9

As at 31 December 2017, the total liabilities of the Group increased by 1.9 per cent to KD 6,547.6 million 
compared to KD 6,423.3 million as at 31 December 2016. The increase was primarily a result of increase in 
deposits from customers.

Customer deposits (which as at 31 December 2017 constituted 63.4 per cent of the Group’s total liabilities) 
increased by 11.2 per cent from KD 3,737.3 million as at 31 December 2016 to KD 4,154.4 million as at 
31 December 2017. This increase primarily reflected increases in customer deposits with the Bank in 
Kuwait and GBA, which was partially offset by a decline in customer deposits in BoB. Amounts due to banks 
increased during 2017, from KD 824.7 million as at 31 December 2016 to KD 883.7 million as at 
31 December 2017, representing an increase of 7.2 per cent, reflecting an increase in amounts due to 
banks at BBT and which was partially offset by a decline in amounts due to banks for the Bank in Kuwait.

As at 30 September 2018 and 31 December 2017 

As at 30 September 2018, the Group’s total assets stood at KD 6,836.9 million compared to KD 7,415.2 
million as at 31 December 2017, representing a decrease of 7.8 per cent. The decrease was primarily due 
to decrease in treasury bills and bonds with CBK and others, due from banks and OFIs and loans and 
advances to customers. The Group reduced its total assets as part of its strategy to ensure optimal utilisation 
of capital. The reduction in assets contributed towards an increase in the capital adequacy ratio from 16.2 
per cent as at 31 December 2017 to 16.5 per cent as at 30 September 2018.

Treasury bills and bonds with CBK and others, which represented 5.6 per cent of the Group’s total assets 
as at 30 September 2018, decreased by 21.9 per cent from KD 489.8 million as at 31 December 2017 to KD 
382.6 million as at 30 September 2018. Due from banks and OFIs, which represented 7.1 per cent of the 
Group’s total assets as at 30 September 2018, decreased by 23.1 per cent from KD 632.0 million as at 31 
December 2017 to KD 486.3 million as at 30 September 2018.

The Group’s net loans and advances to customers (which comprises its loans and advances provided to 
customers, net of provisions) was KD 4,155.2 million as at 30 September 2018, compared to KD 4,407.6 
million as at 31 December 2017, representing a decrease of 5.7 per cent.

As at 30 September 2018, the total liabilities of the Group stood at KD 5,941.7 million compared to 
KD 6,547.6 million as at 31 December 2017, representing a decrease of 9.3 per cent. The decrease was 
primarily a result of a 7.5 per cent decrease in deposits from customers and 33.7 per cent decrease in 
amounts due to banks.

The Group’s deposits from customers were KD 3,840.9 million, or 64.6 per cent of its total liabilities, as at 30 
September 2018, compared to KD 4,154.4 million, or 63.4 per cent of its total liabilities, as at 31 December 2017.
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Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income

Years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016

The Group’s net interest income increased by 9.7 per cent from KD 155.7 million for the year ended 
31 December 2016 to KD 170.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. This increase was 
principally the result of an 8.0 per cent increase in interest income from KD 312.2 million for the year ended 
31 December 2016 to KD 337.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. Interest expense also 
increased from KD 156.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to KD 166.1 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2017, representing an increase of 6.2 per cent. The Group’s net fee and commission 
income increased by 4.1 per cent from KD 35.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to KD 36.6 
million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Group’s operating income increased by 2.0 per cent from KD 234.7 million for the year ended 
31 December 2016 to KD 239.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. In addition, operating profit 
before provisions increased by 7.7 per cent from KD 120.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 
to KD 130.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. Profit before taxation and board of directors’ 
remuneration increased by 4.9 per cent from KD 76.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to KD 
79.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. Overall profit for the year increased by 3.5 per cent from 
KD 66.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to KD 69.1 million for the year ended 31 December 
2017. This increase was primarily due to the increase in net interest income discussed above.

The Group recorded a total comprehensive income of KD 37.7 million for the year ended 31 December 
2017 compared to a total comprehensive income of KD 56.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, 
representing a decrease of 33.6 per cent The decrease was primarily due to a net fair value loss of KD 11.4 
million for the year ended 31 December 2017 (compared to a gain of KD 2.7 million for the year ended 
31 December 2016) and a net loss on hedge of a net investment of KD 2.7 million for the year ended 
31 December 2017 (compared to a net gain of KD 8.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016). 

Nine months ended 30 September 2018 and nine months ended 30 September 2017

The Group’s operating income increased by 15.2 per cent from KD 179.3 million for the nine months ended 
30 September 2017 to KD 206.6 million for the nine months ended 30 September 2018, while operating 
profit before credit loss expense and provisions increased by 23.5 per cent from KD 101.8 million for the 
nine months ended 30 September 2017 to KD 125.7 million for the nine months ended 30 September 
2018.

The principal reasons for the increase in operating income and operating profit before credit loss expense 
and provisions was the increase in net interest income, which increased by 10.0 per cent from KD 126.0 
million for the nine months ended 30 September 2017 to KD 138.7 million for the nine months ended 30 
September 2018. This increase was principally a result of the increase in the CBK discount rate by 25 basis 
points on 15 March 2017 and 22 March 2018, as well as a 367.7 per cent increase in dividend income from 
KD 2.4 million for the nine months ended 30 September 2017 to KD 11.3 million for the nine months ended 
30 September 2018. 

The Group’s net fees and commission income decreased by 13.3 per cent from KD 28.3 million for the nine 
months ended 30 September 2017 to KD 24.5 million for the nine months ended 30 September 2018. This 
decrease was principally a result of a decline in fee income in AGB and BoB.

The Group’s provision for credit losses increased by 65.4 per cent from KD 27.3 million for the nine months 
ended 30 September 2017 to KD 45.2 million for the nine months ended 30 September 2018. Provision 
for other financial assets was a KD 8.6 million charge for the nine months ended 30 September 2017 
compared to a KD 0.9 million provision reversal for the nine months ended 30 September 2018. 
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This decrease is primarily related to an impairment charge on AFS investment amounting to KD 8.5 million 
for the nine months ended 30 September 2017.

The Group continued to achieve low levels of non-performing loans and advances for the nine months 
ended 30 September 2018. Total non-performing loans and advances as at 30 September 2018 amounted 
to KD 132.2 million (which represented 2.9 per cent of total cash exposure8 for that period).

The following table sets out the Bank’s consolidated operating income by country for the financial years 
ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 and nine months ended 30 September 2017 and 30 
September 2018. 

Nine months ended 30 
September (Unaudited) Year ended 31 December

2018 2017 2017 2016

(KD million) (KD million)

Operating Income

Kuwait.................................................................................................  121.1   101.8 134.4 134.4

Turkey.................................................................................................  43.9 35.1 47.7 49.9

Algeria................................................................................................  31.2 26.2 37.0 28.8

Iraq.......................................................................................................  6.9 12.8 16.3 17.3

Tunisia.................................................................................................  5.2 4.5 5.7 4.7

Consolidation adjustments.........................................................  (1.7) (1.0) (1.5) (0.4)

Total................................................................................  206.6 179.3 239.4 234.7

 8 Cash exposure includes cash credit facilities to customers, OFIs and banks (excluding placements).
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Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets out certain key ratios calculated with results derived from the Annual Financial 
Statements. These ratios are not calculated on the basis of IFRS and are not IFRS measures of financial 
performance.

Nine months ended 30 September 
(Unaudited) Year ended 31 December

2018 2017 2017 2016

(% unless otherwise stated)

Key Measures of Profitability

Return on Average9 Assets (ROAA)10....................................... 1.3 1.0 0.9 1.0

Return on Average9 Equity (ROAE)11....................................... 13.8 10.8 9.9 10.6

Net interest margin12..................................................................... 2.7 2.5 2.4 2.3

Net interest spread13...................................................................... 2.4 2.2 2.2 2.0

Efficiency

Cost to income14............................................................................. 39.2 43.3 45.6 48.5

Total operating expenses15 to average total assets........... 1.5 1.4 1.5 1.6

Asset Quality

Non-performing loans16 to cash exposure17......................... 2.9 3.1 2.7 4.1

Risk provision18 to non-performing loans16.......................... 169.9 151.5 154.8 120.0

Non-performing loans16 net of collateral to cash 
exposure............................................................................................ 0.8 1.1 0.6 1.1

Non-performing assets to total exposure17.......................... 2.4 2.6 2.3 3.4

Risk provision18 to non-performing assets16......................... 174.4 155.5 159.3 124.2

Non-performing assets16 net of collateral to total 
exposure17......................................................................................... 0.7 1.0 0.6 1.0

Cost of credit ratio19...................................................................... 1.4 0.8 0.9 0.9

Funding / Liquidity / Capitalization

Loans to customer deposits....................................................... 108.2 112.0 106.1 113.0

Loans to total assets..................................................................... 60.8 63.0 59.4 58.1

Total assets to total equity20....................................................... 9.8 10.4 11.0 11.2

Total liabilities to total equity20................................................. 8.5 9.1 9.7 9.9

Capital Adequacy Ratio21............................................................ 16.5 16.4 16.2 16.7

Tier 1 Capital Ratio........................................................................ 13.5 13.6 13.5 13.9

Liquidity ratio22............................................................................... 25.5 24.3 27.8 30.0

Average numbers for 31 December are computed as average of the fiscal year end and corresponding preceding fiscal year end while average numbers for interim periods are computed 
as average of the period ended September and the last fiscal year end.
Calculated as profit for the period/year attributable to the equity holders of the Bank divided by average total assets (annualised for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2018 and 
30 September 2017).
Calculated as profit for the period/year attributable to the equity holders of the Bank divided by average equity attributable to the equity holders of the Bank (annualised for the nine-
month period ended 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017).
Calculated as net interest income divided by average interest earning assets (annualised for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017). Interest earning 
assets comprise all assets excluding other assets, property and equipment, and intangible assets. The average for these assets is calculated as provided in Footnote 9 above.
Calculated as yield (being the product of interest income / average interest earning assets) less cost of funds (being the product of interest expenses / average interest-bearing liabilities). 
The interest income and interest expense is annualised for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017. Interest bearing liabilities comprise due to banks, 
due to other financial institutions, deposits from customers and other borrowed funds. The average for these liabilities is calculated as provided in Footnote 9 above.
Calculated as total operating expenses (being the sum of staff expenses and other expenses) divided by total gross operating income.
Sum of staff expenses and other expenses.
Non-performing loans constitute a subset of non-performing assets and includes exposures to OFIs / banks. In addition to loans and advances to customers and exposures to OFIs / banks, 
non-performing assets include non-cash exposures.
Cash exposure includes cash credit facilities to customers, OFIs and banks (excluding placements). Total exposure includes cash and non-cash credit facilities to customers, OFIs and banks 
(excluding placements)
Risk provision against non-performing loans is a sub-set of risk provision against non-performing assets. In addition to total provisions, i.e. sum of general and specific provisions, available 
against loans and advances to customers and exposure to OFIs/banks, risk provision against non-performing assets also includes provisions available against non-cash exposure.
Calculated as provision for loans and advances or provision for credit losses divided by gross loans and advances to customers.
Total equity represents total equity attributable to the equity holders of the Bank.
Calculated in accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank of Kuwait’s Basel III regulations.
Calculated as the sum of cash and cash equivalents, treasury bills and bonds with CBK and others and amounts due from banks and other financial institutions divided by total assets.
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Further information

For further detail on the financial information of the Group, please see: (i) the notes to the unaudited 
interim condensed consolidated financial information for the nine months ended 30 September 2018 (2018 
Interim Financial Statements), and (ii) the notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2017 (Annual Financial Statements), each of which are set out in this Prospectus.
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Financial Review

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the information set out in section 
“Selected Financial Information” above and the Financial Statements.

The discussion of the Group’s financial condition and results of operations is based upon the Financial 
Statements which have been prepared in accordance with the IFRS as adopted for use by the State of 
Kuwait. These regulations require the adoption of all IFRS requirements except for the International 
Accounting Standard (IAS) 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement requirement for 
collective provision on credit facilities, which has been replaced by the CBK’s requirement for a minimum 
general provision. In accordance with the CBK’s requirements, the Bank makes provision for a minimum 
general provision on all credit facilities that are not impaired, taking into account certain categories of 
collateral. Therefore, the Bank’s policy for the calculation of collective provision on credit facilities complies 
in all material respects with the relevant requirements of the CBK. 

The Group has adopted IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, effective 1 January 2018, except for the 
requirement of expected credit losses on credit facilities, for which the Group continues to follow the 
CBK’s requirement for credit losses. The Group has also adopted IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers from 1 January 2018. The accounting policies used in the preparation of the 2018 Interim 
Financial Statements are consistent with those used in the Annual Financial Statements, except as noted in this 
paragraph. For further information see note 3 of the 2018 Interim Financial Statements. This discussion contains 
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. The Group’s actual result could differ 
materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including 
those discussed below and elsewhere in this Prospectus, particularly under the heading “Risk Factors”. 

LIQUIDITY

The Issuer’s liquidity needs arise primarily from making loans and advances to customers, payment of 
expenses and dividends, and investments in associates. To date, the Issuer’s liquidity needs have been 
funded largely through deposits, syndicated loans, interbank loans and interest received on loans and 
advances to customers, and through debt issuances.

During 2008-2009, government entities injected funds into the banking system to support the economy 
(bank deposits were also guaranteed) and stability was maintained throughout. Additionally, the Issuer 
significantly altered the allocation of liquid assets in 2009 to improve the return on assets on its balance 
sheet by moving a higher percentage of liquid assets from placements in the interbank market, which 
became inactive, to treasury bills and bonds.

In 2010, Burgan Finance No. 1 (Jersey) Limited (incorporated with limited liability under the laws of Jersey), 
a special purpose entity established by the Bank, issued U.S.$400 million 7.875 per cent. Subordinated 
Notes due 2020. The notes met the then-applicable requirements to be treated as Tier 2 eligible capital 
under Basel II regulations issued by the CBK.

In 2012, the Issuer issued subordinated bonds in the amount of KD 100 million, which met the 
requirements to be treated as Tier 2 eligible capital under Basel II regulations issued by the CBK. In 2014, 
the Issuer through, Burgan Tier 1 Financing Limited (a newly incorporated special purpose company with 
limited liability in the Dubai International Financial Centre) issued U.S.$500 million Perpetual Tier I Capital 
Securities, which met the eligibility requirements for additional Tier 1 Capital under the Basel III regulations.

In March 2016, the Issuer issued Subordinated Bonds in the amount of KD 100 million, which met the 
requirements to be treated as Tier 2 eligible capital under Basel III regulations issued by the CBK. The Issuer 
is classified as a Domestic Systemically Important Bank (“D-SIB”). 

Furthermore, in September 2016, the Issuer issued U.S.$500 million Senior Unsecured Bonds due in 2021.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

The Issuer offers products such as guarantees, which do not appear on its balance sheet (but which are 
shown in Note 20 to the 2017 Annual Financial Statements). In order to comply with CBK liquidity ratios, 
the Issuer must maintain certain cash balances against such off-balance sheet commitments.

FS - 5757



Previous Issuances by the Bank

The Bank has issued various securities in the past. All previous securities issuances of the Bank are listed 
below.

1) Number and details of securities issuances by the Issuer not classified as capital security

Issue Date Value (million) Tenor (Yrs.) Basis Coupon
(Per cent)

Interest Payment 
Frequency

11-Jun-01 KD30.0 5 Fixed 6.750 Semi-annual

17-Apr-02 KD30.0 5 Fixed 5.875 Semi-annual

27-Sep-10(a) USD400(b) 10(c) Fixed 7.875 Semi-annual

27-Dec-12(a)
Fixed KD41.1(d)

10(c)
Fixed 5.650(e)

Semi-annual
Floating KD58.9(d) Floating CBK DR +390bps(e)(f )

14- Sept-16 USD500 5 Fixed 3.125 Semi-annual

(a) The bonds issued in 2010 and 2012 were eligible as capital instruments at the time of issuance. With the advent of Basel III 
in 2014, these bonds seized to qualify as capital securities.

(b) The bonds have been fully redeemed during the fourth quarter (Q4) of 2015. 
(c) Non-callable for the first five year (10NC5).
(d) The bonds have been fully recalled as of 24 April 2018.
(e) Step up of 25 bps after the fifth anniversary of the issuance date (if not called by the Issuer).
(f ) Floating-rate tranche capped at 6.65% for the first five years and 6.90% for the next five years.

2) Number and details of securities issuances guaranteed by the Issuer classified as Additional Tier 
1 Capital Security

Issue Date Value (million) Tenor (Yrs.) Basis Coupon
(Per cent)

Interest Payment 
Frequency

30-Sep-14 USD500 Perpetual Fixed 7.250(a) Semi-annual

(a) Pricing will reset every five years.

3) Number and details of securities issuances by the Issuer classified as Additional Tier 2 Capital 
Security 

Issue Date Value (million) Tenor (Yrs.) Basis Coupon
(Per cent)

Interest Payment 
Frequency

9-Mar-16
Fixed KD30.1

10(a)
Fixed 6.000

Semi-annual
Floating KD69.9 Floating CBK DR + 395bps(b)

(a) Non-callable for the first five year (10NC5).
(b) Floating-rate tranche capped at 7.00% up to the reset date, and following the reset date, the effective interest rate will be 

capped at the sum of the interest rate applicable at that time to the fixed-rate bond and 1.00%. The reset date is defined as 
the fifth anniversary from the issuance date.
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4) Number and details of Share Capital Issuances since Incorporation

Issue Date Issue type Total Number of shares Value (KD) Increase (%) Type of shares

1980 New shares issuance 3,000,000 12,000,000 30.0 Ordinary shares

1982 New shares issuance 4,200,000 16,800,000 30.0 Ordinary shares

1984 New shares issuance 24,068,406 96,273,624 100.0 Ordinary shares

27-Apr-10 Rights Issue 360,000,000 100,800,000 34.6 Ordinary shares

20-Apr-14 Bonus Shares 113,555,088 11,355,509 7.0 Ordinary shares

30-Nov-14 Rights Issue 216,000,000 102,600,000 12.4 Ordinary shares

15-Apr-15 Bonus Shares 97,588,531 9,758,853 5.0 Ordinary shares

30-Apr-17 Bonus Shares 102,467,957 10,246,796 5.0 Ordinary shares

25-Apr-18 Bonus Shares 107,591,355 10,759,136 5.0 Ordinary shares

10-Oct-18 Rights Issue 240,581,530 62,551,198 10.6 Ordinary shares

Note: The above table excludes the capital increases resulting from distribution of bonus shares prior to the year ended 31 
December 2014.
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Risk Factors

Any investment in the Bonds is subject to certain risks. Before purchasing Bonds, prospective investors should 
carefully consider the risks described below, which are qualified in their entirety by reference to, and must be 
read in conjunction with, all the other information contained in this Prospectus.  The risks and uncertainties 
described in this Prospectus may not be the only risks that the Issuer faces. If any of the following risks, or 
any other risks and uncertainties that the Issuer has not yet identified or that it currently considers not to be 
material, actually occur or become material risks, the Issuer’s business, prospects, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows, and consequently, the price of the Bonds could be materially and adversely affected. 
In all these cases, prospective investors could lose all or part of their original investment in the Bonds.

FACTORS THAT MAY HAVE A MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT ON THE ISSUER’S BUSINESS, RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL CONDITION AND PROSPECTS THAT IN TURN MAY AFFECT THE ISSUER’S 
ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE BONDS 

Risks relating to the Issuer

Economic, political and related considerations

The Issuer’s operations are primarily focused on the MENA region and Turkey with the Issuer having 
banking subsidiaries in Algeria, Iraq, Tunisia and Turkey. The Issuer’s operations are thus exposed to 
geo-political risks associated with Iraq, the MENA region and Turkey which could adversely affect its 
performance. The demand for services provided by the Issuer and its subsidiaries is particularly susceptible 
to adverse changes in economic and market conditions in the relatively unstable MENA region and Turkey.

Kuwait’s economy remains vulnerable to both external and internal shocks, including volatility in oil 
prices, political, economic and related developments in Kuwait, the other GCC countries (i.e. Bahrain, Oman, 
Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates) and the MENA region, but also resulting from political 
and economic instability in surrounding countries such as Iran and Iraq. These risks include, but are not 
limited to, external acts of warfare, civil clashes, terrorist activity, natural disasters, and regulatory, taxation 
and legal structure changes. 

On 5 June 2017, a group of governments in the MENA region including the government of Saudi Arabia, 
the UAE, Bahrain, Egypt, Libya, and Yemen, moved to cut diplomatic ties as well as trade and transport links 
with Qatar. The measures to do this included a blockade of land, sea, and air access to, and the expulsion of 
Qatari officials, residents, and visitors from, those countries. Kuwait has maintained ties with Qatar and at 
the date of this Prospectus is mediating between Qatar and the relevant governments. The impact of this 
dispute is unknown and could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer and its subsidiaries’ business 
and financial condition, results of operations or prospects and the market price of the Bonds.

The Kuwaiti economy is dependent on the oil and gas sector and its related industries, as well as their prices 
and output levels. The oil sector accounted for an estimated 34.6 per cent of total revenues for the fiscal 
year ended 31 March 2018 (source: IMF Article IV Consultation 2017). Any change in oil prices significantly 
affects macroeconomic and other aspects of the Kuwaiti economy including, but not limited to, gross 
domestic product (GDP), government revenues and foreign trade. Since June 2014, international 
crude oil prices have fallen dramatically, with the monthly average OPEC Reference Basket price per 
barrel falling from U.S.$107.90 in June 2014 to a low of U.S.$26.50 in January 2016, although prices have 
subsequently recovered slowly and the monthly average price of the OPEC reference basket was 
U.S.$71.27 in November 2018. This sustained period of low crude oil prices has negatively affected Kuwait’s 
economy. For example, the Kuwaiti government (the  Government) has reduced, and may continue to reduce, 
government expenditure in light of the budgetary pressures caused by low oil prices. The Government has 
undertaken a process of rationalisation of its subsidy framework, fully removing kerosene and diesel subsidies 
in January 2015, introducing new electricity and water tariff structures to reduce the related subsidies and 
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partially removing gasoline subsidies in September 2016. In addition, ancillary industrial activities related 
to oil and gas exploration and production are also negatively affected by low oil prices. Furthermore, sectors 
that are dependent on government consumption may be adversely affected by lower levels of economic 
activity that may result from lower government revenue from oil and gas production. Additionally, although 
the CBK has the ability to adjust the components of the undisclosed weighted basket of international 
currencies of Kuwait’s major trade and financial partner countries (the Kuwaiti Dinar Basket) against 
which the KD is pegged, there can be no assurance that the CBK will maintain the Kuwaiti Dinar Basket 
at its current level, which could lead to higher inflation and negatively affect confidence in the Kuwaiti 
economy.

The business and results of operations of the Issuer and its subsidiaries and the market price of the 
Bonds are influenced by economic and market conditions in Kuwait and the jurisdictions in which the 
Issuer’s subsidiaries are located and, to a varying degree, economic and market conditions in the global 
markets generally. Developments in the subsidiaries operating environments could have a material adverse 
effect on the Issuer and its subsidiaries’ business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 
Additionally, global financial crises and volatility in the emerging markets in the past have adversely 
affected market prices in the world’s securities markets for companies that operate in developing 
economies. Even if the Kuwaiti economy and/or the economies of the jurisdictions in which the Issuer’s 
subsidiaries are located remain relatively stable, financial turmoil in the emerging markets and globally 
could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer and its subsidiaries’ business, financial condition, results 
of operations or prospects and the market price of the Bonds.

The Issuer may be unable to effectively control the level of, or successfully restructure, its non-performing 
loans with debtors in financial distress. Additionally, if the allowances for loan impairment are 
insufficient to cover loan losses, the Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations could be 
adversely affected

The Issuer’s asset quality remained stable in the first nine months of 2018 compared to 2017, however, it 
has improved in comparison to 2016. Non-performing assets (net of collaterals) stood at 0.7 per cent of 
total exposure as at 30 September 2018 compared to 0.6 per cent and 1.0 per cent of total exposure, as 
at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, respectively. Any increase or decrease in non-performing 
assets may not be a continuing trend.

The Issuer’s coverage ratio (net of collaterals) marginally declined to 594.8 per cent as at 30 September 
2018 compared to 599.7 per cent as at 31 December 2017, which was, in turn, an increase compared to 
407.4 per cent as at 31 December 2016. There can be no assurance that the coverage ratio will increase in 
the future and affect the financial results of the Issuer for 2018. A decrease in the coverage ratio may have 
a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer’s impaired loans amounted to 2.9 per cent of cash exposure 
before provision for loan impairment. As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 impaired loans 
amounted to 2.7 per cent and 4.1 per cent of the Issuer’s cash exposure before provision for loan impairment, 
respectively. 

Security interests or loan guarantees provided in favour of the Issuer may not be sufficient to cover any 
losses and may not be legally enforceable

The practice of pledging assets (such as share portfolios and real estate assets) to obtain a bank loan is 
subject to certain limitations and administrative restrictions under Kuwaiti law. In particular, many types 
of such security may not be enforced without a court order. As a result, security over certain pledged 
assets may not be enforced in Kuwaiti courts. Accordingly, the Issuer may have difficulty foreclosing on 
collateral (including any real estate collateral) or enforcing guarantees or other third-party credit support 
arrangements when debtors default on their loans.
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In addition, even if such security interests are enforceable in Kuwaiti courts, the time and costs 
associated with enforcing security interests in Kuwait may make it uneconomic for the Issuer to pursue such 
proceedings, adversely affecting the Issuer’s ability to recover its loan losses.

The Issuer typically requires additional collateral in the form of cash and/or other assets in situations where 
the Issuer may not be able to exercise rights over pledged shares or where it enters into guarantees or 
other third-party credit support arrangements for loans made to individuals and corporations. Any decline 
in the value or liquidity of such collateral may prevent the Issuer from foreclosing on such collateral for 
its full value or at all in the event that a borrower becomes insolvent and enters bankruptcy, and could 
thereby adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to recover the full amounts advanced to the borrower.

The Issuer may experience a higher level of customer and counterparty defaults arising from adverse 
changes in credit and recoverability that are inherent in the Issuer’s business

Risks arising from a deterioration in the credit quality and the recoverability of amounts due from 
borrowers and counterparties are inherent in banking businesses. While the Issuer has detailed policies 
to deal with overdue loans, there can be no assurance that these policies will result in the full or partial 
recovery of its overdue loans. Although historically, overdue loans in the Kuwaiti banking sector have 
been low in comparison to other jurisdictions, the level of impaired loans in Kuwait as a percentage of all 
loans have increased significantly due to the repercussions of the global financial crisis in general and the 
liquidity crisis experienced by a number of companies in Kuwait in particular. As at 30 September 2018, 
the Issuer’s non-performing loans (net of collateral) amounted to 0.8 per cent of cash exposure. As at 31 
December 2017 and 31 December 2016 non-performing loans (net of collateral) amounted to 0.6 per cent 
and 1.1 per cent of the Issuer’s cash exposure, respectively. A substantial increase in loan losses would have 
a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

Credit risks could also arise from a deterioration in the credit quality of specific borrowers and counterparties 
of the Issuer or from adverse changes in global and regional economic conditions, or adverse changes 
which arise from systemic risks in the financial systems, which could affect the recovery and value of the 
Issuer’s assets and require an increase in the Issuer’s provisions.

Lending base concentration risk

A substantial proportion of the Issuer’s total loan portfolio constitutes loan exposures to related parties. 
As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer’s 10 largest loans accounted for 23.8 per cent of its gross loans and 
advances to non-bank customers. Of these loans, 86.9 per cent (representing 20.7 per cent of gross loans 
and advances to non-bank customers) were made to related parties. In addition, the Issuer has a high 
concentration of loans provided within Kuwait and has substantial exposure to the real estate sector, mainly in 
Kuwait, which accounted for 20.3 per cent of total loans as at 31 December 2017 and 20.9 per cent of total loans 
as at 31 December 2016.

The Issuer has exposure to local investment companies of 1.2 per cent of “total loans plus due from 
other financial institutions” as at 30 September 2018, 1.3 per cent of “total loans plus due from other 
financial institutions” as at 31 December 2017 and 1.8 per cent of “total loans plus due from other financial 
institutions” as at 31 December 2016.

As at 31 December 2017, retail loans made up 10.0 per cent and corporate loans made up 90.0 per cent of the 
Issuer’s aggregate loan portfolio, 64.0 per cent of which comprises loans issued to individuals or corporates in 
Kuwait.

If Kuwait experiences adverse economic or geopolitical conditions generally or any crisis in the real estate sector 
more specifically, then this may affect the repayment ability of a large proportion of the Issuer’s borrowers.
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Deposit base concentration risk

As at 31 December 2017, the Issuer received 78.3 per cent (KD 5,129.6 million) of its total funding from 
deposits (retail, corporate, government and non-bank financial institutions). As at 30 September 2018, 
the Issuer’s 10 largest deposits accounted for 35.7 per cent of these deposits with the top depositor 
representing 15.0 per cent.

The Issuer’s funding includes institutional, government and quasi-governmental entities’ deposits in 
Kuwait which are contracted on a commercial basis. As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer’s total 
funding from deposits by government and quasi-governmental entities accounted for 9.0 per cent of its total 
deposits in Kuwait (or 6.4 per cent of total Group deposits). These funds have been a stable source of 
funding to the Kuwaiti banking sector for many years but there can be no assurance that deposits from 
government and quasi-governmental entities will be available at the current level in the future. The loss 
of a significant source of funding could increase the Issuer’s cost of funding by requiring it to seek funding 
from other expensive sources.

As at the date of this Prospectus, the CBK guarantees all banks’ retail and corporate customer deposits in 
Kuwait.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Issuer will be unable to meet its obligations, including funding 
commitments, as they fall due. This could arise from, amongst other factors, the inability of the Issuer to 
anticipate and provide for an unforeseen decrease or changes in funding sources.

In common with other banks in Kuwait, the MENA region and Turkey, the Issuer has historically relied 
substantially on customer deposits to meet most of its funding needs. Such deposits are subject to 
fluctuation due to certain factors outside the Issuer’s control, such as any possible loss of confidence and 
competitive pressures, which could result in a significant outflow of deposits within a short period of time. 
If such outflows of deposits were to occur, it could cause liquidity difficulties for the Issuer, which in turn 
could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of operations or 
prospects.

The Issuer’s liquidity may also be adversely affected by a number of factors, including significant 
unforeseen changes in interest rates, ratings downgrades, maturity mismatches between the Issuer’s 
funding and assets, higher than anticipated losses on investments and disruptions in the financial markets 
generally which in turn may result in the Issuer not being able to access the markets from which it raises 
funds at favourable rates.

Changes in interest rate levels may affect the Issuer’s net interest margins and borrowing costs, and the 
value of assets sensitive to interest rates and spread changes may be adversely affected

The Issuer is exposed to unexpected fluctuations in market interest rates. An increase in interest rates 
generally may decrease the value of the Issuer’s fixed rate loans and raise the Issuer’s funding costs. 
Such an increase could also generally decrease the value of fixed rate debt securities in the Issuer’s 
securities portfolio. Volatility in interest rates may result in a pricing gap between the Issuer’s interest-rate 
sensitive assets and its liabilities. As a result, the Issuer may incur additional costs in raising and maintaining 
capital. Interest rates react to many factors beyond the Issuer’s control, including, for example, the policies of 
central banks, political factors and domestic and international economic conditions. 

Deterioration in the market value of the Issuer’s securities portfolio may affect the values of the 
Issuer’s investment and trading portfolios. The Issuer’s income from securities operations depends on 
numerous factors beyond its control, such as overall market trading activity, interest rate levels, 
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fluctuations in currency exchange rates and general market volatility. The Issuer also engages, 
to a limited extent,in foreign currency transactions and maintains open currency positions in relation 
to a number of currencies, which give rise to currency risks.

The Issuer has significant credit-related contingent liabilities and commitments that may lead to 
potential losses

As part of its normal banking business, the Issuer issues guarantees, letters of credit and acceptances which 
are accounted for off the Issuer’s balance sheet until such time as they are actually funded or cancelled. In 
addition, the Issuer makes irrevocable commitments to advance credit to its customers. Although these 
commitments are contingent, they nonetheless subject the Issuer to both credit and liquidity risks. As 
at 30 September 2018, the Issuer had KD 1,730.1 million in such contingent liabilities and commitments 
outstanding, equal to 29.4 per cent of its combined customer loan portfolio and contingent liabilities.

Although the Issuer anticipates that only a portion of its obligations in respect to the issued guarantees, 
letters of credit and acceptances will be triggered and funds itself accordingly, the Issuer may need to 
make payments in respect of a greater portion of such commitments, particularly in cases where there 
has been a general deterioration in market conditions. This would result in the Issuer needing to obtain 
additional funding, potentially at relatively short notice, which could have an adverse effect on its financial 
condition and results of operations.

The Issuer is exposed to risk of loss as a result of employee misrepresentation, misconduct and 
improper practice

The Issuer’s employees could engage in misrepresentation, misconduct or improper practice that could 
expose the Issuer to direct and indirect financial loss and damage to its reputation. Such practices may 
include embezzling clients’ funds, engaging in corrupt or illegal practices to originate further business, 
intentionally or inadvertently releasing confidential information about clients or failing to follow internal 
procedures. It is not always possible to detect or deter employee misconduct, and the precautions the 
Issuer takes to detect and prevent misconduct may not be effective in all cases. There can be no assurance 
that measures undertaken to combat employee misconduct will be successful. Such actions by employees 
could expose the Issuer to financial losses resulting from the need to reimburse clients, co-investors or 
other business partners who suffered loss or as a result of fines or other regulatory sanctions and could 
damage the Issuer’s reputation.

The Issuer is exposed to reputational risks related to its operations and industry

All financial institutions depend on the trust and confidence of their customers to succeed in their 
business. The Issuer is exposed to the risk that litigation, misconduct, operational failures, negative 
publicity and press speculation, whether or not valid, will harm its reputation. The Issuer’s reputation may 
also be adversely affected by the conduct of third parties over whom it has no control, including entities 
to which it lends money or in which it has invested. For example, if one of the Issuer’s borrowers becomes 
associated with financial scandals or widely publicised improper behaviour, the Issuer’s own reputation 
may be affected.

In common with other banks, the Issuer is also exposed to adverse publicity relating to the financial 
services industry as a whole. Financial scandals unrelated to the Issuer or questionable ethical conduct by 
a competitor may taint the reputation of the industry and affect the perception of investors, public opinion 
and the attitude of regulators. Any damage to the Issuer’s reputation could cause existing customers to 
withdraw their business and lead potential customers to be reluctant to do business with the Issuer. 
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The Issuer could be adversely affected by the soundness or the perceived soundness of other financial 
institutions and counterparties

Against the backdrop of constraints on liquidity and the high cost of funds in the interbank lending 
market, and given the high level of interdependence between financial institutions that became most 
evident following the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers in 2008, the Issuer is subject to the risk of 
deterioration in the commercial and financial soundness, or perceived soundness, of other financial institutions. 
Within the financial services industry, the default of any one institution could lead to significant losses, and 
potentially defaults, by other institutions. As was experienced in 2008 and 2009, concerns about, or a 
default by, one institution could also lead to significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other 
institutions, because the commercial and financial soundness of many financial institutions is closely 
related as a result of their credit, trading, clearing or other relationships. Even the perceived lack of 
creditworthiness of, or questions about, a counterparty may lead to market-wide liquidity problems and 
losses or defaults by the Issuer or other institutions. This risk, often referred to as “systemic risk”, may also 
adversely affect other financial intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, clearing houses, securities firms 
and exchanges, with whom the Issuer interacts on a daily basis. 

The Issuer’s risk management and internal controls may leave it exposed to unidentified or unantici-
pated risks, which could result in material losses

In the course of its business activities, the Issuer is exposed to a variety of risks, the most significant of 
which are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. Investors should note that any failure 
to adequately control these risks could result in material adverse effects on the Issuer’s business, results of 
operations, financial condition and prospects, as well as its general reputation in the market.

The Issuer’s risk management techniques may not be fully effective or consistently implemented in 
mitigating its exposure in all market environments or against all types of risk, including risks that are 
unidentified or unanticipated. Some of the Issuer’s methods of managing risk are based upon its use 
of historical market behaviour. These methods may not always predict future risk exposures, which 
could be significantly greater than such historical measures indicate. Other risk management practices, 
including “know your client” practices, depend upon the evaluation of information regarding the markets 
in which the Issuer operates, its clients or other matters that are publicly available or information otherwise 
accessible to the Issuer. As such practices are less developed in the GCC than they are in other markets and 
may not have been consistently and thoroughly implemented in the past, this information may not be 
accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated in all cases.

There can be no assurance that the Issuer’s risk management and internal control policies and procedures 
will adequately control, or protect the Issuer against, all credit, liquidity, market and other risks. In addition, 
certain risks could be greater than the Issuer’s empirical data would otherwise indicate. The Issuer also 
cannot give assurance that all of its staff have adhered or will adhere to its risk policies and procedures.

The Issuer is susceptible to, amongst other things, failure of internal processes or systems, unauthorised 
transactions by employees and operational errors, including clerical or record-keeping errors, or errors 
resulting from faulty computer or telecommunications systems, and fraud by employees or outsiders. 
The Issuer’s risk management and internal control capabilities are also limited by the information tools 
and technologies available to it. Any material deficiency in the Issuer’s risk management or other internal 
control policies or procedures may expose it to significant credit, liquidity, market or operational risk, 
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results of operations, financial 
condition and prospects.
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The Issuer’s business may be adversely affected if there is any disturbance to its operational systems or 
a loss of business continuity

The Issuer operates in businesses that are highly dependent on information systems and technologies 
and relies heavily on its financial, accounting and other data processing systems. In addition, the Issuer 
is increasingly offering its products and services to customers through remote access banking, including 
online banking and automated teller machines (ATMs).

If any of these systems do not operate properly or are disabled, or become the target of fraudulent activity, 
the Issuer could suffer financial loss, a disruption of its business, liability to clients, regulatory intervention 
and reputational damage.

In addition, the Issuer’s current information systems and technologies may not continue to be able to 
accommodate the Issuer’s growth unless the Issuer continues to invest in upgrading its operational 
systems. Such a failure to accommodate growth, or an increase in costs related to such information 
systems, would have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business. The cost of improving or 
upgrading such systems and technologies may be substantial and the cost of maintaining such systems 
is likely to increase from its current level. The Issuer’s business operations and business processes are 
vulnerable to damage or interruption from fires, floods, extreme weather, power loss, bomb threats, 
explosions or other forms of terrorist activity, and other natural and man-made disasters or other extreme 
events. These systems may also be subject to criminal damage, vandalism, theft and similar wrongdoing. 

Further, the Issuer relies on third-party service providers for certain aspects of its business including 
but not limited to ACI Worldwide, which provides applications and software for electronic payment 
solutions, Reuters, Bloomberg, SWIFT and Microsoft. Any interruption or deterioration in the performance 
of these third parties or failures of their information systems and technology could impair the quality of the 
Issuer’s operations and could impact its reputation. If any of the foregoing were to occur, it could materially 
adversely affect the Issuer’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Issuer’s business is dependent on its information and technology systems which are subject to 
potential cyber-attacks 

In common with other financial institutions based in the GCC and elsewhere in the world, the threat to 
the security of the Issuer’s information and customer data from cyber-attacks is real and continues to 
grow at pace. Activists, rogue states and cyber criminals are among those targeting computer systems 
around the world. Risks to technology and cyber-security change rapidly and require continued focus and 
investment. Given the increasing sophistication and scope of potential cyber-attacks, it is possible that future 
attacks may lead to significant breaches of security. Failure to adequately manage cyber-security risk and 
continually review and update current processes in response to new threats could disrupt its business, 
result in the disclosure of confidential information, create significant financial and/or legal exposure and 
damage the Issuer’s reputation and/or brands.

Regulatory risks

The Issuer is a highly regulated entity and changes to applicable laws or regulations, the interpretation 
or enforcement of such laws or regulations or the failure to comply with such laws or regulations or a 
change in the capital treatment of the Issuer’s instruments could have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s 
business

Capital adequacy and leverage regulations

The Basel Committee on Banking Regulation and Supervisory Practices (the Basel Committee) has 
set international standards for the capital adequacy of banks. The minimum capital adequacy ratio 
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recommended by the 1988 Basel Committee guidelines is 8.0 per cent. Pursuant to its Basel III (as defined 
in the Conditions) reforms, the Basel Committee recommended a minimum total capital adequacy ratio of 
8.0 per cent, which can rise to 10.5 per cent after factoring in the capital conservation buffer over a period 
of time (currently extending to 2019). However, the CBK, as the banking regulator in Kuwait, requires 
Kuwaiti commercial banks to maintain a capital adequacy ratio based on its instructions. Pursuant to such 
instructions, Kuwaiti commercial banks were required to maintain a capital adequacy ratio of 12.5 per 
cent of risk-weighted assets by the end of 2015, which increased to 13.0 per cent in 2016. Additionally, all 
commercial banks are required to maintain additional capital (0.5 per cent to 2.0 per cent depending on 
the bank’s size and complexity, (as determined by CBK) in the form of a domestic systemically important 
bank (D-SIB) charge.

The Issuer’s capital adequacy ratio under the CBK guidelines, based on the Basel III guidelines, was 16.5 per 
cent as at 30 September 2018, compared to 16.2 per cent as at 31 December 2017 and 16.7 per cent as at 
31 December 2016. The Issuer’s Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio was 13.5 per cent as at 30 September 2018, 
compared to 13.5 per cent and 13.9 per cent as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, respectively, 
based on Basel III guidelines. The Issuer’s CET 1 ratio under CBK guidelines, based on Basel III regulations, 
was 10.8 per cent as at 30 September 2018, compared to 10.9 per cent as at 31 December 2017 and 11.2 
per cent as at 31 December 2016, based on Basel III guidelines.

As mentioned above, the capital adequacy level maintained by the Issuer currently exceeds the minimum 
requirements set out by the CBK, based on the Basel III regulations. However, if the Issuer’s loan portfolio 
continues to grow significantly, or if the level of loan impairments increases, and the Issuer fails to generate 
a sufficient level of profits to ensure consistent growth in equity through retained earnings, or if any of the 
Issuer’s instruments lose their capital treatment as a result of a change in the guidelines on capital adequacy 
issued by the Basel Committee, or corresponding implementing measures as implemented by the CBK, the 
Issuer may need to raise new capital to maintain the minimum capital adequacy ratios set by the CBK. 
Such capital, whether in the form of debt financing or additional equity, may not be available on attractive 
terms, or at all. Investors should be aware that the capital adequacy ratio of Kuwaiti commercial banks, 
including the Issuer, will be impacted due to more stringent capital adequacy requirements following the 
implementation of the final Basel III rules by the CBK.

Any failure by the Issuer to maintain certain capital adequacy ratios could lead to the imposition of 
sanctions by the CBK, such as limitations on the Issuer’s ability to pay dividends, the issuance by the CBK of 
a directive to increase capital and/or sell or reduce assets, the imposition of fines, as well as to an increase 
of the cost of funding.  
Credit risk regulations

With effect from October 2016, Kuwaiti banks are restricted by the CBK from lending amounts in excess of 
90 per cent of qualifying deposits, irrespective of the maturity profile of the relevant qualifying deposit. As 
at 30 September 2018, the Issuer is in compliance with this regulation.

Concentration risk regulations

Subject to certain exceptions or where prior CBK approval has been obtained, the total credit liabilities of 
any single customer (including its legally or economically associated entities) to a bank may not exceed 
15 per cent of the bank’s regulatory capital. As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer is in compliance with this 
regulation. 

The aggregate of large credit concentrations (being concentrations which exceed 10 per cent of a bank’s 
regulatory capital), including any exceptions approved by the CBK, may not exceed four times a bank’s 
regulatory capital. As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer is in compliance with this regulation.

Interest rate cap regulations
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The CBK’s resolutions issued in respect of interest rate ceilings provide that the maximum limits for interest 
rates on KD-denominated loans to corporates should not exceed: (i) 2.5 per cent over the CBK’s discount 
rate in the case of commercial loans with a maturity of one year or less; and (ii) 4 per cent over the CBK’s 
discount rate in the case of commercial loans exceeding one year. As at 30 September 2018, the CBK’s 
discount rate available to banks in Kuwait was 3.0 per cent and, in the period between 4 October 2012 and 
30 September 2018, has fluctuated from between 2.0 per cent and 3.0 per cent. 

Such regulations may limit the Issuer’s ability to increase its loan portfolio or may increase the Issuer’s cost 
of doing business. Any further changes in laws or in CBK and other applicable regulations or policy and/
or the manner in which they are interpreted or enforced may affect the Issuer’s reserves, revenues and 
performance.

Foreign exchange movements

The Issuer maintains its accounts and reports its results in KD. Since May 2007, the KD has been pegged to an 
undisclosed weighted basket of international currencies. The undisclosed weighted basket of currencies is 
calculated using various national currencies, reflecting the foreign trade and financial relations of Kuwait. 
However, with the removal of the previous peg to the U.S. dollar, relative flexibility has been achieved in 
exchange rate determination.

The Issuer is exposed to the potential impact of any alteration to, or abolition of, this foreign exchange 
“peg” as well as potential volatility of the constituent basket of currencies.

The subsidiaries of the Issuer maintain their respective accounts and report their respective results in the 
local currency of the country of their incorporation. Any fluctuations in those foreign currencies against the 
KD at the time of translating the subsidiaries’ accounts in KD for the preparation of consolidated financials 
may result in the possibility that the value of foreign currency assets or liabilities of any of the subsidiaries 
will change due to changes in currency exchange rates which may affect the Issuer’s reported financial 
position expressed in KD.

Neither the government of Kuwait nor the Kuwaiti Investment Authority is under any obligation to 
invest in or otherwise engage in business with the Issuer

In response to the global economic crisis, the Government and the CBK introduced a number of 
measures to provide support to the Kuwaiti economy. In addition, the Kuwaiti Investment Authority (the 
KIA), in 2009, acquired a 16 per cent stake in Gulf Bank (K.S.C.) as part of a rescue plan after the bank 
posted heavy losses from derivatives trading in 2008. Although the Government, the CBK and the KIA have 
supported the domestic banking industry during the global economic crisis of 2008 and 2009, there can be no 
assurance that such support will be provided to the Issuer or the domestic banking industry if another 
major economic disruption were to occur in the future.

Tax changes in Kuwait may have an adverse effect on the Group

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer is not currently subject to corporation tax on its earnings within 
Kuwait and Kuwait does not impose value-added tax (VAT) on the sale of goods and services. However, 
investors should be aware that the GCC states, including Kuwait, have agreed to the implementation of 
a GCC-wide VAT framework (the Framework), to be introduced at a rate of 5 per cent VAT on goods and 
services, which was to take effect from 1 January 2018. Kuwait has recently announced however that 
it shall postpone the implementation of VAT in Kuwait until 2021. In addition, the Kuwait government 
is implementing fiscal reforms that includes introducing a proposed 10 per cent corporate income tax. 
The national legislation in Kuwait implementing the Framework has yet to be promulgated and no 
Kuwait-specific details of the regime have been released as at the date of this Prospectus. Therefore, it is 
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impossible to state with any accuracy if, and when, VAT will be introduced in Kuwait. Further, due to the 
wide discretion conferred to each GCC member state under the Framework, the terms and conditions of 
the VAT regime, if introduced, are not known as at the date of this Prospectus.

It is possible that, once VAT is introduced in Kuwait, the Issuer’s costs would increase and its future 
profitability could be negatively affected. In addition, the proposed imposition of a tax on corporate 
earnings that could be applied to the Issuer’s operations in Kuwait would reduce its profits available for 
distribution to shareholders through dividends.

A downgrade in the Issuer’s credit ratings

The Issuer’s credit ratings by the major credit rating agencies are intended to measure the probability of 
its ability to meet its debt obligations as they mature and thus are an important factor in determining the 
Issuer’s cost of borrowing funds and the amount of funding it could raise. The cost of funding of the Issuer’s 
borrowings is partly dependent on its credit ratings. As at the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer had the 
following ratings:

• Standard & Poor’s: BBB+ for long-term issuer credit, A-2 for short-term counterparty credit, with a 
stable outlook;

• Moody’s: A3 for long-term bank deposits and P-2 for short-term debt deposits, with a stable outlook; 
and

• Fitch: A+ for long-term issuer default with a stable outlook and F1 for short-term issuer default.

Further increases in non-performing loans or a deterioration in the Issuer’s balance sheet could cause a 
downgrade in the Issuer’s credit ratings or cause the Issuer to be placed on a negative ratings watch. A 
downgrade of the Issuer’s credit ratings, or being placed on a negative ratings watch, may increase its 
cost of borrowing which could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations or prospects and its relationship with creditors.

Furthermore, in determining the Issuer’s credit rating, the credit rating agencies consider anticipated 
support from the Government. If the Government’s credit rating is downgraded or is placed on a negative 
ratings watch or there is a change in anticipated support from the Government for the Issuer, this may 
have a consequential impact on the Issuer’s own credit rating.

Any potential future downgrade of the Issuer’s credit ratings (or announcement of a negative ratings 
watch) may also limit its or its subsidiaries’ ability to raise capital. Moreover, actual or anticipated changes 
in the Issuer’s credit ratings may affect the market price of the Bonds. Ratings may be subject to revision 
or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organisation and each rating should be evaluated 
independently of any other rating.

Ownership concentration and related party exposures

The Issuer’s shares are listed on Boursa Kuwait. As at 30 September 2018, KIPCO held a direct shareholding 
interest of 41.2 per cent in the Issuer and a consolidated effective interest (including shares held 
through other KIPCO group companies) of 63.8 per cent in the Issuer, Public Institute for Social Security 
held 8.1 per cent and the remainder of the shares were publicly held. On 12 July 2010, KIPCO notified 
Boursa Kuwait (then the Kuwait Stock Exchange) that the CBK had authorised UGHC Bahrain (one of KIPCO’s 
subsidiaries) to increase its shareholding in the Issuer to up to 20.0 per cent. The Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) also 
authorised this increase. As a result of the increase authorised by CBB, KIPCO reduced its direct 
shareholding in the Issuer by an approximate corresponding amount. However, this reduction in KIPCO’s 
direct shareholding in the Issuer did not have a material effect on KIPCO’s indirect shareholding in the 
Issuer given that KIPCO owns 96.4 per cent of UGHC.
While KIPCO has a controlling interest in a diversified range of financial services and media companies in 
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the GCC region, there is no assurance that KIPCO will maintain the existing levels of its shareholding in the 
Issuer, nor that KIPCO will continue its support of the Issuer through future injections of capital or deposits 
with the Issuer where necessary. Any change in the controlling interest by KIPCO may have an adverse 
effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects of the Issuer.

While the Issuer does not have any loan exposure to KIPCO or its other main shareholders, it does have 
exposures to other members of the KIPCO group and other related parties of the KIPCO group. As at 30 
September 2018, the aggregate of loan exposures to such related parties represented 20.1 per cent of 
the total loan portfolio (excluding banks and other financial institutions (OFIs) within the KIPCO group). 
Related party transactions could create conflicts of interest for the Issuer and its affiliates, which could 
potentially impact the Issuer’s business.

By virtue of its controlling interest, KIPCO has the ability to influence the Issuer’s business significantly 
through its ability to control actions which require shareholder approval and to nominate the majority 
of the board of directors of the Issuer (the Board). The interests of KIPCO may be different from those of 
the Issuer’s creditors (including the Bondholders). If the interests of shareholders, including that of the 
majority shareholder, KIPCO, conflict with the interests of the Bondholders, decisions may be made that 
advantage shareholders of the Issuer, leaving the Bondholders at a disadvantage.

Small branch network and limited retail franchise

As at 30 September 2018, the Issuer operated 29 branches and 140 ATMs in Kuwait. Among the Issuer’s four 
bank subsidiaries, BBT operated 41 branches and 41 ATMs in Turkey as at 30 September 2018, TIB operated 
3 branches and has no ATMs in Tunisia and one representative office in Libya, GBA operated 60 branches 
and 104 ATMs in Algeria and BoB operated 33 branches and 46 ATMs in Iraq and one branch in Lebanon.
  
Due to its small branch network and limited retail franchise, the Issuer may not be able to capitalise fully on 
opportunities or developments in the MENAT retail banking sector. Any potential inability to capitalise on 
these opportunities may affect the Issuer’s competitive advantage or the implementation of its expansion 
strategy.

The Issuer’s growth strategy depends on its ability to successfully manage its growth

While historically the Issuer’s operations have been undertaken primarily in the Kuwaiti market, its strategy 
is to expand further into markets within the GCC and the wider MENA region and Turkey, including 
operating in markets in which it has not operated previously. Challenges that may result from this strategy 
include the Issuer’s ability to:

• finance strategic investments or acquisitions and obtain majority interests or control in target entities;

• fully integrate strategic investments or newly established entities or acquisitions in line with its strategy;

• assess the value, strengths and weaknesses of investments or acquisition targets and capitalise these 
upon acquisition;

• align its current information technology systems adequately with those of an expanded group;

• manage efficiently the operations and employees of expanding businesses;

• manage a growing number of entities without over-committing management or losing key personnel;

• maintain its existing customer base; and

• apply its risk management policy effectively to the wider group.

The Issuer may be unable to achieve any or all of these strategic expansion objectives.

If the Issuer is unable to compete with other domestic banks in Kuwait or to retain key members of its 
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senior management and/or hire new qualified personnel in a timely manner, this could have an adverse 
effect on the business of the Issuer

The Issuer and its subsidiaries and associates face a high level of competition for all of their products 
and services in all countries in which they operate. The Issuer competes with other domestic banks in 
Kuwait. In addition to domestic banks, as the governments of the MENAT region continue to liberalise their 
economies and initiate economic reforms, international banks are increasing their presence in Kuwait, 
either directly or through strategic investments, and competing with the Issuer for loans and deposits as 
well as trade finance and other banking business. The competitive nature of the Kuwait banking market 
and that of the MENAT region and any inability by the Issuer to compete successfully may adversely impact 
the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

The Issuer’s future success and growth depends to a substantial degree on its ability to retain and motivate 
the Issuer’s senior management and other key personnel. The Issuer depends especially on the efforts, 
skill, reputations and experience of its key senior management. The loss of key personnel could have a 
material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. In 
addition, the Issuer is not insured against losses that may be incurred or related to the loss or dismissal of 
its key personnel and the Issuer does not maintain key man insurance for any of its employees, officers or 
directors.

If the Issuer fails to comply with applicable anti-money laundering, anti-terrorism financing, OFAC 
sanctions and other related regulations, it could face fines and damage to its reputation

The Issuer is required to comply with applicable anti-money laundering, anti-terrorism financing laws, 
Office of Foreign Assets (OFAC) sanctions and other regulations. These laws and regulations require the 
Issuer, among other things, to adopt and enforce KYC policies and procedures and to report suspicious and 
large transactions (AML) to the applicable regulatory authorities. The Issuer has adopted KYC/AML policies 
and procedures and reviews them regularly in light of any relevant regulatory and market developments. 
To the extent the Issuer may fail to fully comply with applicable laws and regulations, the relevant 
government agencies to which it reports have the power and authority to impose fines and other 
penalties on the Issuer. In addition, the Issuer’s business and reputation could suffer if customers use the 
Issuer for money laundering or illegal purposes.

The Issuer’s accounting policies and methods are critical to how it reports its financial condition and 
results of operations and require management to make estimates about matters that are uncertain

Accounting policies and methods are fundamental to how the Issuer records and reports its financial 
condition and results of operations. Management must exercise judgement in selecting and applying 
many of these accounting policies and methods so they comply with IFRS, as adopted for use by Kuwait. 
These judgements and estimates include, for example, the determination of when assets may be impaired, 
the classification of financial assets, the determination of provisions for credit losses and provisions for 
investment securities.

A variety of factors could affect the ultimate value that is obtained either when earning income, 
recognising an expense, recovering an asset or reducing a liability. The Issuer has established policies and 
control procedures that are intended to ensure that its significant accounting estimates and judgements 
are well controlled and applied consistently. In addition, the policies and procedures are intended to 
ensure that the process for changing methodologies occurs in an appropriate manner. However, due to 
the uncertainty surrounding the Issuer’s judgements and the estimates pertaining to these matters, the 
Issuer cannot guarantee that it will not be required to make changes in accounting estimates or restate 
prior period financial statements in the future.

Risks relating to Kuwait, Turkey and the MENA region
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Investing in securities involving emerging markets generally involves a higher degree of risk

Investors in emerging markets, such as Kuwait, should be aware that these markets are subject to greater 
risks than more developed markets, including, but not limited to, higher volatility, limited liquidity and 
changes in the political and economic environment. In addition, there can be no assurance that the market 
for securities bearing emerging market risk, such as the Bonds, will not be affected negatively by events 
elsewhere, especially in the emerging markets.

The economies of most of the countries in the MENA region are mainly driven by revenues from oil exports 
and therefore exposed to volatility in oil prices. The national economies of most of the countries in the 
MENA region have expanded significantly in recent years, in large part as a result of historically high oil 
prices, which has led to increased financial activity by banks in the region. A sustained deterioration in the 
economies of these countries or political upheaval in the region could have a material adverse effect on 
the Issuer and its subsidiaries’ business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

In addition, although economic conditions are different in each country in the MENA region, investors’ 
reactions to developments in one country may affect the price of securities of issuers in other countries 
in the MENA region, including Kuwait. Accordingly, the market price of the Bonds may be subject to 
significant fluctuations, which may not necessarily be related to the financial performance of the Issuer 
and its subsidiaries.

In respect of Turkey, the country has seen significant growth in recent years. There can be no 
assurance that such growth will continue. Moreover, while the government of Turkey’s recent policies 
have generally resulted in improved economic performance, the country has been susceptible to political 
instability as a result of current political and social tensions within the country, and due to the instability 
of its neighbouring countries in the MENA region. After long following a policy of good relations 
with its neighbours, Turkey adopted a strongly pro-rebel stance when the Syrian civil war broke out, 
but stopped short of military assistance, see “Risks relating to Kuwait, Turkey and the MENA region – The 
Issuer’s subsidiaries are located in a region that is subject to ongoing political and security concerns”. There 
can be no assurance that Turkey’s level of economic performance can be sustained.

No assurance can be given that the government of Turkey will not implement regulations or fiscal or 
monetary policies, including policies or new regulations or new legal interpretations of existing 
regulations or exchange controls, or otherwise take actions which could have a material adverse effect on 
the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects or which could adversely affect 
the market price and liquidity of the Bonds. Further, no assurance can be given on any outcome due to the 
volatility of the Turkish Lira versus other major currencies, and/or the effect of increased interest rates in 
Turkey in the short, medium, or long terms.

In Iraq, there is currently significant uncertainty in the market due to recent political instability. Specific 
risks in Kuwait and the MENA region that could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and prospects include, without limitation, the following:

• political, economic or social instability;

• external acts of warfare, civil clashes or other hostilities or conflict;

• domestic unrest or violence;

• increases in inflation and the cost of living;

• changing tax regimes and tax laws, including the imposition of taxes in tax-free jurisdictions or the 
increase of taxes in low-tax jurisdictions;

• government interventions and protectionism;
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• potential adverse changes in laws and regulatory practices, including legal structures and tax laws;

• difficulties in staffing and managing operations;

• legal systems which could make it difficult for the Issuer to enforce its intellectual property and 
contractual rights;

• restrictions on the right to convert or repatriate currency or export assets;

• greater risk of uncollectible accounts and longer collection cycles;

• currency fluctuations; and

• logistical and communications challenges.

Accordingly, prospective investors should exercise particular care in evaluating the risks involved and must 
determine for themselves whether, in light of those risks, an investment in the Bonds is appropriate.

Generally, investment in emerging markets is only suitable for sophisticated investors who fully appreciate 
the significance of the risk involved.

The Issuer’s subsidiaries are located in a region that is subject to ongoing political and security concerns

Although Kuwait generally enjoys domestic political stability and healthy international relations, 
a number of countries located in the MENA region are either experiencing, or have in the past experienced, 
political and social instability, domestic turmoil and violence and armed conflict. For example, there has 
been significant political change in Iraq, Tunisia and Egypt and social and political unrest and/or armed 
conflict and related activities in Libya, Syria and a number of other countries in the MENA region. The 
situation has caused significant disruption to the economies of affected countries and has had a destabilising 
effect on oil and gas prices. Furthermore, the recent dispute between Qatar and various governments in 
the MENA region may cause further disruption to the economies of the region. These recent and ongoing 
developments, along with terrorist acts, acts of maritime piracy and other forms of instability in the MENA 
region, such as tensions between the United States, Israel and Iran, that may or may not directly involve 
Kuwait, could have an adverse effect on Kuwait’s economy and its ability to engage in international 
trade which, in turn, could have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects.

As the first country to undergo the “Arab Spring” uprising in 2011, Tunisia has undergone significant 
political change in recent years. However, it has taken significant steps towards regaining stability, such 
as by approving a new constitution at the start of 2014. GDP growth is expected to increase in 2018 to 
2.5 per cent from 1.9 per cent in 2017, supported by improved confidence and the adoption of crucial 
private-sector legislation. However, significant macroeconomic challenges remain. Public debt has 
continued to increase, reaching more than 70 per cent of GDP in 2017. Steps have been taken to reduce 
the overall fiscal deficit from 6.0 per cent of GDP in 2017 to an estimated 4.9 per cent in 2018.

Iraq is gradually emerging from the deep economic strains left by the civil war in the last few years. The 
Iraqi government has put in place a comprehensive reconstruction package, with its immediate goal 
being to stabilise the economy. However, the success of the reconstruction package may partially be 
dependent on resolving the ongoing dispute with the Kurdistan regional government. Overall GDP growth is 
projected to return to positive in 2018. Oil production is expected to grow by 2.2 per cent in 2018. The fiscal 
deficit is estimated to have decreased to 2.2 per cent of GDP in 2017, due to higher oil prices and measures 
to control expenditure on wages, pensions and transfers. In 2017, the fiscal balance improved mainly due 
to a 43 per cent increase in oil revenue despite production cuts, driven by higher oil prices. In 2017, the 
current account deficit is estimated to have returned to a surplus equal to 0.7 per cent of GDP. There is 
currently uncertainty in the market In Iraq, due to the recent political instability. Such political uncertainty 
and any further sectarian violence could have a material adverse effect on BoB’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects, particularly if it were to spread to the city of Baghdad.
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Algeria is one of the countries in the region that remained relatively stable during the “Arab Spring” 
uprising. The government has maintained stability largely through public sector expenditure and minimal 
political reforms. The country is relatively stable; however, in recent years it has experienced a continuous 
period of social and domestic instability and is under continuous threat of terrorist attacks in certain areas 
of the country. Such risks may have a negative impact on the Issuer’s operations in the country as it may 
discourage tourism and foreign investment. Furthermore, prolonged low oil prices have exposed long-
standing vulnerabilities in Algeria’s state-led economy, which is significantly dependent on hydrocarbons. 

In respect of Turkey, in addition to the threat imposed on the Issuer’s international growth by the 
instability of Turkey’s neighbouring countries in the MENA region, particularly Syria and Iraq, it is also 
susceptible to economic instability as a result of the current political and social tensions within the country, as 
demonstrated by the recent protests against government policies which began in May 2013. In 2015, 
efforts by Turkey’s dominant party to form a new coalition government officially failed, and calls for a 
new election were made; until such new elections took place, an interim government was in position at 
a time when the threat from Islamic State was rising. In May 2016, Ahmet Davutoğlu resigned as prime 
minister of Turkey over differences with the Turkish president Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, following which an 
ally of the president, Binali Yildirim, was appointed as prime minister to form a new government. The prime 
minister and president have announced plans to overhaul the constitution, which would change Turkey’s 
political system into a presidential system. Turkey has continued to experience problems with domestic 
terrorist and ethnic separatist groups, such as the group “People’s Congress of Kurdistan”, formerly known 
as the PKK (which has been listed as a terrorist group by several countries, including Turkey and the United 
States). In recent years tensions with Syria have also increased due to the mortar attack in 2012 on the 
Turkish border town of Akcakale. Although such instability, regional conflicts and threats of terrorism 
have not as of yet had a major impact on Turkey’s economy, there is a risk of it negatively impacting the 
country’s level of tourism, foreign investments and capital markets, which may in turn negatively impact 
the Issuer’s operations in the country.

Following the trend in 2016, the Turkish Lira continued to depreciate due to factors such as higher inflation 
(which was 11.9 per cent in 2017 compared to 8.5 per cent in 2016), heightened geopolitical and security 
risk, high foreign exchange denominated debt and rising political uncertainty in the country.

Furthermore, other world events could have an impact on Kuwait’s political and security situation. On 
20 January 2017, Donald J. Trump was inaugurated as the 45th President of the United States (President 
Trump). Since the Gulf War in 1990, Kuwait and the United States have enjoyed close economic and 
strategic ties. Whilst President Trump has stated that he intends to pursue a non-interventionist 
agenda that would increasingly focus U.S. investment on domestic matters, he has also advocated for 
expanding oil drilling operations and pledged support of American troops being deployed in the 
Gulf region to confront ISIS (Daesh). President Trump has affirmed the continuing U.S. commitment  
to the security of Kuwait in recent statements and conversations with His Highness 
the Emir Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah (the Emir). However, a shift in the relationship between 
Kuwait and the United States or changing U.S. political priorities in the Gulf region could have a material 
adverse effect on Kuwait’s economic, political or financial condition.

Kuwait’s economy and growth could be affected by Kuwaiti political considerations

Relations between the Government and Kuwait’s parliament (the National Assembly) have been 
tumultuous in the past. Because all legislation must be approved by National Assembly vote, measures 
requiring legislation that are proposed by the Council of Ministers (the Council of Ministers) can also be 
stalled indefinitely before being sent to the Emir for assent and ratification. 

Recent years have seen a series of National Assembly sessions that have not lasted through a full 
term with the Emir dissolving sessions multiple times, citing a number of different reasons. On 
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26 November 2016, following dissolution of the National Assembly, the Government held its seventh 
National Assembly elections since 2006. For the first time in four years, opposition candidates won 
24 out of 50 seats. Many of these candidates have expressed displeasure with existing 
Government policies and the opposition is likely to pose resistance to many aspects of the 
“New Kuwait Plan” (the “New Kuwait 2035” strategy announced by the Government on 30 
January 2017), including those relating to reductions in subsidies and the imposition of taxes. 
However, the opposition is highly fragmented in Kuwait between Islamists, secularists and 
independents whose priorities and interests frequently diverge. In response, the Emir has 
re-appointed the former Prime Minister Sheikh Jaber Al-Mubarak Al-Sabah whose ongoing 
agenda he supports. Therefore, there is the possibility of political gridlock that could stall the Government’s 
proposed fiscal and economic measures as well as other reform initiatives that are currently in place.

Legal and regulatory systems may create an uncertain environment for investment and
business activities

Kuwait is in the process of developing governing institutions and legal and regulatory systems, which are 
not yet as firmly established as they are in Western Europe and the United States. Kuwait, along with other 
countries within the GCC region, has enacted measures to promote greater efficiency and certainty within 
their legal and regulatory systems. Among those measures, Kuwait and countries within the GCC region 
have assumed obligations under the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) (as administered 
by the World Trade Organisation (WTO)) and Kuwait has already enacted legislation, inter alia, to extend 
foreign ownership. However, Kuwait may experience changes in its economy and government policies 
(including, without limitation, policies relating to the continued extension of the rights of foreign 
ownership pursuant to Kuwait’s /WTO obligations) that may affect the Issuer’s business.

The legal system in Kuwait may not provide the same degree of protection or require the levels of 
disclosure of information that would be the case in Western Europe or the United States. No assurance can be 
given that the government will not implement regulation or fiscal or monetary policies, including policies, 
regulations, or new legal interpretations of existing regulations, relating to or affecting expropriation, 
nationalisation, taxation, interest rates or exchange controls, or otherwise take actions which could have 
a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

The regulatory framework of the CBK

As the Issuer is a regulated entity, changes in applicable laws or regulations, the interpretation or 
enforcement of such laws or regulations, or the Issuer’s failure to comply with such laws or regulations, 
could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, financial condition, results of operations or 
prospects. The supervisory and regulatory rules and activities of the CBK, and respective central banks in 
respect of the Issuer’s subsidiaries, cover in greater detail than in many other countries matters such as 
capital adequacy requirements, liquidity, the rationalisation and organisation of credit policy, the policy 
for the classification of credit facilities and the calculation of relevant provisions, credit concentration, the 
organisation of investment policy, internal control systems, risk measurement and management systems, 
rules and regulations concerning the required experience of banks’ board members and executive officers, 
and the combating of money laundering, suspicious operations and the financing of terrorism.

These regulations may limit banks’ activities (including those of the Issuer) while changes by any of the 
relevant central banks in their supervision and regulation policies and practices could affect, to varying 
degrees, each bank’s business, the products or services that it offers or may offer, the value of its assets, the 
costs of doing business and its financial condition.

 
FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSE OF ASSESSING THE RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
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BONDS

Risks related to Bonds generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Bonds generally:

The Bonds will be held in global form, subject to limited exceptions, and traded in the clearing system

The Bonds will be represented on issue by one or more Global Bonds that will be deposited with Kuwait 
Clearing Company K.S.C. Except in the circumstances described in the Global Bond, investors will not be 
entitled to receive Bonds in definitive form.  Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C. will maintain records of the 
beneficial interests in each Global Bond held through it. While the Bonds are represented by a Global Bond, 
investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C.

While the Bonds are represented by Global Bonds, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations 
under the Bonds by making payments through Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C. A holder of a beneficial 
interest in a Global Bond must rely on the procedures of Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C. to receive payments 
under the Bonds. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made 
in respect of, beneficial interests in any Global Bond.

Holders of beneficial interests in a Global Bond will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the Bonds 
so represented. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by 
Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C. to appoint appropriate proxies.

Redemption prior to maturity

In the event that the Issuer would be obliged (i) to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Bonds 
due to any withholding, retention or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, 
assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed 
by or on behalf of Kuwait, or any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or thereof having 
power to tax, or (ii) to redeem the whole of the Bonds or to pay any additional amounts or undertake 
any additional measures not contemplated under the then current terms and conditions of the Issue due 
to mandatory regulatory requirements, the Issuer may in certain circumstances be able to redeem all 
outstanding Bonds in accordance with the conditions.

No direct right of recourse

Bondholders do not have a right to proceed directly against the Issuer in the case of a default but rather 
will have to act collectively through the Association of Bondholders.

Modifications and waivers

The Terms and Conditions of the Issue and the CMA executive regulations contain provisions for calling 
meetings of the Bondholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions 
permit defined majorities of the Bondholders to bind all Bondholders, including Bondholders who did not 
attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Bondholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority 
of the Bondholders.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, 
interest rate risk and credit risk:
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Absence of active secondary market

The Bonds are new securities, which may not be widely distributed, and for which there is currently no 
active trading market. If the Bonds are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to 
their initial offering price, depending on prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general 
economic conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer.

There can be no assurance that a secondary market for the Bonds will develop or, if a secondary market 
does develop, that it will provide the Bondholders with liquidity of investment or that it will continue for 
the life of the Bonds the market value of the Bonds may fluctuate. Consequently, any sale of Bonds by 
Bondholders in any secondary market that may develop could be at a discount to the original purchase 
price of such Bonds and, accordingly, an investor in the Bonds must be prepared to hold the Bonds until 
the Bonds have been redeemed or all amounts then due have been paid in full. The purchase of Bonds is 
suitable only for investors who can bear the risks associated with a lack of liquidity in the Bonds and the 
financial and other risks associated with an investment in the Bonds.

In addition, Bondholders should be aware of the prevailing and widely reported global credit market 
conditions (which continue as of the date of this Prospectus), whereby there is a general lack of liquidity 
in the secondary market for instruments similar to the Bonds. Such lack of liquidity may result in investors 
suffering losses on the Bonds in secondary resale even if there is no decline in the performance of the 
assets of the Issuer. The Issuer cannot predict whether these circumstances will change and whether, if 
and when they do change, there will be a more liquid market for the Bonds and instruments similar to the 
Bonds at that time.

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer may not reflect all the risks associated with an investment in the 
Bonds

The credit ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the Bonds. A credit rating is not 
a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at 
any time.  Any adverse change in an applicable credit rating could adversely affect the trading price of the 
Bonds that have been issued.

Taxation risks on payments

Payments made by the Issuer in respect of the Bonds could become subject to taxation. The terms of 
the Bonds requires the Issuer to pay additional amounts in certain circumstances in the event that any 
withholding, retention, or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, levies, imports, fees, 
duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature is imposed, levied, collected, withheld 
or assessed by or on behalf of Kuwait or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax in respect 
of payments under the Bonds, such that net amounts received by the holders of the Bonds after such 
withholding, retention, or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and distributions 
which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Bonds in the absence of such withholding, 
retention, or deduction.

The circumstances described above may entitle the Issuer to redeem all (but not some only) of the Bonds. 

The value of the Bonds could be adversely affected by a change in tax law

Statements in this Prospectus concerning the taxation of investors are of a general nature, are based upon 
current law and practice in Kuwait and do not purport to address all tax aspects that may be relevant to a 
holder of Bonds. Such law and practice is, in principle, subject to change, possibly with retrospective effect, 
and this could adversely affect investors. In addition, any change in taxation legislation or in practice in 
Kuwait could adversely impact the ability of the Issuer to make payments under the Bonds and/or the 
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market value of the Bonds. Each prospective holder of Bonds is advised to consult its own tax adviser as to 
the particular tax consequences to such holder of acquiring, holding and disposing of Bonds.

The application and enforcement of the Kuwaiti income tax regime is uncertain, and holders of the 
Bonds which are “non–GCC corporate entities” may become subject to the Kuwaiti income tax regime 
in certain limited circumstances

Pursuant to Article 150 (bis) of Law No. 22 of 2015 amending Law No. 7 of 2010 Concerning the Establishment 
of the Capital Markets Authority and the Regulating of Securities Activities (the CMA Law Amendment), 
yields of securities, bonds, finance sukuk and all other similar securities regardless of the issuer thereof 
shall be exempted from taxation. 

Whilst the CMA Law Amendment has been acknowledged by the Ministry of Finance Administrative 
Resolution No. 2028 of 2015 (the Administrative Resolution), issued by the Minister of Finance, to 
date, there has been no official statement made by the Department of Income Tax (DIT) regarding its 
interpretation of the CMA Law Amendment and/or its application. Similarly, the Kuwaiti courts (who will 
be the final arbiters on the matter) have not been required to interpret such provision to date. 

Furthermore, the DIT has to date not always adopted consistent rulings on Kuwaiti tax matters more 
generally. Accordingly, to the extent that the exemption afforded by the CMA Law Amendment is held 
not to apply to the Bonds, or to a particular Bondholder, such Bondholder or the Bondholders which are 
non-GCC corporate entities may become subject to income tax in Kuwait. 

In addition, neither the CMA Law Amendment nor the Administrative Resolution address the issue of 
whether or not there remains an obligation to make a deduction of five per cent of the amount of any 
payments made by the Issuer to the Bondholders. In the event of any such deduction, the Conditions 
provides that the Issuer will pay such additional amounts in order that the net amounts received by the 
Bondholders shall equal the amount which would have been receivable in the absence of such deduction.

Prospective purchasers of the Bonds are advised to consult their tax advisers as to the consequences under 
Kuwaiti tax laws of acquiring, holding and disposing of the Bonds and receiving payments under the Bonds.

Enforcement under Kuwaiti Law 

The insolvency regime in Kuwait is relatively untested with limited guidance as to how the legislative 
framework will be applied in practice by the courts in Kuwait.

In the event of the Issuer’s insolvency, Kuwaiti bankruptcy law will apply and such law may adversely 
affect the Issuer’s ability to perform its obligations under the Bonds, while obtaining a final bankruptcy 
judgment in Kuwait may take several years. There is little precedent to predict how any claims on behalf 
of holders of the Bonds against the Issuer would be resolved, in the event of the Issuer’s insolvency, and 
therefore there can be no assurance that holders of the Bonds will receive payment of their claims in full 
or at all in these circumstances.

Change in law

The Bonds are governed by Kuwait law in effect as at the date of this Prospectus. No assurance can be 
given as to the impact of any possible change to Kuwait law after the date of this Prospectus, nor can any 
assurance be given as to whether any such change could adversely affect the ability of the Issuer to make 
payments under any document to which it is a party to.

FS - 7878



Taxation

General

The following is a general description of certain Kuwaiti tax considerations relating to the Bonds. It does not 
purport to be a complete analysis of all tax considerations relating to the Bonds. Prospective purchasers of 
Bonds are advised to consult their tax advisers as to the consequences, under the tax laws of the State of 
Kuwait, including, but not limited to, the consequences of receipt of payments under the Bonds and their 
disposal or redemption. This summary is based upon the law as in effect on the date of this Prospectus and 
is subject to any change in law that may take effect after such date.

This summary of taxation in Kuwait is based on the Kuwait Income Tax Decree No. 3 of 1955 (the Decree), as 
amended by Law No. 2 of 2008 “Amending Certain Provisions of Kuwait Income Tax Decree No. 3 of 1955” 
(the Amendment), the Executive Bylaws of the Amendment (the Regulations), and various ministerial 
resolutions and circulars relating thereto issued by the Kuwait Ministry of Finance (the MOF) (together, the 
Taxation Laws) as interpreted and implemented by the MOF’s Department of Income Tax (the DIT) as at 
the date of this Prospectus. Any subsequent changes in either the Taxation Laws or the interpretation or 
implementation of the same by the DIT may alter and affect this summary.

Income tax

Under the Taxation Laws, income tax (at a flat rate of 15 per cent) is levied on, inter alia, the net income 
and capital gains realised by any corporate entity (interpreted by the DIT to mean any form of company 
or partnership), wherever incorporated, that conducts business in Kuwait. However, the DIT to date has 
granted a concession to such corporate entities incorporated in Kuwait or in any other GCC country 
(being referred to in this Prospectus as GCC corporate entities) and has only imposed income tax on 
corporate entities which are not GCC corporate entities (being referred to in this Prospectus as non-GCC 
corporate entities) which, for the avoidance of doubt, include shareholders of GCC corporate entities 
which are themselves non-GCC corporate entities, in each case, conducting business in Kuwait. Pursuant 
to the Regulations, income generated from the lending of funds inside Kuwait is considered to be income 
realised from the conducting of business in Kuwait, and is therefore subject to income tax.

Pursuant to Law No. 22 of 2015 amending Law No. 7 of 2010 Concerning the Establishment of the Capital 
Markets Authority and the Regulating of Securities Activities (the CMA Law Amendment), yields of 
securities, bonds, finance sukuk and all other similar securities regardless of the issuer thereof shall be 
exempted from taxation (article 150 (bis) of the CMA Law Amendment (Article 150 (bis)). The CMA Law 
Amendment was acknowledged by the Ministry of Finance Administrative Resolution No. 2028 of 2015 
(the Administrative Resolution).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to date, there has been no official statement made by DIT regarding its 
interpretation of Article 150 (bis) and/or its application. Similarly, the Kuwaiti courts have not been required 
to interpret such provision to date.

Furthermore, the DIT has to date not always adopted consistent rulings on Kuwaiti tax matters more 
generally. Accordingly, to the extent that the exemption afforded by Article 150 (bis) is held not to apply 
to the Bonds, or to a particular Bondholder, such Bondholder or the Bondholders which are non-GCC 
corporate entities may become subject to income tax in Kuwait.

Individuals are not subject to any Kuwaiti income tax on their income or capital gains.
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Retention

Under the Regulations, a Kuwaiti-based party making a payment (being referred to in this section as the 
payer) to any other party (being referred to in this section as the payee), wherever incorporated, is obliged 
to deduct five per cent of the amount of each such payment until such time as the DIT issues a tax clearance 
certificate approving the release of such amount. Unlike with withholding tax, the payer is not required 
to transfer directly the deducted amount to the DIT immediately, but instead retains such amount and 
releases it either (i) to the payee upon presentation to the payer by such payee of a tax clearance certificate 
from the DIT confirming that the payee is not subject to or is exempt from income tax, or has realised a 
loss, or has paid or guaranteed the payment of its income tax; or (ii) in the absence of such a tax clearance 
certificate, to the DIT, on demand.

According to a literal interpretation of the Regulations, payments which are subject to a deduction as 
described above would include principal and interest payments. 

Given that neither the CMA Law Amendment nor the Administrative Resolution address the issue of 
whether or not there remains an obligation, as described above, to make a deduction, the Issuer could 
be required to deduct five per cent from every payment made by it to the Bondholders, which amount 
would be released by the Issuer upon presentation to it by the relevant holder of Bonds of a tax clearance 
certificate from the DIT.

Neither Article 150 (bis) nor the Administrative Resolution endorsing the provisions thereof, address the 
issue of whether or not there remains an obligation to make a deduction of five per cent as specified above. 

In the event of any such deduction, the Conditions provide that the Issuer will pay such additional amounts 
in order that the net amounts received by the Bondholders shall equal the amount which would have been 
received in the absence of such deduction.

Other taxes

Save as described above, all payments in respect of the Bonds may be made without withholding, 
deduction or retention for, or on account of, present taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges 
of whatsoever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of the State of Kuwait. 

No stamp, registration or similar duties or taxes will be payable in Kuwait by Bondholders in connection 
with the issue or any transfer of the Bonds.
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Major Contracts

The Issuer has not entered into any major contracts outside its usual area of activities within the two years 
preceding the date of applying for approving this Prospectus. The Issuer has not relied on any specific 
clients or suppliers or on any patents, or other intellectual property rights, or on any licenses or private 
contracts which have a major significance for the Issuer’s activity.
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General Information

Capital Markets Authority

The Capital Markets Authority (CMA) in Kuwait is the regulating authority in charge of, as per Law No. 7 of 
2010 regarding the establishment of the Capital Markets Authority and regulating securities activities and 
its Executive Bylaws and all their amendments thereto, of regulating the issuance, marketing of securities 
in Kuwait and to issue the required licenses and approvals for the issuing and marketing of Bonds.

Significant or Material Change 

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Bank or the Group since 30 
September 2018 and there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Bank or the Group 
since 31 December 2017. 

Litigation 

Neither the Bank nor any other member of the Group is or has been involved in any governmental, legal 
or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the 
Bank is aware) in the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus which may have or have in such 
period had a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Bank or of the Group.

Auditors

The Issuer’s auditors are EY Al Aiban, Al Osaimi & Partners (EY) whose business address is Baitak Tower, 
18-21st Floor, Safat Square, Ahmed Al-Jaber Street, P.O. Box 74, Safat 13001, Kuwait, and Deloitte & Touche, 
Al-Wazzan & Co. (DT) whose business address is Dar Al- Awadi Complex, Floors 7 & 9, Ahmed Al-Jaber 
Street, Sharq,  P.O. Box 20174, Safat 13062, Kuwait. Each of EY and DT are regulated in Kuwait by the Kuwait 
Ministry of Commerce and Industry and the CMA and each of whom is a registered auditor licensed to act 
as an auditor in Kuwait by the Kuwait Association of Accountants and Auditors.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the years ended 31 December 2017 
has been jointly audited by EY with licence no. 68-A and DT with licence no. 209-A in accordance with 
International Standard on Auditing as stated in their reports incorporated by reference herein. The interim 
condensed consolidated financial information of the Group as at and for the nine-month period ended 30 
September 2018 has not been audited but has been jointly reviewed by EY and DT in accordance with the 
International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed 
by an Independent Auditor of the Entity” as stated in their report incorporated by reference herein. Neither 
EY nor DT expresses an audit opinion in respect of the 2018 Interim Financial Information.

With respect to the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the Bank as at and 
for the nine-month period ended 30 September 2018, EY ad DT reported that they have applied limited 
procedures in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, “Review of Interim 
Financial Information Performed by the Auditor of the Entity”. However, their report dated 28 October 
2018, incorporated by reference herein, states that they did not audit and they do not express any audit 
opinion on that interim financial information. Accordingly, the degree of reliance on their report on such 
information should be restricted in light of the limited nature of the review procedures applied.

Resolution of the General Assembly and Board of Directors

The Bonds are issued pursuant to Law No. 7 of 2010 regarding the establishment of the Capital Markets 
Authority and regulating securities activities and its Executive Bylaws and all their amendments thereto, 
and the Kuwait Companies Law No. 1 of 2016.
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The issue of the Bonds was authorized by resolutions of the General Shareholders’ Assembly of the Issuer 
passed on 28 March 2018 and the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 11 June 2018.

Official Consent

This issuance of the Bonds by the Issuer has also been approved by the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority 
on 8 November 2018. The final approval of the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority on the Prospectus has 
been granted on 26 November 2018.

Clearance

The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through Kuwait Clearing Company K.S.C. with the following 
ISIN:

KWD Bonds ISIN: KW0DI0100654

Credit Rating

As noted elsewhere in this Prospectus, the Issuer is assigned a rating of A3 by Moody’s, BBB+ by S&P and 
A+ by Fitch as of 30 September 2018. A rating of the Issuer is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold 
securities and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating 
organization.

Control / Supervision of the Issuer

The Issuer was incorporated on 27 December 1975 in accordance with the then applicable Kuwait 
Companies Law. The Issuer is subject to the supervision of the CBK and MOCI in Kuwait.
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